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PREFACE

This manual is intended to assist federal prosecutors in the preparation and litigation of;

cases involving the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C.

88 1961-1968. Prosecutors are encouraged to contact the Organized Crime and Gang Séction

(OCGS) early in the preparation of their case for advice and assistance.

All pleadings alleging a violation of RICO, including indictments, informations, and
criminal and civil complaints, must be submitted to OCGS for review and approval before being
filed with the court. Also, all pleadings alleging forfeiture{under RICO, as well as pleadings
relating to an application for a temporary restraining order*pursuant to RICO, must be submitted
to OCGS for review and approval prior to fing. Prosecutors must submit to OCGS a
prosecution memorandum and a draft of the pleadings to be filed with the court in order to
initiate the Criminal Division approval process. The submission should be approved by the
prosecutor's office before being submitted to OCGS. Due to the volume of submissions received
by OCGS, the prosecutor.should submit the proposal three weeks prior to the date final approval
is needed. Prosecutors should contact OCGS regarding the status of the proposed submission
before finally,scheduling arrests or other time-sensitive actions relating to the submission.
Prosecutors‘should refrain from finalizing any guilty plea agreement containing a RICO- related
charge until final approval has been obtained from OCGS. Moreover, once OCGS approval has
been obtained and RICO charges have been instituted, dismissal of any of those charges, or any
plea that allows a defendant to avoid responsibility for the most serious racketeering activity in

the indictment, must also be approved by OCGS before the charges are dismissed or reduced in



seriousness. This requirement for approval includes the dismissal or reduction of such charges
as part of or pursuant to a plea agreement with any defendant. Approval for such dismissal or
reduction should be obtained from OCGS before the plea offer including such dismissal or

reduction is presented to a defendant.

The policies and procedures set forth in this manual and elsewhere relating to RICO are
internal Department of Justice policies and guidance only. They are not intended to, do not, and
may not be relied upon to create any rights, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law by any
party in any matter civil or criminal. Nor are any limitations hereby placed on otherwise lawful

litigative prerogatives of the Department of Justice.
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l. OVERVIEW, RICO LEGISLATIVE HISTORY AND DEPARTMENT OF
JUSTICE APPROVAL PROCESS

A. Overview of Criminal RICO

The Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C.§§ 1961-
1968, was enacted October 15, 1970, as Title IX of the Organized Crime Contfol'\Act of 1970.
RICO provides for civil remedies’ as well as criminal penalties. _This” Manual focuses

exclusively on RICO’s criminal provisions.®

RICO provides powerful criminal penalties for persons, who engage in a “pattern of

racketeering activity” or “collection of an unlawful deb??

and who have a specified relationship
to an “enterprise” that affects interstate or foreign commerce. Under the RICO statute,
“racketeering activity” includes state offensesiinvolving murder, robbery, extortion, and several

other serious offenses, punishable by imprisonment for more than one year, and more than one

hundred serious federal offensesdncluding extortion, interstate theft, narcotics violations, mail

! See Pub. L. No. 91-452, 84 Stat. 941 (1970).
2 See 18 U.8.€C, § 1964.

8 See"ORGANIZED CRIME AND RACKETEERING SECTION, U.S. DEPT. OF JUSTICE, CIVIL
RICO: A MANUAL FOR FEDERAL ATTORNEYS (OCTOBER 2007) (“OCRS’ Civil RICO Manual
(Oct.2007)™), available at https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/usam/legacy/2014/10/17/
civrico.pdf. That manual discusses RICO’s civil remedies under 18 U.S.C. § 1964 and related
legal issues. (The Organized Crime and Gang Section (“OCGS”) was formerly known as the
Organized Crime and Racketeering Section).

* Collection of unlawful debt is an alternate ground for RICO liability and proof of a
pattern is not required. See Section I1(F) below.
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fraud, securities fraud, currency reporting violations, certain immigration offenses, and terrorism
related offenses. A “pattern” may be comprised of any combination of two or more of these state
or federal crimes committed within a statutorily prescribed time period. Moreover, the predicate
acts must be related and amount to, or pose a threat of, continued criminal activitys\ An
“unlawful debt” is a debt that arises from illegal gambling or loansharking activities. An
“enterprise” includes any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or/Other legal entity,
and any group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity. _For-€xample, an arson

ring can be a RICO enterprise, as can a small business or government agency.

Three different substantive criminal violations, and RIC®“conspiracy, are proscribed by
RICO. Section 1962(a) makes it a crime to invest the,praceeds of a pattern of racketeering
activity or from collection of an unlawful debt in“an enterprise affecting interstate or foreign
commerce. For example, a narcotics trafficker violates this provision by purchasing a legitimate

business with the proceeds of a pattern of multiple drug transactions.

Section 1962(b) makes it{ a~crime to acquire or maintain an interest in an enterprise
affecting interstate or foreign commerce through a pattern of racketeering activity or collection
of an unlawful debt. Fer‘example, an organized crime figure violates this provision by taking
over a legitimate'business through a pattern of extortionate acts or arsons designed to intimidate

the owners(into selling the business to him.

Section 1962(c) makes it a crime to conduct the affairs of an enterprise affecting
interstate or foreign commerce “through” a pattern of racketeering activity or through the

alternative theory of collection of an unlawful debt. For example, an automobile dealer violates



this provision by using the dealership’s facilities to operate a stolen car ring through a pattern of

predicate violations.

Section 1962(d) makes it a crime to conspire to commit any of the three substantive

RICO offenses.

Depending on the underlying racketeering activity, Section 1963(a) provides eriminal
penalties ranging from a maximum life sentence,” or any term of years up talife imprisonment
and/or a fine under Title 18.° See Section IV(A) below. In addition, Sections 1963(a)(1)
through (a)(3) provide for forfeiture of the defendant’s interest in the enterprise connected to the
offense, and his interests acquired through or proceeds derived from racketeering activity or
unlawful debt collection. Section 1963 also permits the government to seek pre-trial and, in
some cases, pre-indictment restraining orders tosprevent the dissipation of assets subject to

forfeiture.

> Convictions under Section 1962 may result in life imprisonment when the violation “is
based on a racketeering activity for which the maximum penalty includes life imprisonment.”

18\U:8.C. § 1963(a).

® In 1987, Congress revised the maximum fines for all federal felonies to $250,000 for
individuals, $500,000 for organizations, or not more than twice the gross gain or twice the gross
loss. Criminal Fine Improvement Act of 1987, Pub. L. No. 100-195, § 6, 101 Stat. 1280 (1987).
Section 1963 originally provided for a fine of $25,000 or up to twice the gross profit of the
offense, but was amended in 1988 to provide for a fine under Title 18. Anti-Drug Abuse Act of
1988, Pub. L. No. 100-690, Title VII, 8 7058, 102 Stat. 4403 (Nov. 18, 1988).

3



B. RICO’s Legislative History

1. RICO Initially Was Enacted in 1970 to Combat Organized Crime and Other
Corruption

As noted above, RICO initially was enacted October 15, 1970. See n.1 above..,Congress
found that organized crime, particularly La Cosa Nostra (“LCN”), had extensively, infiltrated and
exercised corrupt influence over numerous legitimate businesses and labor unions throughout the
United States, and hence posed “a new threat to the American economicisystem.” See S. REP.
No. 617, 91st Cong., 1% Sess. at 76-78 (1969) (“S. Rer. No. 91-617%). In that regard, Section 1

of Pub. L. No. 91-452 (RICO) provided that:

The Congress finds that (1) organized crime ‘in” the United States is a highly
sophisticated, diversified, and widespread.activity that annually drains billions of
dollars from America’s economy by unlawful conduct and the illegal use of force,
fraud, and corruption; (2) organized{crime derives a major portion of its power
through money obtained from such iltegal endeavors as syndicated gambling, loan
sharking, the theft and fencing of“property, the importation and distribution of
narcotics and other dangerous drugs, and other forms of social exploitation; (3)
this money and power, are_inCreasingly used to infiltrate and corrupt legitimate
business and labor ufiens+and to subvert and corrupt our democratic processes;
(4) organized crime activities in the United States weaken the stability of the
Nation’s economi¢ System, harm innocent investors and competing organizations,
interfere with free-Competition, seriously burden interstate and foreign commerce,
threaten the'domestic security, and undermine the general welfare of the Nation
and its citizens; and (5) organized crime continues to grow because of defects in
the evidence-gathering process of the law inhibiting the development of the
legally admissible evidence necessary to bring criminal and other sanctions or
remedies to bear on the unlawful activities of those engaged in organized crime
and because the sanctions and remedies available to the Government are
unnecessarily limited in scope and impact.

It is the purpose of this Act to seek the eradication of organized crime in the
United States by strengthening the legal tools in the evidence-gathering process,
by establishing new penal prohibitions, and by providing enhanced sanctions and
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new remedies to deal with the unlawful activities of those engaged in organized
crime.

See Organized Crime Control Act of 1970, Congressional Statement of Findings and Purposes;

Section 904(a) of Pub. L. No. 91-452, 84 Stat. 922, 922-23 (1970). See also United .States-v.

Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 588-89 (1981).

Congress also found that “[w]ith its extensive infiltration of Jlegitimate business,
organized crime thus poses a new threat to the American economic system.” S. REP. No. 91-617

at 77. Congress added that:

Closely paralleling its takeover of legitimate busingsses, organized crime has
moved into legitimate unions. Control of labor supply through control of unions
can prevent the unionization of some industriestor can guarantee sweetheart
contracts in others. It provides the opportunity for theft from union funds,
extortion through the threat of economic pressure, and the profit to be gained from
the manipulation of welfare and pension funds and insurance contracts. Trucking,
construction, and waterfront entrepreneurs have been persuaded for labor peace to
countenance gambling, loan sharking and pilferage. As the takeover of organized
crime cannot be tolerated inydegitimate business, so, too, it cannot be tolerated
here.

Id. at 78 (footnote omitted). Congress recognized that powerful, new remedies were necessary

because of the inadeguaey of existing remedies. Thus, Congress concluded:

What is\needed here . . . are new approaches that will deal not only with
individuals, but also with the economic base through which those individuals
constitute such a serious threat to the economic well-being of the Nation. In
short, an attack must be made on their source of economic power itself, and the
attack must take place on all available fronts.

[RICQO] recognizes that present efforts to dislodge the forces of organized crime
from legitimate fields of endeavor have proven unsuccessful. To remedy this
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failure, the proposed statute adopts the most direct route open to accomplish the
desired objective. Where an organization is acquired or run by defined
racketeering methods, then the persons involved can be legally separated from the
organization, either by the criminal law approach of fine, imprisonment and
forfeiture, or through a civil law approach of equitable relief broad enough to do
all that is necessary to free the channels of commerce from all illicit activity.

1d. at 79.

RICO, therefore, reflects Congress’ intent to create new, enhanced remedies to combat
the corrupt influence of organized crime. RICO, however, is not limited“to’organized crime
prosecutions, but rather broadly applies to all criminal conduct within)its ambit regardless of

whether it involves organized crime. See Section VI(D) below.

2. 1978-1996 Amendments to RICO

RICO was amended in several respects«in1978,” 1984,® 1986,° 1988,*° 1989,'* 1990,

" The 1978 amendments to_Seetion 1961 added cigarette bootlegging, 18 U.S.C. §§
2341-2346, as a predicate offense, PubwL. No. 95-575, 8§ 3(c), 92 Stat. 2465 (1978), and changed

the classification of “bankruptcy fraud” to “fraud connected with a case under Title 11,” Pub. L.
No. 95-598, Title 111, § 314(g),92"Stat. 2677 (1978).

® The 1984 amendments occurred in three stages. First, Congress amended the forfeiture
provisions of Section1963 to clarify proceeds forfeiture and other matters, and amended Section
1961 to add as predicate acts dealing in obscene matter (under state law and 18 U.S.C. 88 1461-
1465) and currency violations under Title 31. Comprehensive Crime Control Act of 1984, Pub.
L. No. 98-473, Title 11, 88 302, 901(g), 1020, 2301, 98 Stat. 2040, 2136, 2143, 2192 (1984)
(effective 'Qctober 12, 1984). Second, Congress added as predicate offenses three automobile-
theft violations, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2312, 2313, and 2320 (now 8 2321), Pub. L. No. 98-547, Title II,

8 205,98 Stat. 2770 (1984) (effective Oct. 25, 1984). Third, Congress deleted some expedition-
of-action language from the civil provisions in 88§ 1964(b) and 1966, Pub. L. No. 98-620, Title
IV, 8 402(24), 98 Stat. 3359 (1984).

° The 1986 amendments to Section 1961 added 18 U.S.C. §§ 1512 and 1513, relating to
(continued...)
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1994,12 1995 4 and 1996.%°

° (continued...)

tampering with and retaliating against witnesses, victims, or informants, Criminal Law ‘&
Procedure Technical Amendments Act of 1986, Pub. L. No. 99-646, 8 50, 100 Stat. 3605.(1986)
(effective November 10, 1986); created 18 U.S.C. 88§ 1956 and 1957, relating to'money
laundering, Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1986, Money Laundering Control Act of 1986, Pub.\L. No.
99-570, § 1351, 100 Stat. 5071 (1986) and added 18 U.S.C. 8§88 1956 and 1957 @ RICO
predicates, Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1986, Pub. L. No. 99-570, § 1365, 100 Stat, 5088 (1986)
(effective October 27, 1986); and added a new subsection to 18 U.S.C¢§, 1963 relating to
forfeiture of substitute assets, Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1986, Pub. L. No. 99-570, § 1153, 100
Stat. 5066 (1986) (effective October 27, 1986).

1% The 1988 amendments provided for a life sentence where-a,RICO violation is based on
a racketeering activity that itself carries a life sentence, made’ minor typographical corrections,
and added three new predicate offenses: 18 U.S.C. § 1029.(credit card fraud); 18 U.S.C. § 1958
(murder for hire, formerly designated § 1952A); and 18 WU:S.C. 8§ 2251-52 (sexual exploitation
of children). Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988, Pub. L. N0»100-690 (Nov. 18, 1988).

' The 1989 amendment added 18 U/S.C/'§ 1344 (bank fraud) as a predicate offense.
Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and‘Enforcement Act of 1989, Pub. L. No. 101-73, Title
IX, § 968, 103 Stat. 506 (Aug. 9, 1989).

2" The 1990 amendment déléted 18 U.S.C. §§ 2251-52 (sexual exploitation of children)
as a predicate offense and made minor typographical corrections. Crime Control Act of 1990,
Pub. L. No. 101-647, Title XXV, 88 3560-61, 104 Stat. 4927 (Nov. 29, 1990).

13 The 1994,amendment substituted the term “controlled substance or listed chemical”

for “narcotics or other dangerous drug” in Section 1961. The amendment added a new RICO
predicate for impeorting into the United States sexually explicit depictions of minors and restored
18 U.S.C. 882251-2252 as RICO predicate acts. Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement
Act of 1994, Pub. L. No. 103-322, Title IX, § 90104, Title XVI, § 160001(f), Title XXXII, 8§
33021(1); 108 Stat. 1987, 2037, 2150 (Sept. 13, 1994). Another amendment excluded Section
157of Title 11 as a RICO predicate act. Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1994, Pub. L. No. 103-394,
Title I11, 8 312(b), 108 Stat. 4140 (Oct. 22, 1994).

% The 1995 amendment revised Section 1964(c) to provide that a civil RICO suit could
not be based upon fraud in the purchase or sale of securities. This limitation does not apply to an
(continued...)
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3. Patriot Act Amendments to RICO, 2001 to 2006

a. The 2001 Amendments

The USA Patriot Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-56, 115 Stat. 272, 382 (2001), added, a
significant number of new RICO predicate offenses to Section 1961(1). After September 11,
2001, the Administration proposed legislation to fight terrorism in response to al Qaeda’s attacks

against the United States in New York, Pennsylvania, and Washington, D.C,_Attorney General

14 (continued...)
action “against any person that is criminally convicted in connection with the fraud, in which
case the statute of limitations shall start to run on the date on“which the conviction becomes
final.” Private Securities Reform Act of 1995, Pub. L. No. 104-67, Title I, 8 107, 109 Stat. 758
(Dec. 22, 1995).

15 A 1996 amendment added several new predicate acts related to immigration fraud and
alien smuggling: 18 U.S.C. 88 1542-1544 and 1546, (relating to false statements in or false use of
passports and visas), if these offenses,were committed for financial gain offenses;
18 U.S.C. §§ 1581-1588 (relating to peonage‘and slavery); and Sections 274, 277 and 278 of the
Immigration and Nationality Act (8 U.S.C. 88 1324, 1327, and 1328), relating to alien smuggling
and harboring certain aliens if these 6ffenses were committed for the purposes of financial gain.
Pub. L. No. 104-132, Title 1V, §¢433, 110 Stat. 1274 (April 24, 1996). A second amendment
added several predicate acts relating to counterfeiting: 18 U.S.C. § 2318 (relating to trafficking
in counterfeit labels for phonorecords, computer programs or computer program documentation
or packaging and copies~af motion pictures or other audiovisual works); 18 U.S.C. § 2319
(relating to criminal infringement of a copyright); 18 U.S.C. § 2319A (relating to unauthorized
fixation of and trafficking in sound recordings and music videos of live musical performances);
and 18 U.S.C. §(2320 (relating to trafficking in goods or services bearing counterfeit marks).
Anticounterfeiting Consumer Protection Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-153, § 3, 110 Stat. 1386
(July 2, 1996). “A third amendment deleted the requirement that violations of 18 U.S.C. 88§ 1028,
1542-1544y,and 1546, which were added by Pub. L. No. 104-132, be committed for the purpose
of financial gain. This amendment also added the following predicate acts: Section 1425
(relating to the procurement of citizenship or nationalization unlawfully); Section 1426 (relating
to, the reproduction of naturalization or citizenship papers); and Section 1427 (relating to the sale
of naturalization or citizenship papers) of Title 18, United States Code. Pub. L. No. 104-208,
§ 202, 110 Stat. 3009 (September 30, 1996). A fourth amendment corrected a typographical
error. Economic Espionage Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-294, 110 Stat. 3488 (October 11,
1996).
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John Ashcroft presented the Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001 to Congress during a September 24,
2001 hearing before the House of Representative’s Committee on the Judiciary. The draft
proposal by the Administration contained numerous legislative changes in order “to give the
Department of Justice and our intelligence community needed crime fighting ,toels)”
Administration’s Draft Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001, Hearing before the H. Comm. 'on the

Judiciary, 107th Cong. at 61 (2001).

Section 304 of Title I1I of the Administration’s proposal contained-a provision that would
have revised 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1) to add a new subpart G, which made*““any act that is indictable
as a Federal terrorism offense” a RICO predicate offensg:,.* The reason given by the
Administration for this proposed amendment to the RICQ statute was that “[t]he list of predicate
federal offenses for RICO, appearing in 18 U.S.C: 8§ 1961(1), includes none of the offenses
which are most likely to be committed by terrorists. This section adds terrorism crimes to the list
of RICO predicates, so that RICO can\be, used more frequently in the prosecution of terrorist
organizations.”  Administrationis*Draft Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001, Hearing before the H.
Comm. on the Judiciary, 107°Cong. at 61 (2001) (materials submitted for the Hearing Record,

Consultation Draft of September, 20, 2001, Section-By-Section Analysis).

The Administration’s proposed legislation was eventually enacted, but with revisions, as
the Uniting.and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept
and,.Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (“USA Patriot Act”) , Pub. L. No. 107-56, Title VIII,
Section 813, 115 Stat. 382 (2001). As enacted on October 26, 2001, the legislative language for

the amendment to the RICO statute was revised from the Administration’s proposal. A new



subsection G was added to Section 1961(1) that made “any act that is indictable under any
provision listed in section 2332b(g)(5)(B)” of Title 18 a RICO predicate offense. At first glance,
Section 1961(1)(G) does not appear to have added a substantial number of new RICO predicates.
However, 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)(B) lists approximately fifty offenses that may constitute

RICO predicate offenses under 18 U.S.C. 8 1961(1)(G).

As of October 26, 2001, the enactment date of the USA Patriot Act of 2001, Section

2332b(g)(5)(B) of Title 18, set forth the following offenses:

Section 2332b(g)(5)(B)(I) - 18 U.S.C. § 32 (relating to destruction of aircraft or
aircraft facilities), 18 U.S.C. § 37 (relating to violence at international airports),
18 U.S.C. § 81 (relating to arson within special’ /maritime and territorial
jurisdiction), 18 U.S.C. 88175 or 175b (relating to,bielogical weapons), 18 U.S.C.
§ 229 (relating to chemical weapons), 18 U.S:C+'88 351(a), (b), (c), or (d)
(relating to congressional, cabinet, and, Supréme Court assassination and
kidnaping), 18 U.S.C. § 831 (relating to nuclear materials), 18 U.S.C. 8§88 842(m)
or (n) (relating to plastic explosives), 18 U.S.C. 88 844(f)(2) or (3) (relating to
arson and bombing of Government, property risking or causing death), 18 U.S.C. §
844(1) (relating to arson and bombing' of property used in interstate commerce),
18 U.S.C. § 930(c) (relating to killing or attempted killing during an attack on a
Federal facility with a dangerous weapon), 18 U.S.C. § 956(a)(1) (relating to
conspiracy to murder, kidnap; or maim persons abroad), 18 U.S.C. §1030(a)(1)
(relating to protection ef ‘computers), 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(5)(A)(I) resulting in
damage as defined, in~1030(a)(5)(B)(ii) through (v) (relating to protection of
computers), 18 U.S:C. § 1114 (relating to killing or attempted killing of officers
and employees of'the United States), 18 U.S.C. § 1116 (relating to murder or
manslaughter ‘of foreign officials, official guests, or internationally protected
persons), 18/U.S.C. § 1203 (relating to hostage taking), 18 U.S.C. § 1362 (relating
to destruction of communication lines, stations, or systems), 18 U.S.C. § 1363
(relating to injury to buildings or property within special maritime and territorial
jurisdiction of the United States), 18 U.S.C. §1366(a) (relating to destruction of an
energy facility), 18 U.S.C. 88 1751(a), (b), (c), or (d) (relating to Presidential and
Presidential staff assassination and kidnaping), 18 U.S.C. 81992 (relating to
wrecking trains), 18 U.S.C. § 1993 (relating to terrorist attacks and other acts of
violence against railroad carriers and against mass transportation systems on land,
on water, or through the air), 18 U.S.C. § 2155 (relating to destruction of national
defense materials, premises, or utilities), 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2280 (relating to violence
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terrorism offense and any-offense under this chapter.”

against maritime navigation), 18 U.S.C. § 2281 (relating to violence against
maritime fixed platforms), 18 U.S.C. § 2332 (relating to certain homicides and
other violence against United States nationals occurring outside of the United
States), 18 U.S.C. § 2332a (relating to use of weapons of mass destruction), 18
U.S.C. § 2332b (relating to acts of terrorism transcending national boundaries), 18
U.S.C. § 2339 (relating to harboring terrorists), 18 U.S.C. § 2339A (relating to
providing material support to terrorists), 18 U.S.C. § 2339B (relating to providing
material support to terrorist organizations), or 18 U.S.C. § 2340A (relating to
torture).

Section 2332b(g)(5)(B)(ii) - 42 U.S.C. § 2284 (relating to sabotage_of nuclear
facilities or fuel).

Section 2332b(g)(5)(B) (iii) - 49 U.S.C. § 46502 (relating to aircraft piracy), the
second sentence of 49 U.S.C. § 46504 (relating to assault-en,a flight crew with a
dangerous weapon), 49 U.S.C. § 46505(b)(3) or (c)~(relating to explosive or
incendiary devices, or endangerment of human life{ by’means of weapons, on
aircraft), 49 U.S.C. § 46506 if homicide or attempted homicide is involved
(relating to application of certain criminal laws,to acts on aircraft), or 49 U.S.C. §
60123(b) (relating to destruction of interstate gas or hazardous liquid pipeline
facility).

Furthermore, it is noteworthy that the Administration’s original proposal for the USA

Patriot Act in 2001 would have amended Chapter 113B of Title 18, United States Code (18

U.S.C. 88 2331-2339D) to tatesthat “[t]here is extraterritorial jurisdiction over any Federal

Act of 2001, Hearing before the H. Comm. on the Judiciary, 197 Cong. at 86 (2001) (materials
submitted for‘the Hearing Record, Consultation Draft of September 20, 2001, Section-By-

Section Analysis). The reason for this proposal to provide for extraterritorial jurisdiction was as

follows:

Under existing law, some terrorism crimes have extraterritorial applicability, and
can be prosecuted by the United States regardless of where they are committed—
for example, 18 U.S.C. § 175 (biological weapons offense) and 2332a (use of

11
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weapons of mass destruction) contain language which expressly contemplates
their application to conduct occurring outside of the United States. However,
there are no explicit extraterritorial provisions in the statutes defining many other
offenses which are likely to be committed by terrorists. This section helps to
ensure that terrorist acts committed anywhere in the world can be effectively
prosecuted by specifying that there is extraterritorial jurisdiction for the
prosecution of all federal terrorism offenses.

1d. at 63.

A provision to provide extraterritorial jurisdiction was included in one-ofithe House bills,
H.R. 2975, 107th Cong., 1st Sess. (2001), as that bill was introduced in the House of
Representatives and as that bill was reported out of the House,_ Committee on the Judiciary.
Section 354 of Subtitle A of Title 11l of H.R. 2975, 107th Cong., 1st Sess. (2001), would have
amended 18 U.S.C. § 2338 to provide extraterritorial jurisdiction “over any Federal terrorism
offense and any offense under this chapter [chapter*113B of Title 18, United States Code], in
addition to any extraterritorial jurisdiction that-may exist under the law defining the offense, if
the person committing the offense or.thewvictim of the offense is a national of the United States
(as defined in section 101 of the Immigration and Nationality Act) or if the offense is directed at
the security or interests of the United States.” The Committee Report by the Committee on the

Judiciary for the House of Representatives explained the need for this provision as follows:

Chapter \133B of title 18 (18 U.S.C. § 2331 et seq.) sets forth the crimes of
terrorism, including acts of terrorism across national boundaries. Under current
law, eertain terrorism crimes can be prosecuted by the United States regardless of
where they are committed. For example, section 2333b (terrorism transcending
national boundaries) and section 2332a (use of weapons of mass destruction).
There are, however, no explicit extraterritorial provisions in other statutes that
may be violated by terrorists. This section of the bill clarifies that extraterritorial
Federal jurisdiction exists for any Federal terrorism offense.
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H.R. ReP. No. 107-236, Part 1 at 72 (2001).

On October 12, 2001, however, the Committee on the Rules of the House of
Representatives offered another bill as an amendment in the nature of a substitute for H.R. 2975,
The amendment in the nature of a substitute did not contain the provision for extraterritorial
jurisdiction. The Committee on the Rules’ amendment in the nature of a substitute is the.version
that was passed by the House of Representatives. After the introduction of‘the amendment in
the nature of a substitute, the debate in the House of Representatives dogs not explain why this
specific provision of H.R. 2975 was eliminated. 147 Cong. Rec. H6705-79 (daily ed. Oct. 21,

2001).

Since the 2001 proposed extraterritorial jurisdiction provision was not enacted by
Congress, prosecutors must examine each statute listed in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)(B) in order to

determine whether that statute applies extraterritorially. See Section VI(E) below.

b. The Post-2001"Amendments

Moreover, Section 2332b(g)(5)(B) has been amended subsequent to the USA Patriot Act
of 2001. Since the 2004 amendment to Section 1961(1) did not limit the offenses added as RICO
predicates to those contained in Section 2332b(g)(5)(B) as of the enactment date of the USA
Patriot Act-of*2001, any subsequently added offense to Section 2332b(g)(5)(B) automatically
becomess a RICO predicate offense.  The following statutes have amended Section
2332b(g)(5)(B) and consequently added additional RICO predicate offenses to 18 U.S.C. 8

1961(1)(G):
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The Terrorist Bombing Convention Implementation Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-197,
116 Stat. 721,728 (2002), added 18 U.S.C. 8§88 2332f (relating to bombing of public places and
facilities) and 2339C (relating to financing of terrorism) to Section 2332b(g)(5)(B) and as RICO
predicate offenses. These offenses are RICO predicate offenses as of the enactment date of

June 25, 2002.

The Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act of 2004, Pub. L. 'No. 108-458,
118 Stat. 3638, 3762, 3769, 3774 (2004) added the following offenses te, clause (I) of Section
2332b(9)(5)(B): 18 U.S.C. § 1361 (relating to government property or‘contracts), 18 U.S.C. §
2156 (relating to national defense material, premises, or utilities); 18 U.S.C. § 832 (relating to
participation in nuclear and weapons of mass destructionsthreats to the United States), 18 U.S.C.
§ 23329 (relating to missile systems designed to destroy aircraft), 18 U.S.C. § 2332h (relating to
radiological dispersal devices), and 18 U.S.C. 8 175c (relating to variola virus). Additionally,
clause (ii) of Section 2332b(g)(5)(B)“was amended to add 42 U.S.C. 8 2122 (relating to
prohibitions governing atomic weapons). These offenses are RICO predicate offenses as of

the enactment date of December 17, 2004.1

16 The21st Century Department of Justice Appropriations Authorization Act, Pub. L.
No. 107-2¥3, Div. B, Title 1V, 84005(f)(1), made a minor punctuation correction that was
effective-as of the October 26, 2001, enactment date of Pub. L. No. 107-56 (USA Patriot Act of
2001).. Additionally, the Identity Theft Enforcement and Restitution Act, Pub. Law 110-326,
122-/Stat. 2560, effective September 26, 2008, amended, inter alia, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1030 and
2332b(g)(5)(B). For purposes of RICO pleading, the predicate citations for certain § 1030
violations will change (because the statute was restructured) and the computer fraud violations
may now include “damage affecting 10 or more protected computers during any 1-year period.”

18 U.S.C. § 1030(c)(4)(A)(i)(V1).
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C. The 2005 Amendment

The USA Patriot Improvement and Reauthorization Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-177,
120 Stat. 192, 209 (2006) added 18 U.S.C. § 2339D (relating to military-type training from a
foreign terrorist organization) as an offense to clause (I) of 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)(B)." It also
created a new clause (iv) in Section 2332b(g)(5)(B) for section 1010A of the_Controlled
Substances Import and Export Act (relating to narco-terrorism) (21 U.S.C. 8,960a). These

offenses are RICO predicate offenses as of the March 9, 2006, enactment date.

In addition to amending 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2332b(g)(5)(B), and\thereby adding new RICO
predicate offenses by incorporation, the USA Patriot Improvement and Reauthorization Act of
2005 and the Intelligence Reform and Prevention\Act* of 2004 directly amended Section

1961(1)(B) to add new RICO predicate offenses,

The USA Patriot Improvement and\Reauthorization Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-177,
Title 1V, sec. 403(a), 120 Stat.192, 243 (2005), directly amended 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(B) to add
18 U.S.C. § 1960 (relating to illegal money transmitters) to the list of federal offenses. This

amendment is effective as.of the enactment date of March 9, 2006.

This amendment to Section 1961(1) was part of the “Combating Terrorism Financing Act
of 2005,” which~was incorporated into the USA Patriot Improvement and Reauthorization Act of
2005... \The House Conference Report explained the reason for this amendment to RICO as

follows:

Under current law, a number of activities that terrorist financiers undertake are
not predicates for purposes of the Federal money laundering statute, 18 U.S.C.
8 1956. Key among those activities is operating an illegal money transmitting
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business, including ‘‘hawala’’ networks, which terrorists and their sympathizers
often use to transfer funds to terrorist organizations abroad. This section adds
three terrorism-related provisions to the list of specified unlawful activities that
serve as predicates for the money laundering statute. Subsection (a) adds as a
RICO predicate the offense in 18 U.S.C. 8 1960 (relating to illegal money
transmitting businesses), which has the effect of making this offense a money
laundering predicate through the cross-reference in 18 U.S.C. 8 1956(c)(7)(A).

H.R. REP. NO. 109-333, at 106 (2005) (Conf. Rep.).

The Intelligence Reform and Prevention Act of 2004, Pub. L. No~108-458, Title VI,
subtitle I, sec. 6802(e), 118 Stat. 3638, 3767-68 (2004), contained then“Weapons of Mass
Destruction Prohibition Improvement Act of 2004.” The Weapons of Mass Destruction
Prohibition Improvement Act of 2004 added 18 U.S.C. §8(175-178 (relating to biological
weapons), 18 U.S.C. 88 229-229F (relating to chemical weapons), and 18 U.S.C. § 831 (relating
to nuclear materials) as RICO predicate offenses, in“Section 1961(1)(B). This amendment is

effective as of the enactment date of December 17, 2004.

The Weapons of Mass Destruction Prohibition Improvement Act of 2004 was originally
part of the 9/11 Recommendations Implementation Act, which was the House of
Representatives’ bill, while,the Senate version of the bill was entitled the Intelligence Reform
and Prevention Actof 2004. While the committee report by the Committee on the Judiciary of
the House of, Representatives for the 9/11 Recommendations Implementation Act did not
specifically“ecomment on the amendment to the RICO statute, the need for the statutory
pravisions in the subsection of the bill containing the RICO amendment were explained as

follows:

The [9/11] Commission Report states “that al Qaeda has tried to acquire or make
weapons of mass destruction for at least ten years. There is no doubt the United
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States would be a prime target. Preventing the proliferation of these weapons
warrants a maximum effort-by strengthening counter proliferation efforts. . . .”
Section 2052 [the Section of the bill containing the amendment to the RICO
statute] amends 18 U.S.C. § 2332a(a)(2), which makes it a crime for a person to
use a weapon of mass destruction (other than a chemical weapon) against any
person within the U.S., and the result of such use affects interstate and foreign
commerce. This legislation would expand the coverage of the target to include
property. The bill would also expand Federal jurisdiction by covering the use of
mail or any facility of interstate or foreign commerce for the attack, by' the
property being used for interstate or foreign commerce, and when the perpetrator
travels or causes another to travel in interstate or foreign commerce in fartherance
of the offense. This section would also expand coverage to include the use of a
chemical weapon.

H.R. REP. NO. 108-724, Part 5, at 173 (2004).

The Former Vice President Protection Act of 2008 ‘amended 18 U.S.C. § 1030 and
conforming changes were made to the references to«Section 1030 in Section 2332(g)(5)(B)(i).

Pub.L. 110-326, 122 Stat. 3562 (2008). This statutewwas enacted on September 26, 2008.

4. Other Amendments in 2003*and 2006

In 2003 and 2006, Section~1961(1) was amended to add additional predicate offenses
related to alien smuggling., The Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act of 2003,
Pub. L. N0.108-193, Sec.’5(b), 117 Stat. 2875, 2879 (2003), added several offenses relating to
alien smuggling to the list of RICO predicate offenses. This statute added 18 U.S.C. § 1589
(forced lahor), 18 U.S.C. § 1590 (trafficking with respect to peonage, slavery, involuntary
servitude; or forced labor), and 18 U.S.C. § 1591 (sex trafficking of children or by force, fraud,
or, coercion) as RICO predicate offenses in Section 1961(1)(B). The effective date for this

amendment is December 19, 2003.
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The reason for this amendment to the RICO statute was stated in the committee report by

the House Committee on International Relations.

In light of the well-documented involvement of organized crime networks in the
trafficking of persons, the Committee would like to see the Department of Justice
Organized Crime Division become engaged in the fight against trafficking and to
use the full resources available under U.S. law to prosecute acts of trafficking.

H.R. REP. No. 108-264, Part 1, at 20 (2003).

In 2006, the Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act of*2005, Pub. L. No.
109-164, Title 1, Sec. 103(c), 119 Stat. 3558, 3563 (2006), added 18.U.S.C. § 1592 (unlawful
conduct with respect to documents in furtherance of trafficking,\peonage, slavery, involuntary
servitude, or forced labor) as a racketeering act. The amendment is effective as of the

enactment date of January 10, 2006.

The committee report by the House of Representatives’ Committee on
International Relations explained “the need for this amendment as follows:
“Subsection (¢) amends Title 18, UJS.C. to expand the list of trafficking offenses
that may be considered as predicate offenses for prosecutions using the powers of
the Racketeering Influenced“and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO).” H.R. REP.
No. 109-317, Part 1, at 20,(2005).

a. 2009 Amendment

Section.2963 was amended in 2009 by the Statutory Time-Periods Technical Amendment
Act of 2009;"Public Law No. 111-16, 8 3(4), May 7, 2009, 123 Stat.1607. This amendment
revised the time frame for the expiration of temporary restraining orders set forth in Section

1963(d)(2) from not more than ten days to not more than fourteen days.
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b. 2013 Amendment

The Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013 amended Section 1961 to add

18 U.S.C. § 1351 (relating to fraud in foreign labor contracting) as a RICO predicate offense.

Pub.L. 113-4, Title XII, §1211(a), March 7, 2013, 127 Stat. 142.

C.

Prior DOJ Approval Through the Organized Crime and Gang Sectian‘is Required
for All RICO Complaints, Informations and Indictments and Goyernment Civil
RICO Complaints and Civil Investigative Demands

RICO should be used only in those cases where it meets, a need or serves a special

purpose that would not be met by a non-RICO prosecution ,on" the underlying charges. See

Chapter V, Guidelines for the Use of RICO and Drafting a RICO Indictment. To ensure

consistent application of the statutes, all RICO indietments and informations must be approved

by OCGS, through its RICO Review Unit., To\promote efficiency, prosecutors are encouraged to

consult the OCGS RICO Review Unit prior to submitting an indictment or information for

approval to obtain a model prosecution memo and other guidance.

1. Approval Authority

The Code/of Federal Regulations, 28 C.F.R. § 0.55, provides, in relevant part, as follows:
8,055 .General Function

The following functions are assigned to and shall be conducted, handled or
supervised by, the Assistant Attorney General, Criminal Division:

(d) Civil or criminal forfeiture or civil penalty actions (including petitions for
remission or mitigation of forfeiture and civil penalties, offers in compromise, and
related proceedings under the . . . Organized Crime Control Act of 1970 ... [i.e.,
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RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq].

(9) Coordination of enforcement activities directed against organized crime and
racketeering.

USAM 8§ 9-110.101 provides that:

No RICO criminal indictment or information or civil complaint shall be filed, and
no civil investigative demand shall be issued, without the prior approval of\the
Criminal Division. See RICO Guidelines at USAM 9-110.200.

Pursuant to USAM 8 9-110.010, such approval and coordination, authority has been
delegated to the Organized Crime and Gang Section (“OCGS”), of the Criminal Division.
Accordingly, the following procedures must be followed in all RICO prosecutions brought by the

United States:

1) No indictment, information, or complaint shall be filed without the prior approval

of OCGS.Y

2 No pleading alleging forfeiture under RICO or any other pleading relating to an
application for”a“temporary restraining order pursuant to RICO shall be filed

without the.prior approval of OCGS.

3) No RICO charge shall be dismissed, in whole or in part, without prior approval of

OCGS.

(4) In any criminal RICO prosecution, any adverse decision on an issue involving an

interpretation of the RICO statute from any District Court or any Circuit Court of

7 This approval requirement also applies to civil RICO cases brought by the

Government. See OCRS’ Civil RICO Manual (Oct. 2007) at 6-8.
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Appeals shall be timely reported to OCGS, in addition to reporting to the Solicitor
General’s Office and the appropriate Appellate Section of the Criminal Division
or other Division, to enable OCGS to submit a recommendation to the Solicitor

General’s Office whether to seek further review of the decision.

These requirements are necessary to enable OCGS to carry out its supervisory authority
over all Government uses of the RICO statute, to provide assistance to Goveérnnient attorneys,
and to promote consistent, uniform interpretations of the RICO statute, Sée, e.g., USAM §
110.300 “RICO Guidelines Policy”, which provides that “[i]t is the purpose of these guidelines
to centralize the RICO review and policy implementation functions in the section of the Criminal

Division

2. RICO Review Process

The review process for authorization ‘of all Government civil and criminal suits pursuant
to the RICO statute is set forth in the-United States Attorneys Manual. See USAM 8§ 9-110.010
-- 9-110.400, which provisions‘are attached as Appendix I(A). To commence the formal review
process, submit a finahdraft of the proposed indictment, information or complaint, and a detailed
prosecution memerandum to OCGS. Before the formal review process begins, Government
attorneys areencouraged to consult with OCGS in order to obtain preliminary guidance and
suggestions. In particular, prosecutors are advised to contact OCGS or visit its DOJ intranet

website to obtain sample RICO prosecution memoranda and indictments.

A RICO prosecution memorandum should be an accurate, candid, and thorough analysis

of the strengths and weaknesses of the proposed prosecution. In complex cases with multiple
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counts and defendants, prosecutors are encouraged to use tables, charts, or other means to

provide a concise overview of defendants and charges. In the interests of uniformity, a RICO

prosecution memorandum should be divided into the following categories:

VI.
VII.

State of the Witnesses and Evidence

The Enterprise (discussing the enterprise’s history, structure, and effectr on
interstate or foreign commerce and the specific admissible evidence |to. prove
these facts)

The Defendants (briefly discussing each defendant’s pedigre€land position in
enterprise; grouping defendants with similar positions is recommended)
Legal/Policy Considerations (explaining why RICO is appropriate based on the
factors in Section V(A) below and addressing any specialconsiderations such as
(1) Petite issues, (2) death eligible offenses; (3) juvenile.ssues, including juvenile
acts included in the pattern of racketeering; (4).anticipated defenses, (5) any
statute of limitations issues, (6) extraterritoriality;and {7) any unusual federal and
state legal issues).

Legal Sufficiency of the RICO and/or RICQ_Conspiracy Count(s) (addressing the
sufficiency of the admissible evidence“for gach defendant, including the nexus to
the enterprise for the racketeering actiyvity)

Legal Sufficiency of the 18 U.S.C.*§ 1959 Count(s)

RICO Forfeiture.

When the RICO indictment includes a 8§ 1962(c) count or a § 1962(d) count that sets forth

a specific pattern of racketeering.aetivity, set forth the admissible evidence for each racketeering

act, including the defendant’s role in that racketeering act and if any of the acts are based upon

previously adjudicated conduct. For a RICO conspiracy using the Glecier format where the

types of crimes\constituting the pattern of racketeering activity are alleged, the prosecution

memorandum should: 1) briefly discuss the admissible evidence for each type of racketeering

activity alleged in the pattern of racketeering activity; and 2) discuss each defendant individually,

setting forth the admissible evidence for all of the racketeering activity which that defendant

agreed that a conspirator would commit and whether any of the racketeering activity is based
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upon previously adjudicated conduct.

Finally, prosecutors should include an appendix listing the counts and attach the final

draft proposed indictment or information.

The review process can be time-consuming, especially in light of the complexity of RIEO
prosecutions, and also because of the likelihood that modifications will be ymade’ to the
indictment, information or complaint, and the heavy workload of the reviewing attorneys.
Therefore, unless extraordinary circumstances justify a shorter time frame;a period of at least 15

working days must be allowed for the review process.

3. Post-Indictment Duties

Once a criminal RICO complaint, information or indictment has been approved and filed,
it is the duty of the Government’s attorney hafidlifig the matter to submit to OCGS a copy of the

complaint, information or indictment, bearing the seal of the clerk of the district court.

It is important to note that,“0nce OCGS approval has been obtained and RICO charges
have been instituted, dismissalof any of those charges, or any plea that allows a defendant to
avoid responsibility, for\the ‘most serious racketeering activity in the indictment, must also be
approved by QCGS before the charges are dismissed or reduced in seriousness. This
requirementfor approval includes the dismissal or reduction of such charges as part of or
pursuant*to a plea agreement with any defendant. Approval for such dismissal or reduction
Should be obtained from OCGS before the plea offer including such dismissal or reduction is

presented to a defendant.
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In addition, the Government’s attorney should keep OCGS informed of adverse decisions
as noted above and legal problems that arise in the course of the case to enable OCGS to provide

assistance and carry out its supervisory functions.
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1. DEFINITIONS: 18 U.S.C. 81961
A. Racketeering Activity

Section 1961(1) defines “racketeering activity” as any crime enumerated in subdiviSions
A, B, C, D, E, F, or G of that subsection.’® No crime can be a part of a RICO /pattern of
racketeering activity” unless it is included in this subsection.® Subdivision A ineludes “any act
or threat involving” the listed types of state offenses; subdivisions B, C, E, Fjand G include “any
act which is indictable under” the listed federal statutes; and subdivision'Drincludes “any offense
involving” three categories of federal offenses. The different introductory wording of the

subdivisions is significant. For example, courts have intetpreted the term “involving” broadly to

® The listed crimes often~are called “predicate acts,” because they make up the
“predicate” for a RICO violation:See, e.g., Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938 (2009); United
States v. Miller, 782 F.3d 793 (7th Cir. 2015); United States v. Coppola, 671 F.3d 220 (2d Cir.
2012).

19 See, e.g.,Walters v. McMahen, 684 F.3d 435, 440 (4th Cir. 2012); Garrett v. Selby
Connor Maddus &Janer, 425 F.3d 836, 838 (10th Cir. 2005); Systems Management Inc. et al, v.
Loiselle, 303 F.30-100, 106 (1st Cir. 2002); Annulli v. Panikkar, 200 F.3d 189, 199 (3d Cir.
1999); Bast-v.~Cohen, Dunn & Sinclair, PC, 59 F.3d 492, 495 (4th Cir. 1995); In re Trilegiant
Corp., Inc,“¥1 F.3d 82, 103-04 (D.Conn. 2014); Weaver v. James, 2011 WL 4472062, at *4
(S.D.NY4 2011); Boulware v. Dep’t of Ins., 2009 WL 3830640, at *9 (C.D.Cal. 2009); DeFazio
v. Wallis, 500 F.2d 197, 206 (E.D.N.Y. 2007); Rolo v. City Investing Co. Liquidating Trust, 845
E."Supp. 182, 225 n.28 (D.N.J. 1993), aff’d, 43 F.3d 1462 (3d Cir. 1994), judgment vacated on
teh’g, 66 F.3d 312 (3d Cir. 1995), on remand, 897 F. Supp. 826 (D.N.J. 1995); United States v.
Private Sanitation Indus. Ass’n, 793 F. Supp. 1114, 1129 (E.D.N.Y. 1992); United States v.
Reale, 1997 WL 580778 at *8 (S.D.N.Y. 1997).

25



include conspiracies or attempts to commit subdivision A* and D?' crimes as proper RICO

predicates because these crimes “involve” the specified types of conduct, and hence are not

20 See, e.g., United States v. Thomas, 490 Fed.Appx. 514, 517 (4th Cir. 2012)
(conspiracy to commit murder); United States v. Symonette, 486 Fed.Appx. 761 (11th Cir. 2012)
(attempted murder); United States v. Scott, 642 F.3d 791 (9th Cir. 2011) (conspiracy to murder);
United States v. Fernandez, 388 F.3d 1199, 1259 (9th Cir. 2004) (conspiracy to murder); United
States v. Pimentel, 346 F.3d 285, 303-04 (2d Cir. 2003) (attempted murder); United States v.
Warneke, 310 F.3d 542, 546-47 (7th Cir. 2002) (conspiracies to commit various, state offenses
listed under subdivision A); United States v. Marino, 277 F.3d 11, 28-31 \(1st Cir. 2002)
(conspiracy to murder); United States v. Carrillo, 229 F.3d 177, 181-82) (2d Cir. 2000)
(conspiracy to murder); United States v. Darden, 70 F.3d 1507, 1524-25 (8th Cir. 1995)
(conspiracy to distribute, and possess with intent to distribute controlled substances constitutes a
RICO predicate, but simple possession of cocaine is not a RICO\predicate); United States v.
Pungitore, 910 F.2d 1084, 1135 (3d Cir. 1990) (conspiracy to murder and attempted murder in
violation of state law proper RICO predicates); United StatesV./Angiulo, 847 F.2d 956, 963 n.18
(1st Cir. 1988) (conspiracy to murder); United States v. Manzella, 782 F.2d 533 (5th Cir. 1986)
(conspiracy to commit state law arson proper RICO predicate); United States v. Ruggiero, 726
F.2d 913, 919 (2d Cir. 1984) (conspiracy to murder in‘violation of state law is an “act or threat
involving murder” under 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(A)), Wnited States v. Licavoli, 725 F.2d 1040,
1045 (6th Cir. 1984) (same); United States v. Welch, 656 F.2d 1039, 1063 n.32 (5th Cir. 1981)
(same) (dictum); United States v. Dellacroce; 625 F. Supp. 1387, 1392 (E.D.N.Y. 1986)
(conspiracy to murder); United States v<"Gambale, 610 F. Supp. 1515 (D. Mass. 1985) (same).

21 See, e.g., United States, v--John-Baptiste, 747 F.3d 186, 208-210 (3d Cir. 2014) (drug
trafficking conspiracy constitutes,a.RICO predicate act); United States v. Praddy, 725 F.3d 147,
155-157 (2d Cir. 2013) (marijdana distribution conspiracy); United States v. Boidi, 568 F.3d 24,
29-31 (1st Cir. 2009) (conspiracy and the use of a communications facility to facilitate a drug
crime constituted a RI€O)predicate); United States v. Darden, 70 F.3d 1507, 1524-25 (8th Cir.
1995) (conspiracy o, distribute, and possess with intent to distribute controlled substances
constitutes a RICO predicate, but simple possession of cocaine is not a RICO predicate); United
States v. Casamento, 887 F.2d 1141, 1165-66 (2d Cir. 1989) (conspiracy to import and distribute
narcotics); Mdnited States v. Echeverri, 854 F.2d 638, 648-49 (3d Cir. 1988) (conspiracy to
possess ‘and-distribute narcotics); United States v. Benevento, 836 F.2d 60, 72 (2d Cir. 1987)
(conspiracies to import, manufacture and distribute narcotics); United States v. Brooklier, 685
F.2081208, 1216 (9th Cir. 1982) (conspiracy to extort money under 18 U.S.C. § 1951); United
States v. Phillips, 664 F.2d 971, 1015 (5th Cir. 1981) (conspiracy to import marijuana); United
States v. Weisman, 624 F.2d 1118, 1124 (2d Cir. 1980) (conspiracies to commit securities fraud
and bankruptcy fraud); United States v. Santiago, 207 F. Supp. 2d 129, 144 n.10 (S.D.N.Y.
2002) (narcotics trafficking conspiracy).
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limited to a specified statutory provision.”? Similarly, solicitation may be considered an “act
involving” specified offenses under subdivisions A and D.*® A conspiracy, however, or attempt
to commit an offense listed within subdivisions B, C, E, F or G could not be a RICO predicate
unless attempt or conspiracy is expressly included within the terms of the listed statutory

offense.?*

22 However, as a general rule, state offenses for “accessory after the fact” to the

commission of a state offense referenced in Section 1961(1)(A)~does not constitute “an act
involving” such a referenced offense because, typically, an ac€essory after the fact offense does
not require the same mens rea as required to prove the referenced state offense.

2 See, e.q., United States v. Ahedo, 453 Ked.Appx. 544 (5th Cir. 2011) (solicitation of
murder); United States v. Basciano, 384 Fed.Appx., 28 (2d Cir. 2010) (solicitation to murder);
United States v. Welch, 656 F.2d 1039, 1048(5th' Cir. 1981) (solicitation of and conspiracy to
commit murder); United States v. Bellomo;, 954 F.Supp. 630 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (solicitation to
commit murder); United States v. Yin Poy“Louie, 625 F. Supp. 1327, 1332 (S.D.N.Y. 1985)
(conspiracy, solicitation, or attempt to murder), appeal dismissed sub nom. United States v. Tom,
787 F.2d 65 (2d Cir. 1986); Pohtotv. Pohlot, 664 F. Supp. 112, 116-17 (S.D.N.Y. 1987)
(criminal solicitation of murder‘in'violation of state law constitutes proper RICO predicate). See
also United States v. Miller, 436 F.3d 641, 674-75 (2d Cir. 1997) (act involving murder need not
be actual murder as long as the act directly concerned murder, and facilitation of murder was a
proper RICO predicate because accessorial offenses described in the New York State statutory
provisions involvedmurder within the meaning of RICO where defendant provided information
he knew would enable‘inquirer to commit murder).

24 gge,e.q., United States v. Ruggiero, 726 F.2d 913, 919-20 (2d Cir. 1984) (conspiracy
to violate 28°U.S.C. § 1955 is not a proper RICO predicate because conspiracy is not “indictable
under” “that provision); United States v. Brooklier, 685 F.2d 1208, 1216 (9th Cir. 1982)
(censpiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1951 is a proper predicate because conspiracy is “indictable
tnder” that provision); R.E. Davis Chem. Corp. v. Nalco Chem. Co., 757 F. Supp. 1499, 1510
(N.D. 1ll. 1990) (conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud and transportation of stolen property,
in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2314 and 2315 are not RICO predicates); Allington v. Carpenter,
619 F. Supp. 474 (C.D. Cal. 1985) (conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1343 is not a RICO
predicate).
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1. State Offenses

Section 1961(1)(A) defines racketeering activity as follows:

any act or threat involving murder, kKidnaping, gambling, arson, robbery, bribery,
extortion, dealing in obscene matter, or dealing in a controlled substance or listed
chemical (as defined in section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act) [i.ef 21
U.S.C. 8§ 802], which is chargeable under State law and punishable by
imprisonment for more than one year.

This definition does not identify specific state statutes that may providesthe basis for a RICO
predicate act of racketeering. Rather, Congress intended the state offenses referenced in Section
1961(1)(A) to identify “generically” the kind of conduct prosctibed by RICO, and therefore it is
immaterial whether a state statute uses the same labels ot elassifications as specified in Section
1961(1)(A). Thus, a state statutory offense may constitute a proper RICO predicate racketeering
act under Section 1961(1)(A) provided it substantially conforms to the “generic” definition of the

state offense referenced in Section 1961(1)(A) prevailing in 1970 when RICO was enacted.?

Moreover, because Section 1961(1)(A) was intended to only identify “generically” the

kind of conduct proscribediby ‘RICO for definitional purposes, RICO does not incorporate state

2 See.Shepard v. United States, 544 U.S. 13 (2005) (In a plea bargain, where a state’s
statute is breader than the generic offense constituting the predicate act, a court may only look to
the “terms,of the charging document, the terms of a plea agreement or transcript of colloquy
betweenjudge and defendant in which the factual basis for the for the plea was confirmed by the
defendant, or to some comparable judicial record of this information” in determining whether the
elements of the generic offense were met). See also Section VI(I) below, which explains how to
determine whether a state statutory offense falls within the ambit of the applicable “generic”
definition, and hence may provide the basis for a proper RICO predicate racketeering act under
Section 1961(1)(A).
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procedural or evidentiary rules.”® In the same vein, the language “chargeable under state law”
under Section 1961(1)(A) means that the offense was chargeable under state law at the time that
the underlying conduct was committed, and hence it is no bar to a RICO charge that the state
offense at issue could not be prosecuted in the state court at the time the RICO charge\was
brought due to the application of a state procedural bar such as the statute of limitations.?’
Indeed, as a general rule, even if a defendant were acquitted in state court.of a,state offense
referenced in Section 1961(1)(A), such state offense, nevertheless, may be charged as a proper

RICO predicate act.”®

6 See, e.g., United States v. Shryock, 342 F,30h948, 987 (9th Cir. 2003) (state
accomplice corroboration rule not incorporated); United States v. Kehoe, 310 F.3d 579, 588 (8th
Cir. 2002); United States v. Nguyen, 255 F.3d 1335,:1340-41 (11th Cir. 2001) (defendant not
entitled to instruction on lesser included state offenses); United States v. Diaz, 176 F.3d 52 (2d
Cir. 1999) (state law regarding Pinkerton instruetion not incorporated); United States v. Kaplan,
886 F.2d 536, 541-42 (2d Cir. 1989) (state rules governing permissible number of counts that
may be charged not incorporated); United“States v. Muskovsky, 863 F.2d 1319, 1330-31 (7th
Cir. 1988) (state rule barring convictign and sentence for both a substantive offense and a
conspiracy to commit the substantive offense not incorporated); United States v. Friedman, 854
F.2d 535, 565-66 (2d Cir. 1988) (state procedural rule barring multiple convictions arising from
a single course of conduct not incorporated); United States v. Erwin, 793 F.2d 656, 669 (5th Cir.
1986) (state accomplice corroboration rule not incorporated); United States v. Paone, 782 F.2d
386, 393-94 (2d Cir. 1986)-(same).

27 See, e,g.~United States v. Licavoli, 725 F.2d 1040, 1045-47 (6th Cir. 1984); United
States v. Malatesta; 583 F.2d 748, 757 (5th Cir. 1978), mod. on other grounds, 590 F.2d 1379
(5th Cir. 1979),(en banc); United States v. Forsythe, 560 F.2d 1127, 1134-35 (3d Cir. 1977);
United StateSv. Brown, 555 F.2d 407, 418 n.22 (5th Cir. 1977); United States v. Revel, 493 F.2d
1, 3 (5th Cir. 1974); see also Section VI (Q)(3) below.

28 See, e.q., United States v. Burden, 600 F.3d 204, 227-230 (2d Cir. 2010) (acquittal on
state murder charge did not bar its use as a RICO predicate act); United States v. Coonan, 938
F.2d 1553, 1563-65 (2d Cir. 1991) (same); United States v. Licavoli, 725 F.2d 1040, 1047 (6th
Cir. 1984) (same); United States v. Frumento, 563 F.2d 1083, 1086-89 (3d Cir. 1977) (same);
United States v. Castellano, 610 F. Supp. 1359, 1414 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).
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Of course, there is no requirement that the defendant previously be convicted of, or
charged with, a state offense in state court to be able to charge a state offense as a RICO
predicate racketeering act.”® Moreover, miscitation of the state statute for an alleged state

predicate offense is not fatal, absent clear evidence of prejudice to the defendant.*

Furthermore, the language “punishable by imprisonment for more than one year”'means
so punishable at the time the offense was committed, not at the time the RICO‘\indictment is
brought.®* Additionally, as long as the conduct is punishable by morethah a year, a RICO
charge is not barred by a defendant’s invocation of state defenses andprocedural remedies that

would decrease the maximum allowable punishment to less thara year.*

2 See, e.q., Fort Wayné BooKs, Inc. v. Indiana, 489 U.S. 46, 61 (1989); Sedima, S.P.R.L.
v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 488 (1985); United States v. Murphy, 768 F.2d 1518, 1531 (7th Cir.
1985); United States v. Malatesta, 583 F.2d 748, 757-58 (5th Cir. 1978).

%0 See, e.q.,United States v. Watchmaker, 761 F.2d 1459, 1469 (11th Cir. 1985); United
States v. Chatham,677 F.2d 800, 803 (11th Cir. 1982). See also FED. R. CRIM. P. 7(c)(3).

3,868, e.q., United States v. Davis, 576 F.2d 1065, 1067 (3d Cir. 1978). Cf. United
Statesv. Ruggiero, 726 F.2d 913, 920 (2d Cir. 1984).

%2 See United States v. Wai Ho Tsang, 632 F. Supp. 1336, 1337-1338 (S.D.N.Y. 1986).
Cf. United States v. Hill, 539 F.3d 1213, 1221 (10th Cir. 2008) (federal felon in possession of a
firearm statute uses the phrases “a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one
year”’; the offender’s actual sentence is irrelevant because the statute “demands that courts focus
on the maximum statutory penalty for the offense”)
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a. Representative RICO Cases Charging State-Law Predicate Offenses:

Murder:

United States v. Garcia, 754 F.3d 460 (7th Cir. 2014); United States v. Wilson, 579
Fed.Appx. 338, 347-349 (6th Cir. 2014); United States v. Price, 443 Fed.Appx.
576, 581-583 (2d Cir. 2011); United States v. Scott, 642 F.3d 791 (9th Cir. 2011);
United States v. Carneglia, 403 Fed.Appx. 581, 587-588 (2d Cir. 2010); United
States v. Daidone, 471 F.3d 371, 373-377 (2d Cir. 2006); United/States v.
Pimentel, 346 F.3d 285, 297-99 (2d Cir. 2003); United States v. Bowman, 302
F.3d 1228 (11th Cir. 2002); United States v. Marino, 277 F.3d 11, 29=31 (1st Cir.
2002); United States v. Nguyen, 255 F.3d 1335, 1337-38 (11th Cir. 2001); United
States v. Carrillo, 229 F.3d 177, 179-86 (2d Cir.2000); United States v. Torres, 191
F.3d 799 (1999); United States v. Miller, 116 F.3d 641 (2d Cir. 1997); United
States v. Coonan, 938 F.2d 1553 (2d Cir. 1991); United States v. Firestone, 816
F.2d 583 (11th Cir. 1987); United States v. Licavoli, 625.F. Supp. 1327 (S.D.N.Y.
1985), appeal dismissed sub nom. United States w. Tom, 787 F.2d 65 (2d Cir.
1986).

Kidnapping:

United States v. Caracappa, 614"F.3d 30 (2d Cir. 2010); United States v. Ayala,
601 F.3d 256 (4th Cir. 2010); United States v. Bowman, 302 F.3d 1228 (11th Cir.
2002); United States v. Rugaiéero, 100 F.3d 284, 287-290 (2nd Cir. 1996); United
States v. Ferguson, 758+F:2d-843 (2d Cir. 1985); United States v. McLaurin, 557
F.2d 1064 (5th Cir. 2977)y United States v. Shakur, 560 F. Supp. 347 (S.D.N.Y.
1983).

Gambling:

United‘States v. Mark, 460 Fed.Appx. 103 (3d Cir. 2012); Kemp v. American Tel.
& Tel. Co., 393 F.3d 1354 (11th Cir. 2004); United States v. Aucoin, 964 F.2d
14927 (5th Cir. 1992); United States v. Joseph, 835 F.2d 1149 (6th Cir. 1987);
United States v. Tripp, 782 F.2d 38 (6th Cir. 1986); United States v. Tille, 729
F.2d 615 (9th Cir. 1984); United States v. Ruggiero, 754 F.2d 927 (11th Cir.
1985).
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Arson:

United States v. Johnson, 440 F.3d 832 (6th Cir. 2006); United States v. Ellison,
793 F.2d 942 (8th Cir. 1986); United States v. Bagaric, 706 F.2d 42 (2d Cir.
1983); United States v. Melton, 689 F.2d 679 (7th Cir. 1982); United States v.
Peacock, 654 F.2d 339 (5th Cir. 1981).

Robbery:

United States v. Miller, 2015 WL 1434744 (7th Cir. 2015); United ‘States v.
Kamahele, 748 F.3d 984, 1002-1007 (10th Cir. 2014); United States w. Shamah,
624 F.3d 449 (7th Cir. 2010); United States v. Gonzalez, 21 F.3d,1045 (11th Cir.
1994); United States v. Ferguson, 758 F.2d 843 (2d Cir. 1985); Wnited States v.
Ruggiero, 726 F.2d 913 (2d Cir.).

Bribery:

United States v. Gilmore, 590 Fed.Appx. 390, (4th Cir. 2014); United States v.
Adams, 722 F.3d 788, 801-805 (6th Cir. 2013); ‘United States v. Zichettello, 208
F.3d 72, 86-88 (2d Cir. 2000); United States.v. Frega, 179 F.3d 793, 805-07 (9th
Cir. 1999); United States v. Allen, 155"F:3d 35 (2nd Cir 1998); United States v.
Marmolejo, 89 F.3d 1185 (5th Cir."1996), aff’d sub nom. Salina v. United States,
522 U.S. 52 (1997); United States V. Jackson, 72 F.3d 1370 (9th Cir. 1995);
United States v. Freeman, 6 F:3d 586 (9th Cir. 1993); United States v. Eisen, 974
F.2d 246, 254-56 (2d Cir. 1992); United States v. Mokol, 957 F.2d 1410 (7th Cir.
1992); United States v« Kotvas, 941 F.2d 1141 (11th Cir. 1991); United States v.
Kaplan, 886 F.2d 5364541-42 (2d Cir.1989); United States v. Traitz, 871 F.2d
368 (3d Cir. 1989); United States v. Hocking, 860 F.2d 769 (8th Cir. 1988);
United States “v. “Friedman, 854 F.2d 535 (2d Cir. 1988); United States v.
Casamayor, 837 F.2d 1509 (11th Cir 1988); United States v. Garner, 837 F.2d
1404 (7th~Cr.-1987); United States v. Qaoud, 777 F.2d 1105 (6th Cir. 1985);
United.States v. Kravitz, 738 F.2d 102 (3d Cir. 1984); United States v. Dozier,
672.F£.2d 531 (5th Cir. 1982); United States v. Triumph Capital Group, 260 F.
Supp~2d 444, 455-57 (D.Conn. 2002); United States v. Private Sanitation Indus.
Ass’n, 793 F. Supp. 1114 (E.D.N.Y. 1992); United States v. Horak, 633 F. Supp.
190 (N.D. Ill. 1986); United States v. Gonzales, 620 F. Supp. 1143 (N.D. Ill.
1985).
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Extortion:*

United States v. Garcia, 754 F.3d 460 (7th Cir. 2014); United States v. Ivezaj,
568 F.3d 88 (2d Cir. 2009); United States v. Peter Gotti, et. al., 459 F.3d 296 (2d
Cir. 2006); Robbins v. Wilkie, 433 F.3d 755 (10th Cir. 2006); United States v.
Watchmaker, 761 F.2d 1459, 1468-69 (11th Cir. 1985); United States v. Delker,
757 F.2d 1390 (3d Cir. 1985); United States v. Brooklier, 685 F.2d 1208 (8th
Cir. 1982); United States v. Cryan, 490 F. Supp. 1234 (D.N.J.), aff’d, 636 F.2d
1211 (3d Cir. 1980).

Dealing in Obscene Matter:

United States v. Pryba, 900 F.2d 748 (4th Cir. 1990).

Dealing in Narcotic or Other Dangerous Drugs:

United States v. Garcia, 754 F.3d 460 (7th Cir. 2014),"United States v. Martinez,
657 F.3d 811 (9th Cir. 2011); Pimentel, 346 F.3d+at 300-01; United States v.
Darden, 70 F.3d 1507 (8th Cir. 1995); United States v. Grayson, 795 F.2d 278
(3d Cir. 1986); United States v. Schell, 775.F.2d 559 (4th Cir. 1985); United
States v. Urena, 2014 WL 4652480 (S.D;N.Y. 2014).

2. Federal Title 18 Offenses

Section 1961(1)(B) defines, racketeering activity as “any act which is indictable under”
any of a list of federal criminal statutes. This provision is narrower than Section 1961(1)(A)

because the federal ©offense must be an “act” that is “indictable under” one of the listed statutes;

% Seealso Scheidler v. Nat’l Org. for Women, Inc., 537 U.S. 393 (2003) (For RICO
purposes, “a-state’s extortion statute must satisfy the “generic definition of extortion”, which
requirés-an element of “obtaining” property. A defendant must unlawfully obtain or attempt to
obtam, property; unlawfully restricting an individual’s freedom of action does not satisfy this
eriteria). See also United States v. Delano, 55 F.3d 720, 727 (2d Cir. 1995) (New York larceny
by extortion statute requires forcing a person to surrender property; extortion of services did not
constitute a violation of larceny by extortion statute; and court reversed RICO predicate acts
based on extortion of services theory).
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attempts and conspiracies cannot be used as predicate offenses unless they are expressly included
within the terms of the statute. For example, a conspiracy to violate the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. §
1951, is a RICO predicate® because Section 1951(a) expressly makes conspiracy a crime. On
the other hand, a conspiracy to conduct an illegal gambling business under 18 U.S.C. 8,1955
cannot be a RICO predicate® because 18 U.S.C. § 1955 does not expressly make ‘such a
conspiracy a crime. Because of the effect of 18 U.S.C. § 2, however, one whosaids,and abets the
commission of a federal crime is treated as if he had committed the crime_as a‘principal and can

be charged under RICO if the crime is one set forth in Section 1961(1)(B)-(G).*

Each statute listed in Section 1961(1)(B) is accompani€d, by ‘a parenthetical phrase that

gives a brief description of the conduct proscribed by ‘the statute. These descriptions are

% See, e.g., United States v. Brooklier, 685 F.2d 1208, 1216 (9th Cir. 1982); see also
United States v. Vastola, 670 F. Supp. 1244*(D.N.J. 1987) (conspiracies may be RICO
predicates); United States v. Biaggi, 672 Supp. 112, 122 (S.D.N.Y. 1987) (RICO conspiracy
may be based on conspiracy predicates);) United States v. Santoro, 647 F. Supp. 153, 177
(E.D.N.Y. 1986) (conspiracy to violate Hobbs Act proper RICO predicate), rev’d on other
grounds, 845 F.2d 1151 (2d Cir. 2988); United States v. Dellacroce, 625 F. Supp. 1387, 1392
(E.D.N.Y. 1986) (conspiracy,can be predicate act); United States v. Persico, 621 F. Supp. 842,
856 (S.D.N.Y. 1985) (conspiracy is proper RICO predicate and does not cause duplicity).

% See, e.gs United States v. Joseph, 781 F.2d 549 (6th Cir. 1986); United States v.
Ruggiero, 726 F.2d'913, 913-20 (2d Cir. 1984), abrogated on other grounds by Salinas v. United
States, 522 U.S.52 (1997).

¥4.See, e.g., United States v. Shifman, 124 F.3d 31, 36 (1st Cir. 1997) (“aiding and
abetting-one of the activities listed in Section 1961(1) as racketeering activities makes one
punishable as a principal and amounts to engaging in that racketeering activity”); United States
v. Pungitore, 910 F.2d 1084, 1132-34 (3d Cir. 1990) (explaining principle of aiding and abetting
and applying it to the facts of a RICO predicate offense); United States v. Rastelli, 870 F.2d 822,
831-33 (2d Cir. 1989); United States v. Private Sanitation Indus. Ass’n of Nassau/Suffolk, Inc.,
793 F. Supp. 1114, 1133-34 (E.D.N.Y. 1992).
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included only for convenience and do not limit the conduct that can be charged as a RICO

predicate.*’

Although legal issues concerning federal predicate offenses often are the same as those
arising in non-RICO prosecutions, some federal offenses chargeable under RICO present-issues

that relate particularly to RICO prosecutions.

a. Mail and Wire Fraud
1) Mail and Wire Fraud Preemption Issues

RICO indictments frequently allege predicate offenses’ under the mail and wire fraud
statutes, 18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343. As a general rule, eourts have held that the mail and wire
fraud statutes may be used as RICO predicate offenses even though the conduct charged is also

covered by another, more specific, statute that is-hot a RICO predicate offense.®

3 See, e.g., United States v Herring, 602 F.2d 1220, 1223 (5th Cir. 1979). It should be
noted that the applicability of,18*U.S.C. § 659, relating to theft from interstate shipment, is
expressly limited to a “felonious” violation of Section 659. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(B).

% See, e.g.nUnited States v. Eisen, 974 F.2d 246, 253-54 (2d Cir. 1992) (mail fraud
predicate offense.applied to conduct that may constitute perjury even though perjury is not a
RICO predicate, offense); United States v. Porcelli, 865 F.2d 1352, 1357-58 (2d Cir. 1989)
(rejecting defense argument that mail fraud predicates could not be used for state sales tax
violations\because state had not criminalized such violations); Hofstetter v. Fletcher, 860 F.2d
1079+6th Cir. 1988) (mailing of fraudulent tax return is a proper mail fraud RICO predicate and
notiimproper because tax fraud is not RICO predicate); United States v. Busher, 817 F.2d 1409,
1432 (9th Cir. 1987) (same; relied on by court in Hofstetter, supra at 4); United States v.
Computer Sciences Corp., 689 F.2d 1181, 1186-88 (4th Cir. 1982) (mail fraud and wire fraud
charges could be brought even though conduct was also charged under False Claims Act, 18

U.S.C. § 287), overruled on other grounds by Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 841-
(continued...)
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However, in limited situations, for example when the conduct underlying the RICO predicate
offense is illegal solely because of the proscriptions of federal law, some courts have ruled that

mail or wire fraud predicates are preempted by another statute.*

% (continued...)

42 (4th Cir. 1990) (en banc); United States v. Boffa, 688 F.2d 919, 931-33 (3d Cir, 1982) (mail
fraud statute not preempted by labor statutes, despite some overlap in statutescoverage); United
States v. Hartley, 678 F.2d 961, 990 n.50 (11th Cir. 1982) (use of mail fraud as RICO predicate
not foreclosed where conduct could be prosecuted under False Claims Aet), abrogated on other
grounds by United States v. Goldin Industries, Inc., 219 F.3d 1268-(11th Cir. 2000); United
States v. Weatherspoon, 581 F.2d 595, 599-600 (7th Cir. 1978) (uphelding use of mail fraud
statute against acts also prosecuted under false statements statute); abrogated on other grounds by
Morgan v. Bank of Waukegan, 804 F.2d 970, 975 (7th Cir».1986); United States v. Int’l
Brotherhood of Teamsters, 708 F. Supp. 1388 (S.D.N.Y..1989) (RICO suit not preempted by the
Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act (“LMRDA”), 29 U.S.C. § 483), declined to
follow on other grounds by PT United Can Co. Ltd. w Grown Cork & Seal Co., Inc., 138 F.3d
65, 71 (2d Cir. 1998); United States v. Regan, 726 F. Supp. 447 (S.D.N.Y. 1989) (tax evasion
prosecuted under mail fraud statute), vacated in part by United States v. Regan, 937 F.2d 823 (2d
Cir. 1991); lllinois v. Flisk, 702 F. Supp. 189 (N.D. Ill. 1988) (tax fraud charged under mail
fraud statute); United States v. Standard-Brywall Corp., 617 F. Supp. 1283, 1295-96 (E.D.N.Y.
1985) (allowed mail fraud predicates based on fraudulent mailings relating to tax liability); see
also United States v. Local 560, Int'"Brotherhood of Teamsters, 780 F.2d 267, 282-83 (3d Cir.
1985) (LMRDA does not pre-empt“Hobbs Act); United States v. Dischner, No. A87-160 Cr (D.
Alaska July 19, 1988) (allowed, use*of commercial bribery statute as RICO predicate even though
conduct also could be coveredi\by public bribery statute), aff’d, 974 F.2d 1502 (9th Cir. 1992);
United States v. White, 386\F. Supp. 882, 884-85 (E.D. Wis. 1974) (proper to charge interstate
transportation of stolen\motor vehicles under 18 U.S.C. § 2314 rather than specific statute, 18
U.S.C. 8 2312). [Note that, with respect to the White case, three specific motor vehicle
violations—18 U.S.C. 88§ 2312, 2313, and 2321—were made RICO predicates in an amendment
effective Octoher 25, 1984.

%9, "See, e.g., Underwood v. Venango River Corp., 995 F.2d 677, 684-86 (7th Cir.
1993)(mail and wire fraud predicates depending solely upon interpretation of rights created by
collective bargaining agreement preempted by the Railway Labor Act, (“RLA”)), overruled on
other grounds by Hawaiian Airlines, Inc. v. Norris, 512 U.S. 246 (1994); Talbot v. Robert
Matthews Distrib. Co., 961 F.2d 654, 662 (7th Cir. 1992) (RICO suit involving conduct

prohibited by labor laws was preempted by the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”));
(continued...)
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Moreover, the Organized Crime and Gang Section will not approve a proposed RICO
indictment that contains mail or wire fraud predicates involving federal tax evasion or other

offenses arising under the federal internal revenue laws unless previously approved by the

%9 (continued...)

Chicago District Council of Carpenters Pension Fund v. Ceiling Wall Sys...In¢., 915 F. Supp.
939, 944 (N.D. I1l. 1996) (mail fraud predicate preempted by LMRDA, but net by NLRA); Mann
v. Air Line Pilots Ass’n, 848 F. Supp. 990, 995 (S.D. Fla. 1994) (mail and\wire fraud predicates
preempted by RLA because court needed to look to federal labor statute*to determine whether
fraud had occurred); United States v. Juell, No. 84 C 7467 (N.D. NI. June 30, 1987) (mail and
wire fraud predicates preempted by NLRA § 8, 29 U.S.C. 8§ 158; but for labor laws, those acts
would not be fraud); Butchers’ Union, Local No. 498, United Food & Commercial Workers v.
SDC Inv., Inc., 631 F. Supp. 1001, 1011 (E.D. Cal. 1986)<(mail and wire fraud predicates pre-
empted by labor laws because liability is wholly dependent+on labor laws). But see, e.g., United
States v. Palumbo Bros., Inc., 145 F.3d 850, 871-76 (7th,Cir. 1998) (holding that RICO predicate
acts of mail fraud, based upon employers’ scheme-to defraud their employees of monetary
benefits obtained through collective bargaining within the ambit of the NLRA, were not
preempted since the unlawfulness of the charged/conduct is determined by “the scope of the mail
fraud statute;” the court stated (145 F.3d at'875) that “[t]he unfair labor practices implicated in
the indictment cannot be defined solely~in‘relation to federal labor law and policy; rather, that
conduct also must be defined and analyzed in the context of the criminal offenses charged in the
indictment”).

Preemption_has also been applied to extortion and other types of RICO predicate
acts. See, e.g., Tamburello v. Comm-Tract Corp., 67 F.3d 973, 979 (1st Cir. 1995) (RICO civil
suit alleging Hobbs Act extortion preempted by NLRA); Brennan v. Chestnut, 973 F.2d 644, 647
(8th Cir. 1992) (RICO civil suit alleging Hobbs Act extortion predicates preempted by NLRA);
Teamsters Loegal 372 v. Detroit Newspapers, 956 F. Supp. 753 (E.D. Mich. 1997) (certain
extortion predicate acts were preempted by NLRA, but robbery, arson, and other extortions were
not preempted because these acts were unlawful without need to resort to the federal labor
statutes-to determine their illegality); Buck Creek Coal, Inc. v. United Workers of Am., 917 F.
Supp. 601, 611 (S.D. Ind. 1995) (RICO predicate acts relating to intimidation and harassment
and_to failure to control individual union members with the purpose of forcing third parties to
cease doing business with Buck Creek were preempted by federal labor statutes, predicate acts
relating to theft and vandalism were dismissed on other grounds).For a discussion of RICO
preemption, see OCRS’ Civil RICO Manual (Oct. 2007) at 272-82.

37



Criminal Section of the Tax Division.*°

@) Supreme Court’s Decisions in McNally, Carpenter, and
Cleveland

In 1987, in McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987), the Supreme Court held that

the mail and wire fraud statutes were limited to schemes to defraud a victim of tangible or
intangible property rights, and therefore did not cover schemes to defraud a-victim of a right to
honest services.** Under McNally and its progeny, the mail and wire ffaud statutes could not
cover schemes to defraud victims of their rights to honest services, such as those involving

public corruption.”? In response to the Supreme Court’s decision,Congress enacted

%0 According to the Tax Division there aré:.in General, three circumstances in which it
can be said that an offense arises under the internal revenue laws: “when it involves (1) an
attempt to evade a responsibility imposed by(the“Internal Revenue Code, (2) an obstruction or
impairment of the Internal Revenue Servieey, or (3) an attempt to defraud the Government or
others through the use of mechanisms established by the Internal Revenue Service for the filing
of internal revenue documents or the payment, collection, or refund of taxes.” Tax Division
Directive No. 128 at 1.

Thus, the Department of Justice requires Tax Division authorization for the
charging of mail fraud counts, either independently or as RICO predicates “for any conduct
arising under the internal, revenue laws, including any charge based on the submission of a
document of information to the IRS . . . [and] for any charge based on a state tax violation if the
case involves parallelfederal tax violations.” 1d. See Appendix I(B) for Tax Division Directive
No. 128.

4 ‘In Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25-27 (1987), the Supreme Court followed
thesholding of McNally, but held that the Wall Street Journal had an intangible property right in
keeping confidential and making exclusive use, prior to publication, of its columns, within the
ambit of the wire fraud statute.

%2 Because the wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343, was patterned after the mail fraud

(continued...)
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18 U.S.C. § 1346 in 1988, which expressly defines “scheme or artifice to defraud,” for purposes
of the mail fraud and wire fraud statutes, to include a “scheme or artifice to deprive another of
the intangible right of honest services.”*® Thus, Section 1346 was designed to overrule McNally,
and hence McNally precludes application of the mail and wire fraud statutes to a scheme.to
defraud another of a right to honest services only when the underlying scheme to defraud was

completed prior to November 18, 1988, the effective date of 18 U.S.C. § 1346#

In Cleveland v. United States, 531 U.S. 12, 15 (2000), the Supremé Court held that “State

and municipal licenses in general, and Louisiana’s video poker licenSes in particular” do not
constitute property “in the hands of the official licensor” within the ambit of the mail fraud
statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1341. Louisiana law allows certain businesses that qualify for a state license

to operate video poker machines. Louisiana itself 'did not run such machinery. The charged

%2 (continued...)

statute and has virtually identical language, courts have construed them identically. See, e.q.,
United States v. Sawyer, 85 F.3d 713,723 (1st Cir. 1996); United States v. Manzer, 69 F.3d 222,
226 (8th Cir. 1995); United States v. Griffith, 17 F.3d 865, 874 (6th Cir. 1984); United States v.
Lemire, 720 F.2d 1327, 1335 n,6 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The only material difference is that the wire
fraud statute requires that'the wire transmission be “in interstate or foreign commerce,” whereas
the mail fraud statute coyers“‘intrastate” use of the mails as well as those in interstate or foreign
commerce. See, e.g.,\United States v. Photogrammetric Data Servs., Inc., 259 F.3d 229, 247-48
(4th Cir. 2001), abrogated on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004);
United States w-Marek, 238 F.3d 310, 317-18 (5th Cir. 2001).

%3, See Pub. L. No. 100-690, Title V11, § 7603(a), 102 Stat. 4508 (Nov. 18, 1988).

* See, e.q., United States v. Rybicki, 354 F.3d 124, 132-39 (2d Cir. 2003) (en banc);
United States v. Vinyard, 266 F.3d 320, 326 n.4 (4th Cir. 2001); United States v. Martin, 228
F.3d 1, 17 & n.20 (1st Cir. 2000); United States v. Alkins, 925 F.2d 541, 548-49 (2d Cir. 1991);
United States v. Dempsey, 768 F. Supp. 1256, 1267-68 (N.D. Ill. 1990).
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RICO and mail fraud offenses alleged that because defendants Cleveland and Goodson had tax
and financial problems that could have undermined their suitability to receive a video poker
license, they fraudulently concealed that they were the true owners of the Truck Stop Gaming
Casino in the license application that they had mailed to the State of Louisiana. The mail, fraud
offense alleged that the defendants had defrauded the State of Louisiana of its property interests

in the video poker licenses by their false representations.

The Supreme Court held that such licenses were not “property” insthe hands of the State

within the compass of 18 U.S.C. § 1341. The Court stated

It does not suffice . . . that the object of the fraud maybecome property in the
recipient’s hands; for purposes of the mail fraud statute, the thing obtained must
be property in the hands of the victim.

Id. at 15.%

Above all else, the Supreme Court éxplained that “whatever interests Louisiana might be
said to have in its video poker licenses, the State’s core concern is regulatory.” Id. at 20. The
Court added that “the statute” establishes a typical regulatory program. It licenses, subject to
certain conditions, engagement in pursuits that private actors may not undertake without official
authorization. In this, respect, it resembles other licensing schemes long characterized by this

Court as exercises of state police powers.” 1d. at 21.

ThevCourt rejected the State’s argument that it has a property interest in its video poker

licenses because it received a substantial sum of money in exchange for each license and

*> The Court noted that it did not “question that video poker licensees may have property
interests in their licenses.” 1d. at 25.
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continues to receive payments from the licensee as long as the license remains in effect. Id. at

21. The Supreme Court explained:

Without doubt, Louisiana has a substantial economic stake in the video poker
industry. The State collects an upfront “processing fee” for each new license
application, . . . a separate “processing fee” for each renewal application, ... an
“annual fee” from each device owner, . . . an additional “device operation” fee,.., .
. and, most importantly, a fixed percentage of net revenue from each video poker
device . . .. It is hardly evident, however, why these tolls should make, video
poker licenses “property” in the hands of the State. The State receives’the lion’s
share of its expected revenue not while the licenses remain in its own hands, but
only after they have been issued to licensees. Licenses pre-issuance do not
generate an ongoing stream of revenue. At most, they entitle the State to collect
a processing fee from applicants for new licenses. Were an entitlement of this
order sufficient to establish a state property right, one cotld, scarcely avoid the
conclusion that States have property rights in any licenSe,or permit requiring an
upfront fee, including drivers’ licenses, medical licenses, and fishing and hunting
licenses. Such licenses, as the Governmentsitself concedes, are “purely
regulatory.” Tr. of Oral Arg. 24-25.

Tellingly, as to the character of Louisiana’s stake in its video poker licenses, the
Government nowhere alleges that €leéveland defrauded the State of any money to
which the State was entitled by law.

1d. at 22.

The Court also rejecteéd the view that the State had a property interest in its “right to
choose the persons to whom it issues video poker licenses,” explaining that “these intangible
rights of allocation; exclusion, and control amount to no more and no less than Louisiana’s
sovereign power\to regulate.” 1d. at 23. The Court also rejected analogies to a patent holder’s
interest \in\a patent that has not yet been licensed and “a franchisor’s right to select its

franchisees.” Id. at 23-24. The Court also stated:

We reject the Government’s theories of property rights not simply because they
stray from traditional concepts of property. We resist the Government’s reading
of 8 1341 as well because it invites us to approve a sweeping expansion of
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federal criminal jurisdiction in the absence of a clear statement by Congress.
Equating issuance of licenses or permits with deprivation of property would
subject to federal mail fraud prosecution a wide range of conduct traditionally
regulated by state and local authorities.

1d. at 24.

Following Cleveland, courts have held that governmental interests in various)licensing

schemes did not constitute property within the ambit of the mail and wire fraud statutes.*®

b. Supreme Court Decisions on Extortion Predicate ©ffenses -- Scheidler
v. NOW, Wilkie v. Robbins, and Sekhar v. United States

1) Scheidler v. NOW

RICO charges also frequently include predicate offenses involving extortion under the
Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951, and state law, asuillustrated by several recent Supreme Court

decisions. For example, in Scheidler v. Nat’hOrg. for Women, Inc., 537 U.S. 393 (2003), the

Supreme Court reversed the Seventh.Circuit’s holding that the plaintiffs (an organization that

“® See, e.q., Fountain v. United States, 357 F.3d 250, 257 (2d Cir. 2004) (“While a liquor
license might not constitute property in the hands of the state, the sales taxes that the government
can anticipate collecting from transactions in alcohol are property under the mail and wire fraud
statutes”); United States v. Griffin, 324 F.3d 330, 354 (5th Cir. 2003) (holding that unissued tax
credits in the hands of a state agency have “zero intrinsic value,” and hence are not property
within the ambit of the mail fraud statute); United States v. Peter, 310 F.3d 709, 711 (11th Cir.
2002) (alleged misrepresentations on application for alcoholic beverage license did not fall
within the ambit of the mail fraud statute); United States v. LeVegue, 283 F.3d 1098, 1102-03
(9th_Cir. 2002) (alleged false representations in application for a hunting license did not fall
within the ambit of the mail fraud statute); United States v. Antico, 275 F.3d 245, 267 (3d Cir.
2001) (alleged false representations on an application for a zoning permit did not fall within the
ambit of the mail fraud statute), abrogated on other grounds by Skilling v. United States, 561
U.S. 358 (2010), as recognized by United States v. Hasan, 541 Fed. Appx. 223, 225 (3d Cir.
2013).
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supports the legal availability of abortion services and two clinics that provide medical services
including abortions) were entitled to a permanent injunction against the defendants
(individuals and organizations engaged in anti-abortion activities) and treble damages under.
RICO’s civil remedies, 18 U.S.C. § 1964. The Seventh Circuit ruled that the defendants, had
committed a pattern of Hobbs Act and state extortions arising from their use of force, violence
and fear to cause the plaintiffs “‘to give up’ property rights, namely, ‘a woman’s right to seek
medical services [i.e., abortion services] from a clinic, the right of the dectors, nurses or other
clinic staff to perform their jobs, and the right of the clinics to provide medical services free from
wrongful threats, violence, coercion and fear.”” Id. at 400 (quoting the jury instructions). The
Seventh Circuit had also ruled that “as a legal matter, an“extortionist can violate the Hobbs Act
without either seeking or receiving money or anything else. A loss to, or interference with the
rights of, the victim is all that is required.’ Id at 399-400 (citation and internal quotations
omitted).

The Supreme Court,*did “not decide whether the matters the defendants sought
constitute “property” within the meaning of the Hobbs Act. 1d. at 401-02. The Court, however,
decided that the defendants did not “obtain” or seek to “obtain” property within the meaning of
the Hobbs Act, \stating:

But_even when [the defendants’] acts of interference and disruption achieved

their ultimate goal of “shutting down” a clinic that performed abortions, such

acts did not constitute extortion because [defendants] did not “obtain”

[plaintiffs’] property. [Defendants] may have deprived or sought to deprive

[plaintiffs] of their alleged property right of exclusive control of their business

assets, but they did not acquire any such property. [Defendants] neither pursued

nor received “something of value from” [plaintiffs] that theycould exercise,
transfer, or sell. United Statesv. Nardello, 393 U.S. 286, 290, 89 S. Ct. 534, 21
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L.Ed. 2d 487 (1969). To conclude that such actions constituted extortion would
effectively discard the statutory requirement that property must be obtained
from another, replacing it instead with the notion that merely interfering with
or depriving someone of property is sufficient to constitute extortion.

Scheidler, 537 U.S. at 404-05. The Court further explained that:

Eliminating the requirement that property must be obtained to constitute
extortion would not only conflict with the express requirement of the Hobbs'Act,
it would also eliminate the recognized distinction between extortionqand the
separate crime of coercion -- a distinction that is implicated in these, cases.
The crime of coercion, which more accurately describes thewnature of
[defendants’] actions, involves the use of force or threat of foree to restrict
another’s freedom of action. Coercion’s origin is statutory, @nd it was clearly
defined in the New York Penal Code as a separate, and \lesser offense than
extortion when Congress turned to New York law in_drafting the Hobbs Act.
New York case law applying the coercion statute.before the passage of the
Hobbs Act involved the prosecution of individuals who, like [defendants],
employed threats and acts of force and violenee to dictate and restrict the actions
and decisions of businesses. See, e.g., People V. Ginsberg, 262 N.Y. 556, 188
N.E. 62 (1933) (affirming convictions~for coercion where defendant used
threatened and actual property damage te’ compel the owner of a drug store to
become a member of alocal trade association and to remove price advertisements
for specific merchandise from his “store’s windows); People v. Scotti, 266
N.Y. 480, 195 N.E. 162 %1934)(affirming conviction for coercion where
defendants used threatened-and actual force to compel a manufacturer to enter
into an agreement with ‘a labor union of which the defendants were members);
People v. Kaplan, 240 App. Div. 72, 269 N.Y.S. 161 (1934) (affirming
convictions for cogrcion where defendants, members of a labor union, used
threatened and, actual physical violence to compel other members of the
union to drop lawsuits challenging the manner in which defendants were
handlingthetnion’s finances).

Scheidler{.5637 U.S. at 405-06 (footnotes omitted). The Court explained the distinction
between “extortion” and “coercion,” stating:

Under the Model Penal Code § 223.4, Comment 1, pp. 201-202, extortion
requires that one “obtains [the] property of another” using threat as “the method
employed to deprive the victim of his property.” This “obtaining” is
further explained as “‘bring[ing] about a transfer or purported transfer of a
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legal interest in the property, whether to the obtainer or another.”” 1d., § 223.3,
Comment 2, at 182. Coercion, on the other hand, is defined as making
“specified categories of threats . . . with the purpose of unlawfully restricting
another’s freedom of action to his detriment.” 1d., § 212.5, Comment 2, at 264.

Scheidler, 537 U.S. at 408 n.13. The Court added that:

[W]hile coercion and extortion certainly overlap to the extent that extortion
necessarily involves the use of coercive conduct to obtain property, there has
been and continues to be a recognized difference between these two crimes, see,
e.g., ALI, Model Penal Code and Commentaries 88 212.5, 232.4.(1980) . . .
and we find it evident that this distinction was not lost on Congress in
formulating the Hobbs Act.

1d. at 407-08 (footnote omitted). Accordingly, the Supreme Court.concluded that the defendants
“did not obtain or attempt to obtain property from [the plaintiffs].” Id. at 409.

Scheidler establishes a general rule that a defendant does not “obtain” or seek to
obtain property within the meaning of the .Habbs Act and generic extortion by merely
interfering with or depriving someong~0of, ‘property, or by merely depriving or seeking to

deprive someone of his “exclusive ontrol of [his] business assets.” 1d. at 404-05.%

2 Seheidler Decisions on Remand

On remand from the Supreme Court, the Seventh Circuit held that the jury’s RICO

verdict could ‘eanceivably rest on four instances of threats of physical violence unrelated to

*" For a discussion of the impact of the Scheidler decision on the Government’s
application of RICO and the Hobbs Act to extortion of union members’ rights to free speech
and to participate in internal union democracy guaranteed by the Labor Management
Reporting and Disclosure Procedure Act, 29 U.S.C. 8§ 401-531, see OCRS’ Civil RICO
Manual (Oct. 2007) at 282-98.
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extortion. Nat’l Org. for Women Inc. v. Scheidler, 91 Fed. Appx. 510, 512 (7th Cir. 2004). In that

respect, the Hobbs Act imposes criminal liability on
[w]hoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or
the movement of any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or
extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, or commits or threatens physical

violence to any person or property in furtherance of a plan or purpose to do
anything in violation of this section . . ..

18 U.S.C. 8 1951(a) (emphasis added). The Seventh Circuit remanded the case to the district
court to determine “whether the phrase ‘commits or threatens physical violence on any person or
property’ constitutes an independent ground for violating the Hobbs Act,” regardless of
whether the defendant’s plan involved an effort to extort of reb the intended victim. Id. at

513.

The Supreme Court reversed, holding that, *“physical violence unrelated to robbery or

extortion falls outside the scope of the Hobbs Act.” Scheidler v. Nat’l Org. for Women Inc., 547

U.S. 9, 16 (2006). Thus, the Supreme Court stated:

We conclude that Congress/did not intend to create a freestanding physical
violence offense in{the ‘Hobbs Act. It did intend to forbid acts or threats of
physical violence {n furtherance of a plan or purpose to engage in what the
statute refers to as robbery or extortion (and related attempts or conspiracies).

1d. at 23.
3) Wilkie v. Robbins

In Wilkie v. Robbins, 551 U.S. 537 (2007), the Supreme Court afforded the United States

significant protection from civil suits alleging violations of RICO and the Hobbs Act. In Wilkie, the

plaintiff brought a civil RICO suit against the United States, alleging that current and former
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employees of the Bureau of Land Management had engaged in a pattern of harassment and
intimidation under color of official right, aimed at forcing him to regrant an easement to the United
States to use and maintain a road on the plaintiff’s ranch, allegedly in violation of the Hobbs Act

(18 U.S.C. § 1951) and civil RICO.

The Supreme Court held that “the Hobbs Act does not apply when the National'Government
is the intended beneficiary of the allegedly extortionate acts.” 1d. at 563. The Court noted that case
law “is completely barren of an example of extortion under color of official\ight undertaken for the
sole benefit of the Government.” 1d. at 565. The Court added:

[D]rawing a line between private and public beneficiaries prevents suits (not
just recoveries) against public officers whose jobs are to obtain property owed
to the Government. So, without some other ‘indication from Congress, it is not
reasonable to assume that the Hobbs Act.(let alone RICO) was intended to

expose all federal employees . . . to extertion charges whenever they stretch
in trying to enforce Government property claims.

1d. at 566.

The Court also said that because the plaintiff’s RICO claims must be rejected since the
Hobbs Act claims fall, it did not reach the issue whether “a valid claim of entitlement in the

disputed property.isa complete defense against extortion.” 1d. at 563.

4) Sekhar v. United States

In United States v. Sekhar, U.S. _ , 133 S. Ct. 2720 (2013), the Supreme Court

reversed a Hobbs Act conviction of the defendant’s attempted extortion of a governmental

attorney’s legal opinion and recommendation to approve a state employee pension fund’s
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investment in the defendant’s business. The Court held that the attempt to compel the attorney
to issue a legal opinion was not extortion of obtainable property for purposes of the Hobbs Act,
but only an attempted coercion of a non-extortionate action against the victim’s will.

The defendant in Sekhar was the managing partner of a firm that sought to have, the
Comptroller of New York State invest retirement funds with the firm. Because the\firm’s
activities had come under investigation by the New York State Attorney\General, the
Comptroller decided not to invest with it. This decision prompted the defendant, who had heard
rumors that the Comptroller’s general counsel was having an extramarital affair, to threaten to
expose the general counsel’s affair unless the general counsel reeommended that the Comptroller
place the investment with defendant’s firm. Justice Alito.characterized the object of the threat as
“a mere internal recommendation that a state gevernment take an initial step that might lead
eventually to an investment that would be bengficial to private parties.” 133 S. Ct. at 2729 (Alito,
J., concurring).

After trial defendant Sekbar-was convicted of attempted extortion in violation of the
Hobbs Act and five counts of\transmitting extortionate threats in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 875(d)
which the prosecutionsconceded also required proof of extortion as defined in the Hobbs Act.

United States v. Sekhar, 683 F.3d 436, 440 (2d Cir. 2012) (citing United States v. Jackson, 180

F.3d 55, 70+(2d Cir. 1999)). Examination of the indictment and verdict in the Sekhar case
discloses:that the jury had three choices for finding that property was obtained by the wrongful
us€ of fear of economic harm by disclosure of the employee’s extramarital affair: (1) the pension

ivestment (the “Commitment”), (2) the approval of the pension investment, and (3) the general
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counsel’s recommendation that the investment be approved. According to the verdict form, the
jury rejected the first two choices, but selected the general counsel’s recommendation as the
property which had been extorted.

The Second Circuit upheld the jury’s verdict using the following reasoning:

Here, the evidence showed that a positive recommendation by the General
Counsel would have increased the chances the Comptroller would «issue “a
Commitment; a Commitment was necessary for FA Tech 11l to receive’a Pension
Fund investment; and an investment would have resulted in management\fees for
FA Technology and profit for Sekhar, as a managing partner. And the evidence
showed that Sekhar understood that line of causation. Accordingly, there was
sufficient evidence to conclude that Sekhar, in order to profit, attempted to
exercise the General Counsel's property right to make .rfecommendations. The
government was not required to prove that Sekhar weuld ‘actually have been
enriched had he succeeded in exercising that right. Opportunities have value.

Sekhar, 683 F.3d at 443.
In upholding the defendant’s convictions ‘the Second Circuit concluded that the general

counsel’s “ability to give legal advice free from threats” was property within the meaning of

United States v. Tropiano, 418 F.20:1069 (2d Cir.1969), to the extent that it freed him from

conflict which would interfere ‘with his employment and the exercise of his profession. In
Tropiano, the Second Circuit had upheld the Hobbs Act extortion conviction of an organized
crime defendant wheshad threatened violence to obtain a business competitor’s agreement not to
compete withthe-defendant’s waste hauling company and to refrain from soliciting garbage
collectionscustomers in a particular geographic area. The court of appeals in Tropiano had
concluded that

[t]he concept of property under the Hobbs Act . . . is not limited to physical or

tangible property or things, but includes, in a broad sense, any valuable right

considered as a source or element of wealth. . . . Obviously, [the victim-business
competitor] Caron had a right to solicit business from anyone in any area without

49



any territorial restrictions by the appellants and only by the exercise of such a
right could Caron obtain customers whose accounts were admittedly valuable.
Some indication of the value of the right to solicit customers appears from the fact
that when the C & A accounts were sold for $53,135, C & A's agreement not to
solicit those customers was valued at an additional $15,000. The right to pursue a
lawful business including the solicitation of customers necessary to the conduct of
such business has long been recognized as a property right within the protection
of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution.

418 F.2d at 1075-76 (case citations omitted and words in brackets added).

Moreover, the Second Circuit in Sekhar concluded that the legal reCemmendation was

“obtainable” property as required by the Supreme Court’s ruling in Scheidler v. Nat’l Org. for

Women, Inc., 537 U.S. 393 (2003). In Scheidler, the Supreme Court ruled that abortion

protestors who used violence to shut down abortion clinics, coeuld not be held responsible for
having committed extortion for purposes of a civil RICO lawsuit. The Court concluded that
although the protestors had coerced the clinic operators to give up their right to operate their
business, the protestors did not also seek‘to “obtain™ property by operating the clinics or
receiving "something of value . . . which they could exercise, transfer, or sell." Scheidler, 537
U.S. at 405.

In its Scheidler opinion, the Supreme Court had declined to decide the abortion protestor-
defendants’ argument,that a business owner’s intangible “right to do business” was not property
for purposes of the"Hobbs Act. Instead, the Court had concluded that “it . . . need not now trace
what are the-euter boundaries of extortion liability under the Hobbs Act, so that liability might be
based on obtaining something as intangible as another’s right to exercise exclusive control over
the use of a party’s business assets.” Scheidler, 537 U.S. at 402. Therefore, the majority of the

Court in Scheidler noted that Justice Stevens in his Scheidler dissent was “mistaken to suggest
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that our decision reaches, must less rejects, lower court decisions such as United States v.
Tropiano . . . in which the Second Circuit concluded that the intangible right to solicit refuse
collection accounts ‘constituted property within the Hobbs Act definition.” Scheidler, 537 U.S.
at 402 n.6.

Accordingly, the Second Circuit in its Sekhar opinion also concluded that even if a

positive recommendation to the comptroller’s office would have not guaranteed approval of the
investment for the defendant, it was sufficient that the defendant attempt to “exercise[ ] the rights

in question in order to profit themselves.” Sekhar, 683 F.3d at 442-443 (quoting from United

States v. Gotti, 459 F.3d 296, 326 (2d Cir. 2006)) and citing United States v. Cain, 671 F.3d 271,

283 at n.4 (2d Cir. 2012)).*®

However, all nine members of the Supreme, Court voted to reverse defendant Sekhar’s
convictions. Six members of the Court conCluded that “attempting to compel a person to
recommend that his employer approve an investment” does not constitute an “obtaining Of
property from another” for purposés~of extortion as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2) and the
phrase “with intent to extort™in the 18 U.S.C. § 875(d). Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2724 n.1 (noting
the parties’ concessionvthat the definition of extortion in § 1951 also applies to 8 875(d)). Ina
concurring opinion;~ three members of the Court concluded that because the legal

recommendation did not constitute property, it was “unnecessary . . . to determine whether or not

*® In Cain, the Second Circuit had affirmed the Hobbs Act conviction of a tree service
provider who had threatened competitors with violence to order to obtain its customers’ business
and had distinguished a contrary holding by the Ninth Circuit in United States v. McFall, 558
F.3d 951, 957 (9th Cir. 2009), that “[i]t is not enough to gain some speculative benefit by
hindering a competitor”™).
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petitioner [Sekhar] sought to obtain it.” Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2730 (concurring opinion by
Alito, J.).
Writing for the majority, Justice Scalia referred to the test for obtainable property in

Scheidler v. National Organization for Women, Inc. as the seminal case on what is and what is

not “obtaining property” for purposes of extortion. Justice Scalia characterized the facts in
Sekhar as

. easier than Scheidler, where one might at least have said ‘that physical
occupation of property amounted to obtaining that property. The.deprivation alleged
here is far more abstract. Scheidler rested its decision, as we do, on the term
“obtaining.” Id., at 402 n 6. The principle announced there-=x that a defendant must
pursue something of value from the victim that can pe, exercised, transferred, or
sold, applies with equal force here. Whether one cansiders the personal right at
issue to be “property” in a broad sense or not,“it certainly was not obtainable
property under the Hobbs Act.

Sehkar, 133 S. Ct. at 2726 (citing Scheidler at 537°U:S. 402) (footnotes omitted).

But, instead of looking to whether the,property could be “exercised, transferred or sold,”
the Court focused on the non-transferability of the recommendation. Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2725
(“The property extorted must’ therefore be transferable—that is, capable of passing from one
person to another. The alleged property here lacks that defining feature.”).

The Court emphasized that because Congress had enacted as part of the Hobbs Act only
the New York.crime of extortion as it existed in 1946, as contrasted with the contemporaneous
New York.offense of coercion, not every compulsion of a “person to do or to abstain from doing
an.act” constituted an obtaining of property for purposes of extortion. Sekhar, 133 S. Ct at 2726,
n4 (quoting from the former New York coercion offense at former N.Y. Penal Law

8 530 (1909)). The Court also noted the exclusion from the scope of New York extortion, as it
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existed in 1946, of another contemporaneous offense which punished conspiracy to “prevent
another from exercising a lawful trade or calling, or doing any other lawful act, by force, threats,
intimidation.” Id. at n.3 (quoting from former N.Y. Penal Law § 580(5) (1909)). The Court
concluded that the latter statute’s “codification, which Congress did not adopt, is further
evidence that the New York crime of extortion (and hence the federal crime) did not reach
interference with a person’s right to ply a lawful trade, similar to the right claim@d here.” 1d.*

However, in Sekhar the Court was adamant in its insistence that by seeking to compel the
attorney victim “to offer advice that accorded with the [defendant-|\petitioner’s wishes,” the
defendant’s goal was not to exercise the victim-attorney’s “intangible right to give disinterested
legal advice” as obtainable property, but to compel the attorney to perform a non-proprietary act
against his will. As the Court summarized its holding,

[n]o fluent speaker of English would say: that “petitioner obtained and exercised

the general counsel’s right to make-«a‘tecommendation,” any more than he would

say that a person “obtained and exercised another's right to free speech.” He

would say that “petitioner ‘forced the general counsel to make a particular

recommendation,” just as he-would say that a person “forced another to make a

statement.” Adopting/ thes, Government's theory here would not only make

nonsense of words; “it would collapse the longstanding distinction between

extortion and coercion and ignore Congress's choice to penalize one but not the
other. . .. That'we'cannot do.

*° parénthically, some New York court opinions have also characterized the former New
York trade ‘eonspiracy statute as “conspiracy to commit the crime of extortion” rather than a
coercion.statute. See, e.g., People v. Dioguardi, 8 A.D.2d 426, 427, 188 N.Y.S.2d 84, 86
(N.Y~A.D.1959) (“The indictment contains two counts: the first charges conspiracy to commit
the_crime of extortion (Sec. 580, Penal Law); the second charges extortion (Secs. 850, 851(1),
Penal Law).”), opinion setting aside conviction reversed in, 8 N.Y.2d 260 (N.Y.1960) (demand
by union official and public relations consultant for monetary payment and monthly consultation
fees to remove labor pickets).
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133 S. Ct. at 2727 (citing Scheidler at 537 U.S. 409).

Although the Supreme Court concluded that seeking to compel the victim in the Sekhar
case to issue a legal opinion was not equivalent to defendant’s exercise of the victim’s property
right to pursue his profession, the Court again did not overturn the Second Circuit’s Trepiano
decision. (In Scheidler, the Court had declined to decide whether extortion liability under the
Hobbs Act could consist of a defendant’s “exercise of exclusive control ever\the use of a
victim’s business assets.” Scheidler, 537 U.S. at 402.) But, without_referring to Tropiano
directly or commercial victim’s right to solicit business customers, Justice Scalia noted in a
footnote that

[i]t may well be proper under the Hobbs Act for, the Government to charge a

person who obtains money by threatening “a third party, who obtains funds

belonging to a corporate or governmental entity by threatening the entity's agent .

. or who obtains “goodwill and customersrevenues” by threatening a market
competitor. Each of these might be,considered “obtaining property from
another.” We need not consider \those situations, however, because the

Government did not charge any of them here.

Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2725 n.2 (citingyin part United States v. Zemek, 634 F.2d 1159, 1173 (9th

Cir. 1980)).°
In a concurring{opinion, in which Justices Kennedy and Sotomayor joined agreeing to

reverse Sekhar’s convictions, Justice Alito would have declined to reach the question of whether

3%4n°Zemek, the Ninth Circuit had upheld RICO and Hobbs Act extortion convictions of
defendants who had attempted to obtain a competing tavern’s customers and revenues by causing
the. 'competitor to cease operation and by engaging in arson of the competitor’s premises. The
Ninth Circuit concluded that “[t]he concept of property under the Hobbs Act has not been limited
to physical or tangible “things.” The right to make business decisions and to solicit business free
from wrongful coercion is a protected property right.” 634 F.2d at 1173-74 (citing in part United
States v. Tropiano).
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the attorney’s right to give a legal opinion was obtainable by extortion by concluding that a
“nonbinding internal recommendation by a salaried state employee” did not constitute property
within the meaning of the Hobbs Act. Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2729-2730 (“Because | do not
believe that the item in question constitutes property, it is unnecessary for me to determine
whether or not petitioner sought to obtain it.”). Although Justice Alito recognized that “even at
common law the offense of extortion was understood to include the obtaining of anything of
value,” the term “property” does not extend to “everything that might_in some indirect way
portend the possibility of future economic gain.” Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2728. (citing Tropiano and
common law commentaries) (“I do not suggest that the eurtent lower court case law is
necessarily correct, but it seems clear that the case now betore us is an outlier and that the jury’s

verdict stretches the concept of property beyond therbreaking point.”).

C. Representative Cases\Charging Title 18 Predicate Offenses:

Section 201 (relating to bribery)

United States v. Bustamante, 45 F.3d 933 (5th Cir. 1995); United States v.
Garner, 837 F.2d 1404 (7th Cir. 1987); United States v. Persico, 646 F. Supp.
752 (S.D.N.Y.~1986); aff’d and rev’d on other grounds, 832 F.2d 705 (2d Cir.
1987); United States v. Perholtz, 622 F. Supp. 1253 (D.D.C. 1985); United States
v. Perkins596 F. Supp. 528 (E.D. Pa.), aff’d, 749 F.2d 28 (3d Cir. 1984); United
States v\ Stratton, 649 F.2d 1066 (5th Cir. Unit A June 1981); United States v.
Licavohi, 725 F.2d 1040 (6th Cir. 1984).

Section 224 (relating to sports bribery)

United States v. Burke, 700 F.2d 70 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Winter, 663
F.2d 1120 (1st Cir. 1981), abrogated in part by Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S.
52 (1997).

55



Sections 471-473 (relating to counterfeiting)

United States v. Diecidue, 603 F.2d 535 (5th Cir. 1979).

Section 659 (relating to theft from an interstate shipment)

United States v. Elliott, 571 F.2d 880 (5th Cir. 1978); United States v. Piteo, 726
F.2d 53 (2d Cir. 1984).

Section 664 (relating to embezzlement from pension and welfare funds)

United States v. Busaca, 936 F.2d 232 (6th Cir. 1991); United ‘States v.
Wuagneux, 683 F.2d 1343 (11th Cir. 1982); United States v. Ostrer, 481 F. Supp.
407 (S.D.N.Y. 1979).

Sections 891-894 (relating to extortionate credit transactions)

United States v. Shifman, 124 F.3d 31 (1st Cir: 2997); United States v. Zizzo,
120 F.3d 1338 (7th Cir. 1997); United Statesw. Doherty, 786 F.2d 491 (2d Cir.
1986); United States v. Persico, 621 F. Supp«842°(S.D.N.Y. 1985); United States
V. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214 (3d Cir. 1983)y.0verruled in part by Griffin v. United
States, 502 U.S. 46, as recognized by Wnited States v. Bergrin, 650 F.3d 257, n.5
(also noting that “[t]o the extent that\[Riccobene’s holding on requisite proof of
an ongoing organization] is inconsistent with Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S.
938 (2009)], it is no longer good Iaw”); United States v. Groff, 643 F.2d 396 (6th
Cir. 1981).

Section 1028 (relating to fraudtin connection with identification documents)

Section 1029 (relating tosfraud in connection with access devices)

Section 1084 (rélating to illegal transmission of wagering information)
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Section 1341 (relating to mail fraud)

United States v. Hively, 437 F.3d 752 (8th Cir. 2006); Porcelli v. United States, 404 F.3d
157 (2d Cir. 2005); Kemp v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 393 F.3d 1354 (11th Cir. 2004);
United States v. Genova, 333 F.3d 750 (7th Cir. 2003); United States v. Edwards, 303/F:
3d 606 (5th Cir. 2002); United States v. Porcelli, 303 F. 3d 452 (2d Cir. 2002); United
States v. Najjar, 300 F.3d 466 (4th Cir. 2002); United States v. Antico, 275 F.3d 2453d
Cir. 2001), abrogated on other grounds by Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358\(2010),
as recognized by United States v. Hasan, 541 Fed. Appx. 223, 225 (3d Cir. 2013); United
States v. Palumbo Brothers, Inc., 145 F.3d 850 (7th Cir. 1998); United States v.
Blandford, 33 F.3d 685 (6th Cir. 1994); United States v. Paccione, 949.F.2d 1183 (2d Cir.
1991); United States v. Horak, 833 F.2d 1235 (7th Cir. 1987); United States v. Busher,
817 F.2d 1409 (9th 1987); United States v. Martino, 648 F.2d 367+(5th Cir. June 1981);
United States v. Sheeran, 699 F.2d 112 (3d Cir. 1983); United\States v. Boyd, 309 F.
Supp. 2d 908 (S.D. Tex. 2004); United States v. Salvagno,” 306 F. Supp. 2d 258
(N.D.N.Y. 2004); United States v. Segal, 299 F. Supp. 2d 840 (N.D. Ill. 2004); United
States v. Ganim, 225 F. Supp. 2d 145 (D. Conn. 2002),‘United States v. Standard Drywall
Corp., 617 F. Supp. 1283 (E.D.N.Y. 1985).

Section 1343 (relating to wire fraud)

United States v. Gotti, 459 F.3d 296, 327-34 (2d Cir. 2006); United States v. Edwards,
303 F.3d 606 (5th Cir. 2002); United States v. Antico, 275 F.3d 245 (3d Cir. 2001),
abrogated on other grounds by Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358 (2010), as
recognized by United States ¥. Hasan, 541 Fed. Appx. 223, 225 (3d Cir. 2013); United
States v. Blinder, 10 F.3d 2468 (9th Cir. 1993); United States v. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214
(3d Cir. 1983), overruledun part by Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, as recognized
by United States v. Bergrin, 650 F.3d 257, n.5 (also noting that “[t]o the extent that
[Riccobene’s holding on requisite proof of an ongoing organization] is inconsistent with
Boyle v. United‘States, 556 U.S. 938 (2009)], it is no longer good law”); United States v.
Computer Seiences Corp., 689 F.2d 1181 (4th Cir. 1982), overruled on other grounds by
Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 841-42 (4th Cir. 1990) (en banc).

Section 1344 (relating to financial institution fraud)

Sections 1425-1427 (relating to the unlawful procurement of citizenship or nationalization)

Sections 1461-1465 (relating to obscene matter)

United States v. Pryba, 674 F. Supp. 1504 (E.D. Va. 1987).
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Section 1503 (relating to obstruction of justice)

United States v. Abbell, 271 F.3d 1286, 1300-01 (11th Cir. 2001); United States v.
Russotti, 717 F.2d 27 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Romano, 684 F.2d 1057 (2d Cir.
1982); United States v. Triumph Capital Group, 260 F. Supp. 2d 470 (D. Conn. 2003);
United States v. Vitale, 635 F. Supp. 194 (S.D.N.Y. 1986), dismissed on other grounds,
795 F.2d 1006 (2d Cir. 1986).

Section 1510 (relating to the obstruction of a federal criminal investigation)

United States v. Peacock, 654 F.2d 339 (5th Cir. Aug. 1981), vacated in.part on rehearing
by United States v. Peacock, 686 F.2d 356 (5th Cir. Unit B 1982); United States v. Smith,
574 F.2d 308 (5th Cir. 1978).

Section 1511 (relating to the obstruction of state or local law enforcement)

United States v. Welch, 656 F.2d 1039 (5th Cir. Unit/A Sept. 1981); United States v.
Feliziani, 472 F. Supp. 1037 (E.D. Pa. 1979), aff'd, 633.F.2d 580 (3d Cir. 1980).

Sections 1512-1513 (relating to witness/victim/informant tampering or retaliating against a
witness, victim or informant)

United States v. Gotti, 459 F.3d,2963342-43 (2d Cir. 2006); Mruz v. Caring, Inc., 991 F.
Supp. 701 (D.N.J. 1998).

Sections 1542-1544 (relating_ to«false and forged statements in application and use of passport,
misuse of passport)

Section 1546 (relating to.fraud, misuse of visas and related documents)

Sections 1581-1588/(relating to peonage and slavery)

Section1951.(Hobbs Act extortion or robbery)

United States v. Gotti, 459 F.3d 296, 319-28 (2d Cir. 2006); United States v. Merlino,
349 F.3d 144 (3d Cir. 2003); United States v. Edwards, 303 F.3d 606 (5th Cir. 2002);
United States v. McLeczynsky, 296 F.3d 634 (7th Cir. 2002); United States v. To, 144
F.3d 737 (11th Cir. 1998); United States v. Blandford, 33 F.3d 685 (6th Cir. 1994);
United States v. Carpenter, 961 F.2d 824 (9th Cir. 1992); United States v. O'Malley, 796
F.2d 891 (7th Cir. 1986); United States v. Hampton, 786 F.2d 977 (10th Cir. 1986);
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United States v. Walsh, 700 F.2d 846 (2d Cir. 1983), United States v. Brooklier, 685 F.2d
1208 (9th Cir. 1982); United States v. Dozier, 672 F.2d 531 (5th Cir. 1982).

Section 1952 (relating to interstate or foreign travel or use of such facilities or the mail in aid of
unlawful activity)

United States v. Edwards, 303 F.3d 606 (5th Cir. 2002); United States v. Griffith} 85 F.3d
284 (7th Cir. 1996); United States v. Stern, 858 F.2d 1241 (7th Cir. 1988); United States
V. Muskovsky, 863 F.2d 1319 (7th Cir. 1988); United States v. Hunt, 749,F.2d 1078 (4th
Cir. 1984); United States v. Mazzei, 700 F.2d 85 (2d Cir. 1983).

Section 1953 (relating to interstate transportation of wagering paraphernalia)

Section 1954 (relating to kickbacks to influence employee benefit plan)

United States v. Norton, 867 F.2d 1354 (11th Cir. 1989); United States v. Kopituk, 690
F.2d 1289 (11th Cir. 1982); United States v. Palmeri, 630 F.2d 192 (3d Cir. 1980).

Section 1955 (prohibiting illegal gambling businesses)

United States v. Zemek, 634 F.2d 1159(2d Cir. 1980), United States v. Riccobene, 709
F.2d 214 (3d Cir. 1983).

Sections 1956-1957 (relating to money lauhdering)

United States v. Gottiy459F.3d 296, 335-38 (2d Cir. 2006); United States v. Abbell, 271
F.3d 1286 (11th Cir. 2Q01), declined to follow by Regaldo Cuellar v. United States, 553
U.S. 550 (2008); WUnited States v. Jackson, 72 F.3d 1370 (9th Cir. 1995); United States v.
London, 66 F.3d 1227 (1st Cir. 1995).

Section 1958 (relatihg to murder for hire)

Sections 2251-2252 (relating to sexual exploitation, abuse and buying and selling children)

Sections 2312-2313 (relating to the transportation, sale or receipt of stolen vehicles)
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Section 2314 (relating to transportation of stolen goods and other property)

United States v. Neapolitan, 791 F.2d 489 (7th Cir. 1986), abrogation on other grounds
recognized by United States v. Tello, 687 F.3d 785, 793 (7th Cir. 2012); United States v.
Conner, 752 F.2d 566 (11th Cir. 1985); Cooper v. United States, 639 F. Supp. 176 (MD:
Fla. 1986); United States v. Haley, 504 F. Supp. 1124 (E.D. Pa. 1981).

Section 2315 (relating to sale or receipt of stolen goods and other property)

United States v. DeVincent, 632 F.2d 155 (1st Cir. 1980); United States w._Martin, 611
F.2d 801 (10th Cir. 1979).

Sections 2318-2320 (relating to copyright infringement and counterfeiting in the performance
and entertainment and audiovisual and computer industries)

Section 2321 (trafficking in motor vehicles and motor vehicle*parts with obliterated or altered
vehicle identification numbers)

Sections 2341-2346 (trafficking in contraband cigarettes)

United States v. Baker, 63 F.3d 1478 (9th Cir. 1995); United States v. Legrano, 659 F.2d
17 (4th Cir. 1981).

Sections 2421-2424 (relating tortransportation for illegal sexual activity)

United States v. Clemones, 577 F.2d 1247 (5th Cir. 1978), opinion modified by 582 F.2d
1373 (5th Cir. 1978).

3. Federal Title 29 Offenses

Section 1961(1)(C) defines racketeering activity as “any act which is indictable under” 29
U:S.C. 8 186 or 29 U.S.C. § 501(c). Because of the “indictable under” language, the same
considerations apply here as to the Section 1961(1)(B) offenses, with respect to charging

attempts and conspiracies, i.e., because attempts and conspiracies are not expressly included
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within these statutes, they are not chargeable as RICO predicates.

Representative cases charging Title 29 predicate offenses:

Section 186 (dealing with restrictions on payments and loans to labor organizations)

United States v. Novak, 443 F.3d 150, 160-62 (2d Cir. 2006); United States v.‘Carlock,
806 F.2d 535 (5th Cir. 1986); United States v. Pecora, 798 F.2d 614 (3d(Cir.\1986);
United States v. Cody, 722 F.2d 1052 (2d Cir. 1983); United States v. Kaye, 5656 F.2d
855 (7th Cir. 1977); United States v. Local 1804-1, International Longshoreman’s Ass’n,
812 F. Supp. 1303 (S.D.N.Y. 1993); United States v. DiGilio, 667 F.-*Supp. 191 (D.N.J.
1987).

Section 501(c) (relating to embezzlement from union funds)

United States v. Gotti, 459 F.3d 296, 302-08 (2d €ir:2006); United States v. Butler, 954
F.2d 114 (2d Cir. 1992); United States v. Boffa,\688 F.2d 919 (3d Cir. 1982); United
States v. Thordarson, 646 F.2d 1323 (9th Cir. 1981); United States v. Rubin, 591 F.2d
278 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Local*'1804-1, International Longshoreman’s Ass’n,
812 F. Supp. 1303 (S.D.N.Y. 1993), opinion modified by 831 F. Supp. 167 (S.D.N.Y.
1993).

4. Generic Federal Offenses

Section 1961(1)(D) defines racketeering activity as follows:

any offense ‘involving fraud connected with a case under title 11 (except a case under
section 157 of this title), fraud in the sale of securities, or the felonious manufacture,
importation, receiving, concealment, buying, selling, or otherwise dealing in a controlled
substance or listed chemical (as defined in section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act),
punishable under any law of the United States.

Because this subdivision uses the language “any offense involving,” it includes attempts and
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conspiracies.”

One issue that occasionally arises in RICO cases involving federal narcotics violations is
whether marijuana offenses are proper RICO predicates. Under the federal drug statutes,
marijuana is considered a controlled substance but not a narcotic drug. This problem “was
resolved in 1994, however, by an amendment to Section 1961(1)(D) substituting ““‘controlled
substance or listed chemical” for “narcotics or other dangerous drug.” Thus, a‘marijuana offense
occurring after the 1994 amendment may be a proper RICO predicate. Offenses occurring prior
to the 1994 amendment may be proper RICO predicates as well: court-decisions addressing the
propriety of a pre-1994 marijuana offense as a RICO predicaterhave held in the Government’s

favor.”? Accordingly, it is the position of the Criminal Division that marijuana offenses may be

L See, e.g., United States v. Darden, 70 F.3d 1507, 1524-25 (8th Cir. 1995) (conspiracy
to distribute, and possess with intent.to distribute controlled substances constitutes a RICO
predicate, but simple possession _of cecaine is not a RICO predicate); United States v. Echeverri,
854 F.2d 638 (3d Cir. 1988) (conspiracy to possess and distribute a controlled substance is a
RICO predicate act); United States v. Phillips, 664 F.2d 971, 1015 (5th Cir. Unit B Dec. 1981)
(conspiracy to commit offense involving narcotics and dangerous drugs is a RICO predicate act),
superseded by rule an other grounds as stated by United States v. Huntress, 956 F. 2d 1309, 1317
(5th Cir. 1992); United States v. Weisman, 624 F.2d 1118, 1123-24 (2d Cir. 1980) (conspiracy to
commit offenseinvolving bankruptcy fraud or securities fraud is a RICO predicate act).

%18e€, e.q., United States v. Williams, 809 F.2d 1072 (5th Cir. 1987); United States v.
Ryland~806 F.2d 941 (9th Cir. 1986); United States v. Tillett, 763 F.2d 628 (4th Cir. 1985);
United States v. Zielie, 734 F.2d 1447, 1462 n.11 (11th Cir. 1984), abrogated on another ground
by Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171, 177-79 (1987), as recognized by United States v.
Prater, 462 Fed. Appx. 859, 863-64 (11th Cir. 2011); United States v. Castellano, 610 F. Supp.
1359, 1424-25 (S.D.N.Y. 1985); United States v. Harvey, 560 F. Supp. 1040, 1050 (S.D. Fla.
1982), aff’d, 789 F.2d 1492 (11th Cir. 1986).
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proper RICO predicates.>®

Another issue that has arisen in RICO cases involving federal narcotics offenses is
whether mere possession of illegal narcotics for personal consumption is a RICO predicate. At
least one court has held that such mere possession is not a proper RICO predicate, but“that

possession with intent to distribute is a proper RICO predicate. United States v. Darden, .70 F.3d

1507, 1524 (8th Cir. 1995). The Organized Crime and Gang Section will not approve possession
of a de minimis amount of drugs as a RICO predicate. Possession of a-largér amount may be
approved if it could be inferred from the quantity and other relevant, facts that the drugs were for

distribution and not merely for personal consumption.

Representative cases charging federal géneric predicate offenses:

Title 11 (relating to bankruptcy fraud)

United States v. Weisman, 624 E.2d, 1118 (2d Cir. 1980); United States v. Tashjian, 660
F.2d 829 (1st Cir. 1981).

Securities Fraud

United States v. Blinder, 10 F.3d 1468 (9th Cir. 1993); United States v. Bledsoe, 674
F.2d 647 (8th 1982); United States v. Pray, 452 F. Supp. 788 (M.D. Pa. 1978).

Narcotics

United States v. Crosby, 789 F. Supp. 440 (D.D.C. 1992), aff’d, 20 F.3d 480 (D.C. Cir.
1994); United States v. Kragness, 830 F.2d 842 (8th Cir. 1987); United States v.
Firestone, 816 F.2d 583 (11th Cir. 1987); United States v. Zielie, 734 F.2d 1447 (11th
Cir. 1984), abrogated on another ground by Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171,

%% Marijuana offenses under state law also may be RICO predicates provided that the
charged state marijuana offenses carry a penalty of imprisonment in excess of one year. Section
1961(1)(A) requires that state offenses be punishable by more than one year imprisonment.
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177-79 (1987), as recognized by United States v. Prater, 462 Fed. Appx. 859, 863-64
(11th Cir. 2011); United States v. Fernandez, 576 F. Supp. 397 (E.D. Tex. 1983), aff’d,
777 F.2d 248 (5th Cir. 1985).

5. Title 31 Offenses (currency reporting violations)

Section 1961(1)(E), added by amendment October 12, 1984, includes as racketeering
activity “any act which is indictable under the Currency and Foreign Transdctions Reporting
Act.” Those violations, codified at 31 U.S.C. §§ 5311-5324, are of considerableé use as predicate
offenses involving money laundering in narcotics and other prosecutions. In drafting a RICO
indictment that includes Title 31 predicate acts, it is important.to\be aware of the policy against
charging several predicate acts from a single, short-lived ‘efiminal transaction. In addition, it is
important to be aware of the ex post facto issue that may arise if an indictment alleges Title 31
predicate acts that occurred on or before the dates-those offenses were added to the list of RICO

predicates.>

Representative cases chargingiTitle 31 offenses:

United States v. London, 66 F.3d 1227 (1st Cir. 1995); United States v. Hurley, 63 F.3d 1
(1st Cir. 1995).

> See Section 11(E)(4) and (6) below.
% See Section VI(F)(4) below.
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6. Immigration and Nationality Act Offenses

Section 1961(1)(F), added by several amendments in 1996, includes as racketeering
activity:

any act which is indictable under the Immigration and Nationality Act, i.e., section 274
(relating to bringing in and harboring certain aliens), section 277 (relating.to aiding or
assisting certain aliens to enter the United States), or section 278 (relating\to importation
of aliens for immoral purposes) if the act indictable under such sectien of such Act was
committed for the purpose of financial gain.

These violations are codified, respectively, at 8 U.S.C. 8§88 1324, 1327 and 1328. See also

discussion of ex post facto issues arising from such amendments in.Section VI(F)(4) below.

Representative cases charging Immigration and Nationality Act offenses:

Williams v. Mohawk Indus., Inc., 411 F.3d 1252 (11th Cir. 2005), vacated on other
grounds, 547 U.S. 516 (2006).

7. Terrorism Related Offenses

Section 1961(1)(G), added-ity 2001, includes as racketeering activity “any act that is
indictable under any provision listed in section 2332b(g)(5)(B)” of Title 18, which added
approximately 50 offenses ta the list of RICO predicate offenses. See Section I(B)(3)(a) above.
See also discussion,of ex post facto issues arising from such amendments in Section VI(F)(4)

below.

Representative cases charging terrorism related offenses:

United States v. Marzook, 426 F. Supp. 2d 820 (N.D. Ill. 2006); United States v. Al-
Arian, 308 F. Supp. 2d 1322 (M.D. Fla. 2004), mot. to modify denied, 329 F. Supp. 2d
1294 (M.D. Fla. 2004); United States v. Arnaout, 236 F. Supp. 2d 916 (N.D. Ill. 2003).
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B. State

The statutory definition of “state” “means any State of the United States, the District of
Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and any territory or possession of the United
States, any political subdivision, or any department, agency, or instrumentality thereofy’\Sée 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1961(2). The primary importance of this definition is its connection with the state law
predicate crimes listed in Section 1961(1)(A) and the definition of “unlawful’debt” in Section

1961(6). See, e.g., Doe v. The GAP, Inc., 2001 WL 1842389 at * 6 (D.Cy CNMI, Nov. 26, 2001)

(holding that offenses under the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands constitute
offenses “chargeable under state law” within the ambit of J8U.S.C. § 1961(1)(A)). Thus far, the

definition of “state” has not been a significant issue,in RICO litigation.

C. Person

99 ¢6

Section 1961(3) provides that'the definition of “person” “includes any individual or entity
capable of holding a legal orbeneficial interest in property.” This definition is highly significant
because it determines whe.may be a defendant subject to criminal charges or a civil suit under
RICO,® as well aspwho may bring a civil RICO suit for treble damages.>’ Clearly, a natural

person falls within the definition of “person” under section 1961(3). See Cedric Kushner

8 NIn that regard, 18 U.S.C. § 1962 makes it unlawful, for both criminal and civil
purposes, for “any person” to violate Section 1962.

> In that regard, 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) provides that “[a]ny person injured in his business

or property by reason of a violation of section 1962” may sue for treble damages (emphasis
added).
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Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 161-63 (2001).® Likewise, RICO’s definition of

. . . . . . 59
“person” includes a corporation, union, partnership and a sole proprietorship.

It is not settled whether, and under what circumstances, a governmental entity constitutes
a “person” within the meaning of Section 1961(3). For example, in Bonanno, 879 F.2d at21-27,
the Second Circuit held that the United States was not a “person” under Section 1961(3), and,
therefore, was neither entitled to sue for treble damages under section 1964(c), nor subject to

criminal or civil liability under RICO. Accord United States v. Private Sanitation Indus. Ass’n,

793 F. Supp. 1114, 1149 (E.D.N.Y. 1992). However, some caourtshave held that foreign
governmental entities constitute “persons” under Section 1961(3) and may sue for treble

damages under civil RICO.%°

*% But see United States v. Bonanno Org. Crime Fam. of La Cosa Nostra, 879 F.2d 20,
27-30 (2d Cir. 1989) (“Bonanno”) (holding.that'the Bonanno organized crime family was not a
“person” subject to civil suit under RICO).

> See, e.g., Living Designé-n¢. v. E.l. DuPont De Nemours & Co., 431 F.3d 353, 361-
62 (9th Cir. 2005); United Statesws Goldin Indus., Inc., 219 F.3d 1268, 1270-71 (11th Cir. 2000)
(en banc); 219 F.3d 1271, 1275-77 (11th Cir. 2000); Nat’l Elec. Benefit Fund v. Heary Bros.
Lighting Prot. Co. Inc., 931 F. Supp. 169, 186-87 (W.D.N.Y. 1995); C&W Constr. Co. v. Bhd.
of Carpenters and Joiners of America, Local 745, 687 F. Supp. 1453, 1466 (D. Hawaii 1988).

But'see United States v. Computer Sciences Corp., 689 F.2d 1181, 1190 (4th Cir.
1982) (in dictum; concluding that a corporate division could not be a RICO “person” chargeable
as a RICOldefendant, but noting that the division could be a RICO “enterprise”), overruled on
other-grounds by Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 841-42 (4th Cir. 1990) (en banc).

% See, e.g., Republic of the Philippines v. Marcos, 862 F.2d 1355, 1358-59 (9th Cir.
1988); The European Community v. RJR Nabisco, Inc., 150 F. Supp. 2d 456, 486-92 (E.D.N.Y.
2001); The Attorney General of Canada v. RJ Reynolds Tobacco Holdings, Inc., 103 F. Supp. 2d
134, 146-50 (N.D.N.Y. 2000).
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Moreover, some courts have held that a state or municipal government may not be a
RICO defendant because a governmental entity is incapable of forming the criminal intent
necessary to be liable for the commission of a RICO predicate offense,®* whereas some courts
have held that a governmental entity is a “person” subject to civil suit under RICO
Furthermore, some courts have held that state and other local government entities constitute
“persons” under Section 1961(3) and are entitled to sue for treble damages uder\civil RICO,*

while other courts have permitted a state to sue for treble damages, but did not’address the issue

®! See, e.q., Pedrina v. Chun, 97 F.3d 1296, 1300 (9th Cir. 1996) (affirming dismissal of
civil RICO claim against City and County of Honolulu because governmental entities are
incapable of forming necessary malicious intent);*Erooks v. Town of Cortlandt, 997 F. Supp.
438, 456-57 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (dismissing civil RICO suit against a town and its employees
acting in their official capacities because a municipality cannot form the requisite criminal intent
to establish a predicate offense) (collecting.Cases); Dammon v. Folse, 846 F. Supp. 36, 39 (E.D.
La. 1994) (school board is a municipal, entity incapable of forming necessary criminal intent);
County of Oakland v. City of Detroit, 784 F. Supp. 1275, 1283 (E.D. Mich. 1992) (civil RICO
suit dismissed because a municipalycorporation is incapable of forming necessary criminal
intent). Cf. Binder v. District of €olumbia, 1991 WL 11255755 at *7 (D.D.C. May 22, 1991)
(holding that the District of ‘Columbia cannot be vicariously liable under civil RICO for the
criminal acts of its employee).

%2 See, e.qg.(County of Suffolk v. Long Island Lighting Co., 907 F.2d 1295, 1305-08 (2d
Cir. 1990) (a publi¢ utility may constitute a “person” subject to civil suit under RICO); Nu-Life
Constr. Corp. Ve Bd. of Educ. of New York, 779 F. Supp. 248, 251-52 (E.D.N.Y. 1991)
(municipal‘corporation is a "person” since it can hold interest in property, but plaintiff must still
show-that defendant had the requisite mens rea to commit predicate acts).

% See County of Oakland v. City of Detroit, 866 F.2d 839, 851 (6th Cir. 1989); Illinois
Dept. of Rev. v. Phillips, 771 F.2d 312, 316 (7th Cir. 1985); City of Chicago Heights v. LoBue,
841 F. Supp. 819, 822, 823 (N.D. Ill. 1994); City of New York v. Joseph L. Balkan, Inc., 656 F.
Supp. 536, 541 (E.D.N.Y. 1987).
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whether the state was a “person” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).** Finally, some
courts have held that governmental entities are not “persons” under Section 1961(3) entitled to

sue for treble damages under civil RICO.%

D. Enterprise

The term “enterprise” includes “any individual, partnership, corporation, ‘association, or
other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal
entity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). The Supreme Court has squarely held(that the term “enterprise”

encompasses both legitimate and illegitimate enterprises.

See United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576 (1981)\Prosecution under RICO, however,

® See, e.g., Commonwealth of Pennsylvaniav. Cianfrani, 600 F. Supp. 1364, 1369 (E.D.
Pa. 1985).

% See, e.q., State of Mich. Dept-of Treasury v. Fawaz, 653 F. Supp. 141, 142-43 (E.D.
Mich. 1986) (holding that the Revenue.Division of the State of Michigan’s Treasury Department
is not a “person” entitled to sue*for treble damages under civil RICO).

% See also Odom'v. Microsoft Corp., 486 F.3d 541, 548 (9th Cir. 2007) (en banc);
United States v. Doherty, 867 F.2d 47, 68 (1st Cir. 1989); United States v. Blackwood, 768 F.2d
131 (7th Cir. 1985);-United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1330 (5th Cir. 1983); United States
v. Lemm, 680 F.2d 1493, 1198 (8th Cir. 1982); United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 647, 662 (8th
Cir. 1982);; United-States v. Griffin, 660 F.2d 996, 999 (4th Cir. 1981); United States v. Martino,
648 F.2d 36%,°380-81 (5th Cir. 1981), rev'd in part on other grounds, 681 F.2d 952 (5th Cir.) (en
banc 1982);-United States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1267 n.7 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v.
Sutton;-642 F.2d 1001, 1006-09 (6th Cir. 1980) (en banc); United States v. Errico, 635 F.2d 152,
1557(2d Cir. 1980); United States v. Provenzano, 620 F.2d 985, 992-93 (3d Cir. 1980); United
States v. Rone, 598 F.2d 564, 568-69 (9th Cir. 1979; United States v. Swiderski, 593 F.2d 1246,
1248-49 (D.C. Cir. 1978).

An enterprise, however, cannot be an inanimate object such as a bank account,
Guidry v. Bank of LaPlace, 954 F.2d 278, 283 (5th Cir. 1992), or an apartment building, Elliott
v. Foufas, 867 F.2d 877, 881 (5th Cir. 1989).
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does not require proof that either the defendant or the enterprise was connected to organized

crime. See Section VI(D) below.

1. RICO’s Definition of Enterprise Broadly Encompasses Many Types ‘of
Enterprises

Courts have given a broad reading to the term “enterprise.” Noting that (Congress
mandated a liberal construction of the RICO statute in order to effectuate its-temedial purposes,
and pointing to the expansive use of the word “includes” in the statutory definition of the term,
courts have held that the list of enumerated entities in Section 1961(4) is not exhaustive but
merely illustrative.’”  Thus, the term enterprise includés Jcommercial entities such as

corporations®® (both foreign and domestic),®® partnerships;’®

%7 See, e.g., United States v. Phillip Mortis USA, Inc., 566 F.3d 1095, 1115 (D.C. Cir.
2009) (the list of entities in § 1961 (4) is not.interpreted as an exhaustive list because of the sole
introductory word “includes”); United States v. Cianci, 378 F.3d 71, 88 (1st Cir. 2004); United
States v. London, 66 F.3d 1227, 1243-44(1st Cir. 1995) (association-in-fact enterprise consisting
of bar and check cashing business);United States v. Aimone, 715 F.2d 822, 828 (3d Cir. 1983);
United States v. Angelilli, 660 F.2d 23, 31 (2d Cir. 1981). See also United States v. Huber, 603
F.2d 387, 394 (2d Cir. 1979)7 United States v. Perkins, 596 F. Supp. 528, 530-31 (E.D. Pa.),
aff’d, 749 F.2d 28 (3d Cir, 1984). Cf. United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580 (1981)
(“[t]here is no restrictionupon the associations embraced by the definition [of enterprise]”). See
also cases cited in notes 68-83 below.

%  Seeye.q., Phillip Morris USA, Inc., 566 F.3d at 1111-12 (groups of individuals,
cigarette, manufacturers, and trade organizations associated in fact could qualify as “enterprise”
under RICO; even though defendants were a mixed groups of corporations and individuals,
rather than just individuals); Odom, 486 F.3d at 548; United States v. Goldin Indus., Inc., 219
F.3d'1268, 1270 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc); United States v. Kravitz, 738 F.2d 102, 113 (3d Cir.
1984) (health care delivery corporation); United States v. Hartley, 678 F.2d 961, 988 n.43 (11th
Cir. 1982) (corporation producing seafood products); United States v. Webster, 639 F.2d 174,
184 n.4 (4th Cir. 1981) (tavern and liquor store); United States v. Zemek, 634 F.2d 1159, 1167
(9th Cir. 1980) (taverns); United States v. Weisman, 624 F.2d 1118, 1120 (2d Cir. 1980)
(theater); (continued...)
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sole proprietorships,” and cooperatives;” benevolent and non-profit organizations such as

unions and union benefit funds,” schools,” and political associations.” The term enterprise also

% (continued...)
United States v. Swiderski, 593 F.2d 1246, 1248 (D.C. Cir. 1978) (restaurant serving as\front for
narcotics trafficking); United States v. Brown, 583 F.2d 659, 661 (3d Cir. 1978) (auto
dealership); United States v. Forsythe, 560 F.2d 1127, 1135-36 (3d Cir. 1977) (bail bond

agency).

% See, e.q., United States v. Parness, 503 F.2d 430, 439 (2d Cir. 1974) (foreign
corporation can constitute a RICO enterprise).

" See, e.g., United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322,¢1381 (5th Cir. 1983) (limited
partnership); United States v. Zang, 703 F.2d 1186, 1194 (10th/Cir. 1982) (partnership); United
States v. Griffin, 660 F.2d 996, 999 (4th Cir. 1981) (partnership may be enterprise); Eisenberg v.
Gagnon, 564 F. Supp. 1347, 1353 (E.D. Pa. 1983) (limited partnership); United States v.
Jannotti, 501 F. Supp. 1182, 1185-86 (E.D. Pa. 1980), (law firm operated through payment of
bribes), rev'd on other grounds, 673 F.2d 578 (3d Cir.1982) (en banc).

" See, e.g., United States v..Bénny, 786 F.2d 1410, 1414-15 (9th Cir. 1986);
McCullough v. Suter, 757 F.2d 142 (7th Cir." 1985); United States v. Tille, 729 F.2d 615, 618
(9th Cir. 1984); United States v. Melton,689 F.2d 679, 685 (7th Cir. 1982).

"2 See, e.g., United States v, Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 647, 660 (8th Cir. 1982) (dicta).

® See, e.q., United.States v. Norton, 867 F.2d 1354, 1359 (11th Cir. 1989) (the Laborers
International Union_of ‘North America, its subordinate local unions, and its affiliated employee
benefit funds); United, States v. Robilotto, 828 F.2d 940, 947 (2d Cir. 1987) (Local 294 of the
International Brotherhood of Teamsters); United States v. LeRoy, 687 F.2d 610, 616-17 (2d Cir.
1982) (Local 214 of Laborers International Union of North America); United States v. Scotto,
641 F.2d 47,751, 54 (2d Cir. 1980) (Local 1814 of the International Longshoremen's
Association); United States v. Rubin, 559 F.2d 975, 989 (5th Cir. 1977) (unions and employees
welfare benefit plans), vacated and remanded, 439 U.S. 810 (1978), aff'd in part and rev'd in part
on~other grounds, 591 F.2d 278 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Kaye, 556 F.2d 855, 861-62
(7t Cir. 1977) (Local 714 of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters); United States v.
Campanale, 518 F.2d 352, 355 (9th Cir. 1975) (applying RICO without discussion to Local 626
of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters); United States v. Local 560, International
Brotherhood of Teamsters, 581 F. Supp. 279, 335 (D.N.J. 1984), aff'd, 780 F.2d 267 (3d Cir.
(continued...)
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includes governmental units such as the offices of governors, mayors, state and congressional

legislators,”® courts and judicial offices,”” police departments and sheriffs’ offices,”® county

® (continued...)

1985) (Local 560 and its benefit fund); United States v. Field, 432 F. Supp. 55, 57-58 (SID.N:Y.
1977) (International Longshoremen's Association), aff'd, 578 F.2d 1371 (2d Cir. 1978); United
States v. Ladmer, 429 F. Supp. 1231 (E.D.N.Y. 1977) (applying RICO without disgussien to the
International Production Service & Sales Employees Union, but dismissing action for failure to
establish a pattern of racketeering activity); United States v. Stofsky, 409 F. Supp. 609 (S.D.N.Y.
1973) (applying RICO to a union representing workers in New Yaork's fur garment
manufacturing industry), aff'd, 527 F.2d 237 (2d Cir. 1975).

™ See, e.q., United States v. Weatherspoon, 581 F.2d+~595, 597-98 (7th Cir. 1978)
(beauty college approved for veterans' vocational training by they\eterans Administration).

" See, e.q., Jund v. Town of Hempstead, 941 F.2d 1271, 1282 (2d Cir. 1991)
(unincorporated political associations fell within,then\définition of “person” for purposes of
RICO, since they were capable of holding property-under New York law); United States v.
Marzook, 426 F. Supp. 2d 820, 824-27 (N.D.NII» 2006) (Hamas, an alleged foreign terrorist
organization); Hudson v. LaRouche, 579, F¢ Supp. 623, 628 (S.D.N.Y. 1983) (unincorporated
national political association affiliated with a.political candidate).

’® See, e.q., United States. ¢Cianci, 378 F.3d 71, 79-88 (1st Cir. 2004) (an association-
in-fact of the office of Mayer ‘@f\Providence, Rhode Island and other city agencies); United
States v. Blandford, 33 F.3d"685, 703 (6th Cir. 1994) (Office of the Representative for House
District 14 together with individuals employed therein); United States v. McDade, 28 F.3d 283,
295-96 (3d Cir. 1994){(Congressman McDade and his Congressional offices in Washington,
D.C. and in the 10th~Congressional District of Pennsylvania); United States v. Freeman, 6 F.3d
586, 596-97 (9th Cir=1993) (Offices of the 49th Assembly District); United States v. Thompson,
685 F.2d 993 (6th-Cir. 1982) (en banc) (applying RICO to the Tennessee Governor's Office, but
questioning~the wisdom of not defining the enterprise in the indictment as a “group of
individuals associated in fact that made use of the office of Governor of the State of Tennessee”);
United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241 (4th Cir. 1981) (office of Senator in the South Carolina
legislature); United States v. Sisk, 476 F. Supp. 1061, 1062-63 (M.D. Tenn. 1979), aff’d, 629
F.20'1174 (6th Cir. 1980) (Tennessee Governor’s Office); see also United States v. Ganim, 225
E/ Supp. 2d 145, 160-61 (D. Conn. 2002) (an association-in-fact of the office of Mayor of
Bridgeport, Connecticut and other individuals); United States v. Gillock, 445 U.S. 360, 373 n.11
(continued...)
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e (continued...)

(1979) (“[o]f course, even a member of Congress would not be immune under the federal
Speech or Debate Clause from prosecution for the acts which form the basis of the . . . [RICQ]
charges here”). But see United States v. Mandel, 415 F. Supp. 997, 1020-22 (D. Md. 1976),
rev’d on other grounds, 591 F.2d 1347 (4th Cir.), aff’d on reh’g, 602 F.2d 653 (4th Cir~1979)
(en banc) (State of Maryland not an “enterprise” for RICO purposes). Mandel, howeverhas
been discredited by all courts that have considered the issue, including the Fourth Circuit. See,
e.g., United States v. Warner, 498 F.3d 666, 694-95 (7th Cir. 2007); United Statesw. Angelilli,
660 F.2d 23, 33 n.10 (2d Cir. 1981); United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241/(4th Cir.); United
States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1261-67 (8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Altomare, 625 F.2d 5, 7
n.7 (4th Cir. 1980); United States v. Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 (4th Cir,.1980); see also United
States v. Powell, No. 87 CR 872-3 (N.D. Ill. February 27, 1988) (City of Chicago proper
enterprise for purposes of RICO); State of New York v. O'Hara, 652 ‘£./Supp. 1049 (W.D.N.Y.
1987) (in civil RICO suit, City of Niagara Falls proper enterprise);~Commonwealth v. Cianfrani,
600 F. Supp. 1364 (E.D. Pa. 1985) (Pennsylvania Senate).

" See, e.g., United States v. Grubb, 11 F.3d 426, 438 (4th Cir. 1993) (Office of the 7th

Judicial Circuit); United States v. Conn, 769 F.2d,.420y424-25 (7th Cir. 1985) (Cook County
Circuit Court); United States v. Blackwood, 768 k.2d*131, 137-38 (7th Cir. 1985) (Cook County
Circuit Court); United States v. Angelilli, 660-F.2d 23, 30-34 (2d Cir. 1981) (New York City
Civil Court); United States v. Sutherland, 656 F-2d 1181 (5th Cir. 1981) (applying RICO without
discussion to Municipal Court of El Raso; “Texas); United States v. Stratton, 649 F.2d 1066,
1074-75 (5th Cir. 1981) (judicial circuit);United States v. Bacheler, 611 F.2d 443, 450 (3d Cir.
1979) (Philadelphia Traffic Court);.United States v. Presgraves, 658 Fed. Supp.2d 770, 775
(W.D. Va. August 25, 2009); Uaited States v. Claville, 2008 WL 686977 (W.D. La. March 12,
2008) (the Judicial Branch of\lzouisiana government); United States v. Joseph, 526 F. Supp. 504,
507 (E.D. Pa. 1981) (Offiee of the Clerk of Courts of Lehigh County, Pennsylvania); United
States v. Vignola, 464<-Supp. 1091 (E.D. Pa.), aff'd, 605 F.2d 1199 (3d Cir. 1979) (same).

® See, 6@ United States v. Smith, 547 Fed Appx. 390 (5th Cir. 2013) (City of Port
Allen); UnitediStates v. Presgraves, 658 F.Supp.2d 770 (4th Cir. 2009) (Page County Sheriff’s
Office); United States v. DePeri, 778 F.2d 963 (3d Cir. 1985) (Philadelphia Police Department),
cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1109 (1986); United States v. Alonso, 740 F.2d 862, 870 (11th Cir. 1984)
(Dade County Public Safety Department, Homicide Section); United States v. Ambrose, 740
F.2d"505, 512 (7th Cir. 1984) (Chicago Police Department); United States v. Davis, 707 F.2d
880, 882-83 (6th Cir. 1983) (Sheriff’s Office of Mahoning County, Ohio); United States v. Lee
Stoller Enterprise, Inc., 652 F.2d 1313, 1316-19 (7th Cir. 1981) (Sheriff's Office of Madison
County, Illinois); United States v. Bright, 630 F.2d 804, 829 (5th Cir. 1980) (Sheriff’s Office of
DeSoto County, Mississippi); United States v. Karas, 624 F.2d 500, 504 (4th Cir. 1980) (Office
(continued...)
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prosecutors” offices,”” tax bureaus,* fire departments® and executive departments and

agencies,®” as well as municipalities.®® Indeed, in United States v. Warner, 498 F.3d 666, 694-97

’® (continued...)

of County Law Enforcement Officials); United States v. Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 \(4th_Cir.
1980) (Sheriff’s Department of Wilson County, North Carolina); United States v. Grzywacz, 603
F.2d 682, 685-87 (7th Cir. 1979) (Police Department of Madison, Illinois), cert. denied, 446 U.S.
935 (1980); United States v. Burnsed, 566 F.2d 882 (4th Cir. 1977) (applying RICO without
discussion to the Vice Squad of the Charleston, South Carolina Police Department); United
States v. Brown, 555 F.2d 407, 415-16 (5th Cir. 1977) (Macon, Georgia-Municipal Police
Department); United States v. Cryan, 490 F. Supp. 1234, 1239-44 (D.N.JY) (applying RICO to
Sheriff’s Office of Essex County, New Jersey, but limiting RICO ‘culpability to only those
defendants who actually committed or authorized the acts charged.in the indictment), aff'd, 636
F.2d 1211 (3d Cir. 1980).

® See, e.g., United States v. Goot, 894 F.2d 231,239 (7th Cir. 1990); United States v.
Yonan, 800 F.2d 164, 167-68 (7th Cir. 1986) (Cook, County State's Attorney's Office), cert.
denied, 479 U.S. 1055 (1987); United States v. Altomare, 625 F.2d 5, 7 n.7 (4th Cir. 1980)
(Office of Prosecuting Attorney of Hancock County, West Virginia).

8 See, e.g., United States v. Burn$, 683 F.2d 1056, 1059 n.2 (7th Cir. 1982) (Cook
County, Illinois, Board of Tax Appeals); ‘United States v. Frumento, 563 F.2d 1083, 1089-92 (3d
Cir. 1977) (Pennsylvania Department.of Revenue's Bureau of Cigarette and Beverage Taxes).

81 See, e.q., United States v. Balzano, 916 F.2d 1273, 1290 (7th Cir. 1990) (Chicago Fire
Department).

82 See, £.0.)'United States v. Urban, 404 F.3d 754, 770-71 (3d Cir. 2005) (the
Construction Services Department of Philadelphia Department of Licences and Inspections);
United States.\v. Hocking, 860 F.2d 769, 778 (8th Cir. 1988) (lllinois Department of
Transportation); United States v. Dozier, 672 F.2d 531, 543 & n.8 (5th Cir. 1982) (Louisiana
Department of Agriculture); United States v. Angelilli, 660 F.2d 23, 33 n.10 (2d Cir. 1981);
United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241 (4th Cir.); United States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1261-
67-(8th Cir. 1981); United States v. Altomare, 625 F.2d 5, 7 n.7 (4th Cir. 1980); United States v.
Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 (4th Cir. 1980); United States v. Davis, 576 F.2d 1065 (3d Cir.)
(continued...)
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(7th Cir. 2007), the Seventh Circuit held that the State of Illinois was properly charged as the

RICO enterprise that was the victim of corrupt office holders’ pattern of racketeering activity.

2. A RICO Enterprise May Consist of an Association-in-Fact of Legal Entities
as Well as an Association of Legal Entities and Individuals

Although RICO’s definition of “enterprise,” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4), does not specCifically
list an association of legal entities, it does not preclude such as association., Section 1961(4)
states that the term “enterprise” “includes” the various entities enumeratédiin that provision. 18
U.S.C. § 1961(4). “In [definitional] provisions of statutes and‘other writings, ‘include’ is

frequently, if not generally, used as a word of extension orcenlargement rather than as one of

limitation or enumeration.” American Surety Co. v. .Maretta, 287 U.S. 513, 517 (1933); accord

United States v. New York Tel. Co., 434 U.S\159, 169 & n.15 (1977) (holding that the

definition of “property” contained in formerFederal Rule of Criminal Procedure 41(h) “does not
restrict or purport to exhaustively enumerate all the items which may be seized pursuant to Rule
41,” and explaining that, “[w]here the definition of a term in Rule 41(h) was intended to be all
inclusive, it is introduced by the phrase ‘to mean’ rather than ‘to include’”); cf. Phelps Dodge

Corp. v. NLRB, 313 U:S. 177, 189 (1941) (“To attribute . . . a [limiting] function to the

82 (Continued...)

(warden_of ‘county prison); State of Maryland v. Buzz Berg Wrecking Co., 496 F. Supp. 245,
24748 (D. Md. 1980) (Construction and Building Inspection Division of the Department of
Housing and Community Development for the City of Baltimore); United States v. Barber, 476
F.'Supp. 182, 191 (S.D. W. Va. 1979) (West Virginia Alcohol Beverage Control Commission).

8 See, e.q., DeFalco v. Bernas, 244 F.3d 286, 306-09 (2d Cir. 2001) (The Town of
Delaware).
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participial phrase introduced by ‘including’ is to shrivel a versatile principle to an illustrative
application.”); see also Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 1142 (1993) (defining
“include” to mean, inter alia, “to place, list, or rate as a part or component of a whole or of a
larger group, class, or aggregate”). When 18 U.S.C. § 1961 is read as a whole, it is clear that the
verb “includes” in Section 1961(4) should be interpreted in that manner, and that the list that

follows should be treated as illustrative rather than exclusive.

In accordance with the above-referenced principles, every court of-appeals to address the
question has agreed that a RICO enterprise may consist of an association-in-fact of legal entities,

as well as an alliance of legal entities and individuals.®* As ongjedurt has noted, the definition of

8 See, e.q., Ouwinga v. Benistar 419 Plan.Services, Inc., 694 F.3d 783, 793-94 (6th Cir.
2012) (insurance companies, attorneys, and insurance agents created an association-in-fact
enterprise); United States v. Begrin, 650 F.3d257 (3d Cir. 2011) (indictment adequately alleged
that enterprise was association-in-fact offive individuals and four corporations); Odom, 486 F.3d
at 547-553 (two corporations); Living Designs, Inc. v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours, 431 F.3d 353,
361 (9th Cir. 2005) (a corporation,“law firms retained by the corporation, and individuals);
Cianci, 378 F.3d at 79-85 (the,city-of Providence, its office of Mayor and other agencies, and
individuals); Najjar, 300 F.3d_at,484-85 (a sole proprietorship, corporation and individuals);
Goldin Indus., Inc., 219 F.3d 1271, 1275-77 (11th Cir. 2000) (several corporations and
individuals); United States.v. Parise, 159 F.3d 790, 794-95 (3d Cir. 1998) (enterprise consisted
of four organizations); ‘United States v. London, 66 F.3d 1227, 1243-44 (1st Cir. 1995) (two or
more legal entities); Wnited States v. Console, 13 F.3d 641, 652 (3d Cir. 1993) (law firm and
medical practice);,United States v. Blinder, 10 F.3d 1468, 1473 (9th Cir. 1993) (six
corporations); ‘United States v. Butler, 954 F.2d 114, 120 (2d Cir. 1992) (broad enterprise
consisting ofLocal 200, the pension funds, and Local 362); United States v. Collins, 927 F.2d
605 (6th, Cir. 1991) (Table) (group of corporations); United States v. Masters, 924 F.2d 1362,
1366 (7th Cir. 1991) (law firm, two police departments, and three individuals who are
defendants); United States v. Stolfi, 889 F.2d 378, 379-80 (2d Cir. 1989) (local union and its
welfare benefit fund); United States v. Feldman, 853 F.2d 648, 655-59 (9th Cir. 1988)
(association of five corporations and two individuals, including the defendant); United States v.
Perholtz, 842 F.2d 343, 352-54 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (group of individuals, corporations, and
partnerships); United States v. Aimone, 715 F.2d 822, 826 (3d Cir. 1983) (enterprise may be
(continued...)
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the term “enterprise” is of necessity a shifting one, given the fluid nature of criminal

associations.®

In Mohawk Indus., Inc. v. Williams, 547 U.S. 516 (2006), the Supreme Court granted-a

petition for a writ of certiorari to decide the question whether RICO’s definition of “entetprise”
encompasses an association of a corporation and individuals. However, the Supreme' Court

dismissed the petition “as improvidently granted,” without deciding that question, 1d.%°

3. Establishing A Legal Enterprise

Usually, there is little difficulty in proving the existence of an enterprise consisting of a
legal entity: proof that the entity in question has a-legal ‘existence satisfies the enterprise

element.®” Proof that a RICO enterprise consisting of*a governmental office, such as a state

84 (continued...)

1984); United States v. Thevis, 665 k.2d 616, 625-26 (5th Cir. 1982) (association of corporations
and individuals); United States v/ Huber, 603 F.2d 387, 393-94 (2d Cir. 1979) (association
comprised of a combination of <fillegal” entities and a group of individuals associated in fact);
United States v. Campanale, 518 F.2d 352, 357 n.11 (9th Cir. 1975) (enterprise composed of two
corporations and a union);\United States v. Pryba, 674 F. Supp. 1504, 1508 (E.D. Va. 1987)
(enterprise could consist of jgroup of individuals and corporations); Snider v. Lone Star Art
Trading Co., 659 F.*Supp. 1249, 1253 (E.D. Mich. 1987) (group of individuals and corporations
proper enterprise)s

8 gge, e.9., United States v. Swiderski, 593 F.2d 1246, 1249 (D.C. Cir. 1978).

%" The United States filed an Amicus brief in Mohawk Industies in support of

respondents’ argument that a RICO enterprise may consist of an association of legal entities and
individuals.

8 See, e.q., In re Insurance Brokerage Antitrust Litigation, 618 F.3d 300, 364 (3d Cir.
(continued...)
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office or police department, is a legal entity can be established in various ways. For example, if
the governmental office or department was created by statute, regulation, or ordinance, a court
can take judicial notice of the statute, regulation, or ordinance authorizing the office or
department. If the governmental entity was created by a charter or contract (e.g., a jojatitask
force), the charter or contract should be introduced into evidence. If the governmental entity is

incorporated (e.g., a township), the articles of incorporation should be introduced into evidence.

Testimony from the appropriate representative of the governmental.entity could establish
the existence of hierarchy or organizational structure and functions of the’governmental entity, as
well as explain the defendant's relationship to the governmental ‘entity and his position or
function within the governmental entity. Employment reeords could also be used to establish the

defendant's position in the governmental entity.

8 (continued-.)

2010) (“whentthe enterprise asserted is a legal entity, such as “a legitimate business or
organization>,.". , the need to allege and prove the existence of enterprise structure can be met
without ‘great difficulty, since all aspects of the enterprise element . . . are satisified by the mere
proof that the entity does in fact have legal existence”) (citation omitted); Warner, 498 F.3d at
696-97 (“When the enterprise under consideration is a legal entity, the enterprise element is
satistied by the mere proof that the entity does in fact have a legal existence” (quoting James
Morrison Mecone, et al; Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations, 43 Am. Crim. L. Rev.
869, 881 (2006)); United States v. Kirk, 844 F.2d 660, 664 (9th Cir. 1988); United States v.
Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1340 (5th Cir. 1983); United States v. Griffin, 660 F.2d 996, 999 (4th
Cir. 1981).
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4. Establishing An Association-In-Fact Enterprise

a. Turkette and its Progeny.

In United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576 (1981), the Supreme Court explicitly held that

the enterprise element and the pattern of racketeering element of RICO were separate’ elements

and that an association-in-fact enterprise

is proved by evidence of an ongoing organization, formal or infermal, and by
evidence that the various associates function as a continuing @init: The latter is
proved by evidence of the requisite number of acts of racketeering committed by
the participants in the enterprise. While the proof used to.establish these separate
elements may in particular cases coalesce, proof of one does not necessarily
establish the other. The “enterprise” is not the “pattern of racketeering activity”;
it is an entity separate and apart from the pattern‘ef-activity in which it engages.
The existence of an enterprise at all times remains a separate element which must
be proved by the Government.

Id. at 583.

Applying these standards, thes\Supreme Court rejected the lower court’s conclusion that
including wholly criminal associations within the definition of the term enterprise would amount
to making the “pattern_of.racketeering activity” the enterprise. The Court found sufficient
Government allegations that the enterprise consisted of a “group of individuals associated in fact
for the purposesof illegally trafficking in narcotics and other dangerous drugs, committing
arsons, utilizing the United States mails to defraud insurance companies, bribing and attempting
tobribe local police officers, and corruptly influencing and attempting to corruptly influence the
outcome of state court proceedings. . ..” Id. at 579.

Establishing that the members of the enterprise operated together in a coordinated manner
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in furtherance of a common purpose may be proven by a wide variety of direct and
circumstantial evidence including, but not limited to, inferences from the members’ commission
of similar racketeering acts in furtherance of a shared objective, financial ties, coordination of
activities, community of interests and objectives, interlocking nature of the schemegs,\and
overlapping nature of the wrongful conduct.® Moreover, such evidence of the existence of the

charged enterprise may be based on uncharged unlawful conduct. See Section NI (N) below.

Furthermore, the requisite continuity of the enterprise and of &he functioning of its

8 See, e.g., Jones, 455 F.3d at 144 (“an association-in-fact’is oftentimes more readily
proven by what it does”) (citation omitted); United States v2Owens, 167 F.3d 739, 751 (1st Cir.
1999) (members of drug trafficking enterprise provided-*other members with financial assistance
and coordinated transportation of drugs); Richardson167"F.3d at 625 (“Additional evidence of
[the enterprise’s] organization and continuity comes from the robberies’ consistent pattern”);
United States v. Davidson, 122 F.3d 531, 535 (8th\Cir. 1997) (“The length of these associations,
the number and variety of crimes the group jointly’ committed, and Davidson’s financial support
of his underlings demonstrates an ongoing\association with a common purpose to reap the
economic rewards flowing from the crimes, rather than a series of ad hoc relationships™);
Securitron Magnalock Corp. v. Schnabolk, 65 F.3d 256, 263-64 (2d Cir. 1995) (jury could infer
that two corporations engaged intmanufacturing electromagnetic locks were members of an
association-in-fact enterprise fromntheir pattern of disseminating false and deceptive statements
about a competitor’s electromagnetic locks to obtain business); Blinder, 10 F.3d at 1475 (“The
essence of the enterprise..\. . was the identical means by which the constituent blind pool
companies were formed and taken public through Blinder Robinson”); United States v. Perholtz,
842 F.2d 343, 355 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (“The interlocking nature of the schemes and the overlapping
nature of the wrongdoing provides sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that this was a
single enterprise, = . . ”); United States v. Qaoud, 777 F.2d 1105, 1116-17 (6th Cir. 1985)
(holding that“the jury could have inferred the existence of the alleged association-in-fact
enterprisenfrom the “coordinated nature of the defendants’ activity” and that the defendants’
racketeering acts were facilitated by their nexus to the enterprise); United States v. Griffin, 660
F.2d\996, 1000 (4th Cir. 1981) (“Proof of the existence of an associated-in-fact enterprise
requires proof of a ‘common purpose’ animating its associates”); United States v. Elliott, 571
E2d 880, 898 (5th Cir. 1978) (“A jury is entitled to infer the existence of an enterprise on the
basis of largely or wholly circumstantial evidence.”), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 953 (1978). See also
cases cited in Section 11(D)(4)(b) below.
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associates is not defeated merely because there is a gap or interruption in the racketeering
activities of the enterprise, or the membership of the enterprise changes over time.?* As the
District of Columbia Circuit has stated, “it is not essential that each and every person named in
the indictment [as a member of the enterprise] be proven to be a part of the enterprises, \The
enterprise may exist even if its membership changes over time . . . or if certain defendants are

found by the [fact finder] not to have been members at any time.” Perholtz, 842'F.2d at 364.%

8 See, e.g., United States v. Nascimento, 491 F.3d 25, 33-36 (1st Cir. 2007) (rejecting a
claim of variance in proof of the enterprise and finding that the evidence established the single
alleged enterprise where the indictment alleged that the association-in-fact enterprise existed
from July 1996 until September 20, 2004, but the evidence established that the enterprise existed
from 1997 to 2001); Olson, 450 F.3d at 664-66 (ruling that the enterprise, the Latin Kings street
gang, functioned as a continuous unit where its unlawful‘activities spanned from 1987 through
2000, even though there was a brief interruption ofyits aetivities in the mid-1990's and there was
a break-up of its leadership in 1995); Connolly,~341 F.3d at 25-27 (ruling that the alleged
association-in-fact enterprise functioned as a continuing unit from September 1975 to September
1998, even though the jury found that all but*ene of the alleged racketeering acts dating from
1970's and 1980's had not been proven beyend a reasonable doubt, and stating that “the fact that
nine of the fourteen enumerated racketeering acts were found ‘unproven’ does not compel a
finding of no continuity in the enterprise. The evidence relating to those acts remained available
to the jury in its evaluation of the €nterprise element of the RICO charge.”); United States v.
Church, 955 F.3d 688, 697-700" (11th Cir. 1992) (ruling that the association-in-fact, drug
trafficking enterprise functioned as a continuing unit from 1973 to 1986, even though there was a
three year gap in the commission of racketeering acts from 1980 to 1983); but see United States
v. Morales, 185 F.3d 74; 79-81 (2d Cir. 1999) (ruling that association-in-fact enterprise that
engaged in armed.robbery and murder did not function as a continuing unit from 1987 to 1996 as
alleged when theéte’ was a seven year hiatus in unlawful activity during several defendants’
incarcerationfrom 1988 to 1995).

%% Accord Olson, 450 F.3d at 665 (evidence of a single enterprise was not vitiated by a
change in the leadership of the enterprise, the Latin Kings street gang); Smith, 413 F.3d at 1267
(ruling that the enterprise functioned as a continuing unit “even if some individuals left [it] and
were replaced by new members at a later date”); United States v. White, 116 F. 3d 903, 925 n.7
(D.C. Cir. 1997) (“Such an association of individuals may retain its status as an enterprise even
though the membership of the association changed by the addition or loss of individuals during
(continued...)
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Moreover, it is not necessary to prove “that every member of the enterprise participated

in or knew about all its activities.” United States v. Cagnina, 697 F.2d 915, 922 (11th Cir. 1983).

Accord United States v. Hewes, 729 F.2d 1302, 1310-11 (11th Cir. 1984); United States \.

Rastelli, 870 F.2d 822, 827-28 (2d Cir. 1989). Rather, “it is sufficient that the defendant-know
the general nature of the enterprise and know that the enterprise extends beyond his individual

role.” Rastelli, 870 F.2d at 828.* Nor is it necessary to prove that the enterpriSe or its members

% (continued...)

the course of its existence”); United States v. Mauro, 80 F.3d 73;{77°(2d Cir. 1996) (existence of
enterprise not defeated by “changes in membership”); United States v. Nabors, 45 F.3d 238, 240-
41 (8th Cir. 1995) (“the personnel of the enterprise may,undergo alteration without loss of the
enterprise’s identity as an enterprise”); United States.v. Orena, 32 F.3d 704, 710 (2d Cir. 1994)
(ruling that an internal dispute over control of the eémt€rprise did “not signal the end of an
enterprise”); Church, 955 F. 2d at 698 (enterprise-established where the “personnel of the
enterprise was not the same from beginning to.end”’); United States v. Coonan, 938 F.2d 1553,
1560-61 (2d Cir. 1991) (an association-insfact enterprise continues to exist even though it
undergoes change in leadership); United States v. Weinstein, 762 F. 2d 1522, 1537 n.13 (11th
Cir. 1985) (liability for participation in a.RICO enterprise does not require “participation of all
members throughout the life of the-enterprise”); United States v. Hewes, 729 F. 2d 1302, 1317
(11th Cir. 1984) (“The law does not require all members of the RICO enterprise to have
maintained their associatiof swith it throughout the enterprise’s life”); United States v.
Riccobene, 709 F.2d 2144 223 (3d Cir. 1983) (that “the various associates function as a
continuing unit” “does not*mean that individuals cannot leave the group or that new members
cannot join at a later time”); United States v. Cagnina, 697 F.2d 915, 921-22 (11th Cir. 1983)
(“Although the enterprise grew in membership and its activities became more diverse, these facts
do not negate its€Xistence.”), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 856 (1983); United States v. Errico, 635
F.2d 152, 155.(2d Cir. 1980) (upholding instruction that membership in an enterprise may
change overtime), cert. denied, 453 U.S. 911 (1981); United States v. Elliot, 571 F. 2d 880, 898
n.18 (5th,Cir. 1978) (existence of enterprise not defeated by insufficient evidence as to one of its
alleged members).

%1 Accord United States v. Schell, 775 F.2d 559, 568-69 (4th Cir. 1985), cert. denied,

475 U.S. 1098 (1986); United States v. Tillett, 763 F.2d 628, 631-32 (4th Cir. 1984); Hewes, 729
F.2d at 1310-11; Elliott, 571 F.2d at 897-98; 903-04.
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acted with criminal intent.”* Rather, the Government need only establish that the defendant acted

with the requisite mens rea. See Section VI(C) below.

Subsequent to Turkette, the Courts of Appeals took somewhat different positions
regarding the necessary degree of structure for the enterprise and its distinctness from the/pattern

of racketeering activity. For example, the Eighth Circuit, in United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d

647 (8th Cir.1982) set a strict standard for measuring the degree of structure‘and distinctness
required before an association-in-fact enterprise is established under RICO, The court construed
Turkette to require that the enterprise exhibit three basic characteristics=(1) a common or shared
purpose which animates those associated with the enterprise, (2)’some continuity of structure and
personality, and (3) an ascertainable structure distinct from that inherent in the conduct of a
pattern of racketeering activity. 1d. at 665. As*tosthe third element, the court noted that the
distinct structure might be demonstrated by proof that the group engaged in a diverse pattern of
crimes or that it had an organizational‘pattern or system of authority beyond that necessary to

perpetrate the predicate crimes., Id.

The Third Circuit adopted a similar test in United States v. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214,

222-24 (3d Cir. 1983):~ The Court held that: (1) the enterprise must have an ongoing
organization, fortmal or informal, i.e., various associates of the enterprise must function as a
continuing (wnit; (2) the enterprise must have an existence “separate and apart from the pattern of
racketeering activity;” (3) the Government must show a hierarchical or consensual structure

within the group for making decisions, and there “must be some mechanism for controlling and

%2 See, e.q., Cianci, 378 F.3d at 82-83; United States v. Feldman, 853 F.2d 648, 657 (9th
Cir. 1988).
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directing the affairs of group on an ongoing . . . basis.” However, the court also held that it is
unnecessary to show that the enterprise has a function wholly unrelated to racketeering activity,
only that the enterprise existed beyond that necessary merely to commit each of the racketeering

acts.

The Fourth, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits adopted the Bledsoe/Riccobene approach. The

Fifth Circuit took a somewhat different position on the Bledsoe issue in sevefal cases®. While

the First, Second, Ninth, Eleventh, and District of Columbia rejected the Bledsoe/Riccobene

approach and held instead that an enterprise need not have an ascertainable structure distinct
from the pattern of racketeering activity, and that the existénce of an enterprise should be
evaluated on the totality of the evidence under the prineiples of Turkette and may be inferred

from the evidence establishing the pattern of racketeering activity.**
b. The Boyle Test —the Supreme Court Holds that an Association-in-
Fact Enterprise Requires a Purpose, Relationships Among Those

Associated with the Enterprise, and Longevity Sufficient to Permit
These Associates to Pursue the Enterprise’s Purpose.

In 2009, the Supreme Court again addressed the issue of what is needed to prove an

association-in-fact enterprise. Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938 (2009). The Court found

that an association<in-fact enterprise “must have at least three structural features: a purpose,

relationships.among those associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to permit these

% United States v. Smith, 413 F.3d 1253 (10th Cir. 2005); Crowe v. Henry, 43 F.3d 198,
204-05 (5th Cir. 1995).

% Odom v. Microsoft Corp., 486 F.3d 541, 550-552 (9th Cir. 2007); Williams v. Mohawk
Indus. Inc., 465 F.3d 1227, 1283-86 (11th Cir. 2006).
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associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose.” 556 U.S. at 946. It is OCGS’ position that the
Boyle decision has resolved the split among the circuits and that the requirements set forth in

Boyle should now be used to determine the sufficiency of an association-in-fact enterprise.

At trial, the government proved that Petitioner Edmund Boyle and others engaged, in_a
series of bank thefts (occasionally robberies, but more often burglaries) in several® staies and
transported the stolen monies from these thefts across state lines. Although the\group had a
“core” membership, others were “recruited from time to time.” 556 U.Sy at 941. To plan the
thefts, the group would meet beforehand to gather instruments (such as walkie-talkies and
crowbars) and assign roles, and afterwards the participants in the.thefts would usually divide the
proceeds. Id. As the Court noted, the organization waS«far from formal: “[t]he group was
loosely and informally organized. It does not appearito have had a leader or hierarchy; nor does

it appear that the participants ever formulated ‘any long-term master plan or agreement.” 1d.

After trial, the district court instructed the jury as follows:

The term “enterprise’* ‘as\used in these instructions may also include a group of
people associated in¢fact, even though this association is not recognized as a
legal entity. Indeed, an enterprise need not have a name. Thus, an enterprise
need not be a'form[al] business entity such as a corporation, but may be merely
an informakassociation of individuals. A group or association of people can
be an “enterprise” if, among other requirements, these individuals “associate”
together, for a purpose of engaging in a course of conduct. Common sense
suggests that the existence of an association-in-fact is oftentimes more readily
praven by what it does, rather than by abstract analysis of its structure.

Moreover, you may find an enterprise where an association of individuals,
without structural hierarchy, forms solely for the purpose of carrying out a
pattern of racketeering acts. Such an association of persons may be established
by evidence showing an ongoing organization, formal or informal, and ... by
evidence that the people making up the association functioned as a continuing
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unit. Therefore, in order to establish the existence of such an enterprise, the
government must prove that: (1) There is an ongoing organization with some
sort of framework, formal or informal, for carrying out its objectives; and (2)
the various members and associates of the association function as a continuing
unit to achieve a common purpose.

Regarding “organization,” it is not necessary that the enterprise have any
particular or formal structure, but it must have sufficient organization that
its members functioned and operated in a coordinated manner in order to
carry out the alleged common purpose or purposes of the enterprise.

Id. at 942 n.1 (emphases and ellipsis in Boyle). In addition, the districtcourt rejected
Boyle’s proposed instruction that the government was required to prove that an enterprise
“had an ongoing organization, a core membership that functionedas a continuing unit, and
an ascertainable structural hierarchy distinct from the Charged predicate acts.” 1d. at
943. Boyle was convicted on most of the counts,vincluding the substantive RICO and
RICO conspiracy charges. See id.

The United States Court of\ Appeals for the Second Circuit, in an unpublished
disposition, affirmed Boyle's conviction and did not specifically address his claims that the

instructions were erroneous. “See United States v. Boyle, 283 Fed. Appx. 825 (2d Cir. 2007).

The Supreme Court granted” certiorari to decide whether an association-in-fact enterprise must
have “an ascertainable structure beyond that inherent in the pattern of racketeering activity in

which it engages.” 556 U.S. at 945. see also 554 U.S. 994 (2008) (granting certiorari).

In a 7-2 decision reaffirming its previous holding and analysis from United States v.

Tarkette, 452 U.S. 576, 580-83 (1981), the Supreme Court affirmed Boyle's conviction,

holding that the district court's instructions properly conveyed the meaning of a RICO
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enterprise and what proof was necessary to establish such an enterprise. 556 U.S. at 951.
Justice Alito, writing for the majority, noted that the statutory definition of “enterprise” in
81961(4) “does not specifically define the outer boundaries of the ‘enterprise’ concept,”
and that the definition has a “wide reach,” consistent with the statutory command that
RICO should be “liberally construed to effectuate its remedial purposes.” ld. at*944,

(citing 8 904(a), 84 Stat. 947, note following 18 U.S.C. § 1961).

Turning to the question granted for certiorari-whether certiOrari an association-in-
fact enterprise must have an ascertainable structure beyond that,inherent in the pattern of
racketeering activity in which it engages-the Court .divided the question into three: (1)
whether an association in fact enterprise must have ‘a_“structure”; (2) whether such structure
must be “ascertainable”; and (3) whether the.structure must “go ‘beyond that inherent in the
pattern of racketeering activity.”” 1d./at 945.

Regarding the first question,“the Court agreed that an association-in-fact enterprise
must have a structure and must have “at least three structural features: a purpose,
relationships among‘those associated with the enterprise, and longevity sufficient to permit
these associates topursue the enterprise's purpose.” ld. However, because a district court
retains , “considerable discretion” in choosing the language of its instructions, those
particular words are not required. Id. at 946.

The Petitioner had also requested that the trial court instruct the jury that it must find an

“ascertainable structural hierarchy distinct from the charged predicate acts.” 1d. at 943.
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Regarding whether structure must be “ascertainable,” the Court acknowledged the truism that
by telling a jury that it must find an element, therefore the “element must be ‘ascertainable’ or
else the jury could not find that it was proved.” Id. at 947. However, the Court reasoned;
instructing the jury that they needed to “ascertain the existence of an ‘ascertainable stgtcture’
would have been redundant and potentially misleading.” 1d.

Finally, the Court addressed the third question, and the crux .ef the' Petitioner’s
complaint: whether an enterprise’s structure must be “beyond that inkcrent in the pattern of
racketeering activity.” 1d. On this point, the Court turned to_(and reiterated) its analysis
previously made in Turkette: the existence of an enterprise iS.a distinct element that must be
proved, and “proof of one does not necessarily establish the other.” Id. (quoting Turkette, 452
U.S. at 583). As an example, if “several individuals, independently and without coordination,
engaged in a pattern of RICO predicate offenses . . . [p]roof of these patterns would not be
enough to show that the individuals ‘were members of the enterprise.” Id. at 947 n.4.

However, the Court stressed that although the pattern does not necessarily establish the
enterprise, this does not mean that “the existence of an enterprise may never be inferred from the
evidence showing ‘that persons associated with the enterprise engaged in a pattern of
racketeering activity.” 1d. at 947. On this point, the Court reiterated its conclusion that it “made
in Turkette that proof of a pattern of racketeering activity may be sufficient in a particular case
to-permit a jury to infer the existence of an association-in-enterprise.” Id. at 951. Moreover, the
Court noted that although “the same evidence may prove two separate elements, this does not

mean that the two elements collapse into one.” Id. at 950 n.5. Again turning to Turkette, the
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Court stated: “We recognized in Turkette that the evidence used to prove the pattern of
racketeering activity and the evidence establishing an enterprise ‘may in particular cases
coalesce.”” Id. at 947 (quoting 452 U.S. at 583). Because this may be a permissible inference in
certain cases, the Court reasoned, the judge did not err in instructing the jury that “the exiStence
of an association-in-fact is oftentimes more readily proven by what it does, rather than by
abstract analysis of its structure.” Id. at 950, 942 n.1.

In essence, the Court’s opinion in Boyle reiterated its holding in” Turkette, and resisted
the arguments of the Petitioner and the dissent to engraft additional, extratextual requirements
into the meaning of a RICO “enterprise”:

As we said in Turkette, an association-in-fact, enterprise is simply a continuing
unit that functions with a common purpose. Such a group need not have a
hierarchical structure or a "chain of command™; decisions may be made on an ad
hoc basis and by any number of methods=-by majority vote, consensus, a show
of strength, etc. Members of the group need not have fixed roles; different
members may perform different roles at different times. The group need not
have a name, regular meéetings, dues, established rules and regulations,
disciplinary procedures, or-induction or initiation ceremonies. While the group
must function as a_continuing unit and remain in existence long enough to
pursue a course of €onduct, nothing in RICO exempts an enterprise whose
associates engage-in spurts of activity punctuated by periods of quiescence.

Id. at 948.%
Therefare, it is important to note what the Court stated was not required to establish an

association=in-fact enterprise:

2 <6

a structural “hierarchy,” “role differentiation,” a “unique modus operandi,” a

% Because the language of the statute was clear, and noting the “clear but expansive text
of the statute,” the Court rejected the Petitioner’s arguments based on the purposes of the statute,
the legislative history, and lenity principles. Id. at 950.
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“chain of command,” “professionalism and sophistication of organization,”
“diversity and complexity of crimes,” “membership dues, rules and regulations,”
“uncharged or additional crimes aside from predicate acts,” an “internal discipline
mechanism,” “regular meetings regarding enterprise affairs,” an ‘“enterprise
‘name,’” and “induction or initiation ceremonies and rituals.”

1d. at 948.

C. The Courts Have Employed the Boyle Test to Determine,the
Requirements for, and the Sufficiency of the Evidence for; a Criminal
Group to Constitute an Association-in-Fact Enterprise

Subsequently, the courts have used the Boyle test in determining what is the proper
legal standard to establish an association-in-fact enterprisézand whether the evidence at
trial was sufficient to establish that a criminal group €onstituted a racketeering enterprise.
Prior to Boyle, the Tenth Circuit had sided with the Third Circuit as to what was required

in order to establish an association-in-fact.enterprise. See United States v. Smith, 413

F.3d 1253 (10th Cir. 2005). Post-Bovle, the Tenth Circuit reconsidered the question of

what is necessary to establish ‘@n association-in-fact enterprise in United States v.
Hutchinson, 573 F.3d 1011 (10th Cir. 2009). The appellant challenged the sufficiency of
the jury instructiopnregarding the association-in-fact enterprise. The jury was instructed

that

“amvassociation-in-fact enterprise includes a group of people associated for a
common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct over a period of time.
This group of people does not have to be a legally recognized entity such as
[a] partnership or corporation. This group may be organized for a legitimate
and lawful purpose, or it may be organized for an unlawful purpose. This
group of people must have (1) a common purpose and (2) an ongoing
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organization, either formal or informal, and (3) personnel who function as a
continuing unit.”

573 F.3d at 1020.

“Whatever we once might have said about the merits of Mr. Hutchinsen’s
argument, the world now looks very different after the Supreme Court’s recent decision

in Boyle.” Id. at 1021.

In lieu of the structural requirements Smith once imposed,. the”Supreme
Court announced a new test for determining whether a group,has sufficient
structure to qualify as an association-in-fact enterprise, Wnder this test, a
group must have [1] a purpose, [2] relationships ameng those associated
with the enterprise, and [3] longevity sufficient to permit‘these associates to
pursue the enterprise’s purpose.

Boyle’s test now governs the disposition-of this and future RICO cases in our
circuit, and whether or not they might have satisfied Smith, we have no doubt that
the district court’s jury instructions, satisfy Boyle. The district court obliged the
government to show that the .members of the alleged enterprise shared a common
purpose, that they interacted.or associated in some way to advance this shared
purpose, and that the .members of the enterprise so functioned long enough to
complete a pattern of\racketeering activity. After Boyle, no more is required to
show that an entefprise has the requisite structure. Neither was any special
formulaic instruction or particular incantation required to convey Boyle’s test; the
Court has stressed that it isn’t concerned with the specific wording of a district
court’s instructions so long as they “adequately t[ell]” the jury what it needs to
find. 1dyat'2247; see also Williams, 497 F.3d at 1093-94 (allowing the district
court significant leeway in the specific words of its instructions). The Court
approved the district court’s instructions in Boyle which informed the jury that it
had to find “an ongoing organization with some sort of framework, formal or
informal, for carrying out its objectives” in which “various members and
associates of the association function[ed] as a continuing unit to achieve a
common purpose.” Boyle, 129 S. Ct. at 2247 (alteration in original). The nearly
identical instructions in our case surely can be no less acceptable.
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573 F.3d at 1022.

In United States v. Harris, 695 F.3d 1125 (10th Cir. 2012), the Tenth Circuit

considered the sufficiency of the evidence to establish an association-in-fact enterprise:
Employing the criteria from Boyle and Hutchinson, the Tenth Circuit held that the
evidence was sufficient to establish that the different Crips sets in Wichita were an

enterprise.

As to “purpose,” the evidence at trial showed that Harris and Knight; members of
different sets, jointly operated the houses from which various.set members sold
drugs, and that they provided drugs for those lower in the ghain to sell. There was
also testimony that the different Crips sets would weork, together by “making
money, having meetings, things of that nature,” including committing robbery,
selling drugs, and prostitution. (citation omitted): As to “relationships,” the record
demonstrates that the members of the different sets saw and interacted with one
another regularly, through mandatory Cripxmeetings, the sharing of colors and
handshakes, and socializing at the “Crips club,” Harry and Ollie's. As to
“longevity,” the record showed that the pattern of activity that the government
alleged continued over a period of years.

695 F.3d at 1136.

In United States v.\Burden, 600 F.3d 204 (2d Cir. 2010), the Second Circuit

employed the Boyle(testiand found that the Burden Organization, which was a drug
organization, was sufficient to constitute a RICO enterprise. The appellants alleged that
the group’lacked the structure needed to be an enterprise and that the group lacked the
necessary continuity because the leader, Kelvin, was incarcerated twice during the time
period that the enterprise was alleged to have existed. The evidence, however, showed

that the Burden Organization “had multiple members who joined in the shared purpose
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of selling drugs and promoting such sales.” 600 F.3d at 215. They had a meeting place
“where they were able to traffic drugs out of the public’s eye, stored guns, and planned
the violent acts they undertook.” 1d. Kelvin controlled the narcotics. With respect to
the crimes of violence, Kelvin orchestrated some of the violent crimes in retaliation for
acts against the Burden Organization. Other violent crimes occurred after a_ number of
enterprise members agreed to them. The difference in the organization between the
narcotics activity and the violent crimes “did not negate the jury®s finding that the
defendants were part of an enterprise.” 1d. Under Boyle, “an established hierarchy is
not essential to the existence of an enterprise.” Id. Additionally, the leader’s time in
prison did not negate the finding of an enterprise because the evidence showed that
Kelvin continued to direct operations from jail.” Moreover, “[a] period of quiescence in
an enterprise’s course of conduct do€s net exempt the enterprise from RICO. Boyle, 129
S. Ct. at 2245. We conclude that'the members functioned as a continuing unit.” Id. at

216.

The Ninth Circuit utilized the Boyle test in determining that the restructuring of

the Aryan Brotheérhood (“AB”) in 1993 did not create a new enterprise. United States v.

Bingham; 653 F.3d 983, 992-93 (9th Cir. 2011). The Ninth Circuit quoted the Boyle
decision that the enterprise did not need to have a hierarchical structure. Rather, Aryan
Brotherhood only needed to have “some sort of framework, formal or informal, for

carrying out its objectives” and members who worked as a “continuing unit.” 653 F.3d
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at 992. The evidence established that the AB had a framework for decision making.
Prior to 1993, the group had a leadership structure that centered around a Council. After
1993, the Council was replaced by a three-person Commission. “While these changes
formalized the AB’s hierarchy, they did not modify the AB’s existence or its purpose-er
membership.” Id. at 992-93. The AB members had the same criminal goalsjpriar'to and
after the change in the leadership structure. The revision to the leadership,structure also
did not change any aspects of membership, but instead, codified how individuals
became members. “AB members still joined by invitation enly, were to murder others
when told to, and had to kill or attempt to kill targets in order to gain membership. AB
members were to comply with all AB orders orwisk being killed as punishment, both
before and after 1993. And AB members econtinued using coded messages to organize
crimes and making knives to carry out assaults and murders.” 1d. at 993. Thus, the court

found that AB continued to be the 'same enterprise.

In United States v. Hosseini, 679 F.3d 544 (7th Cir. 2012), the appellants operated

three automobile dealerships and sold luxury cars to drug dealers in the Chicago area.
They challenged their RICO conspiracy conviction claiming that the evidence at trial
was insufficient to establish an enterprise. The Seventh Circuit said that an enterprise

2% ¢¢

required “a purpose,” “relationships among those associated with the enterprise,” and
“longevity sufficient to permit these associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose.” 679

F.3d at 557 (citing Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938, 944-45 (2009). The appellants
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used the language from footnote 4 in the Boyle decision in claiming that there was
insufficient evidence to establish an enterprise. Footnote 4 in the Boyle decision stated
that “it is easy to envision situations in which proof that individuals engaged in a pattern
of racketeering activity would not establish the existence of an enterprise. For example,
suppose that several individuals, independently and without coordination, engaged in a
pattern of crimes listed as RICO predicates—for example, bribery or extortion. Proof of
these patterns would not be enough to show that the individualsiwere members of an
enterprise.” 556 U.S. at 947 n.4. The trial evidence,-however, showed that the
apellants’ conduct was neither independent nor lacking\in-Coordination. The appellants
operated three car dealerships, shared bank accounts, employees, and health insurance.
They transferred money, referred customers 10 each other, and sold cars in the same
manner. Thus, a jury could reasofiably” conclude that the enterprise “had a purpose
(profiting through unreported cash-auto sales to drug dealers), relationships (Hosseini
and Obaei’s own close personal relationship, as well as the dealerships’ interlocking

relationship), and lougevity (the scheme lasted at least a decade.)” 679 F.3d at 558.

The La, Mara Salvatrucha (MS-13) gang was found to constitute an enterprise

under the (Bayle test in United States v. Palacios, 677 F.3d 234 (4th Cir. 2012). The

Fourth Circuit quoted the Boyle test that “an association-in-fact enterprise must have at
least three structural features: a purpose, relationships among those associated with the

enterprise, and longevity sufficient to permit these associates to pursue the enterprise’s
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purpose.” Id. at 249. The court also stated that the Supreme Court had cautioned “against
reading the term ‘enterprise’ too narrowly.” Id. At trial, a Sergeant from the Prince
George’s County Police Department testified as both an expert witness and as a faet
witness. The Sergeant testified about the structure of MS-13 and explained the origins-ef
the gang in Los Angeles. He testified about the rules and regulations of the gang,.as well
as the gang symbols and colors. He also testified about the payment of-dues by members,
the initiation process, and how the local cliques operated. <«This testimony was
corroborated by testimony from two gang members. The Fourth Circuit found that this

evidence was “more than sufficient to support the jury’s werdict.” Id. at 249-250.

The D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals also“found that a drug organization was

sufficient to constitute an enterprise under_therBoyle test. United States v. Eiland, 738

F.3d 338 (D.C. Cir. 2013). The ewvidence of the group’s procurement and distribution

chain for narcotics was also relevant to establishing the RICO enterprise.

The same evidence that supports the narcotics conspiracy conviction supports the jury’s
finding of an enterprise: The enterprise’s purpose was to distribute drugs for profit. The
defendants organized themselves so each would carry out a separate role in the
distribution ‘chain;” with Eiland and Miller overseeing the operation. Rashawn Briggs
testified he was dealing drugs with Eiland and Miller between 2000 and 2002. [citation
omitted |\ Fhus, the enterprise continued for a period “sufficient to permit the [ ] associates
to pursue the enterprise’s purpose.” Boyle, 556 U.S. at 946, 129 S. Ct. 2237.

738 F.3d at 360.
In another case from the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, the court found that the

“jury could reasonably find an enterprise based upon the Tongan Crips Gang’s purpose,
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the relationship among the members, and the longevity of TCG.” United States v.

Kamahele, 748 F.3d 984, 1001 (10th Cir. 2014). At trial, evidence concerning the
group’s structure and history was introduced. A law enforcement officer testified as an
expert on the Tongan Crips Gang. His testimony concerned the history and structure-ef
TCG, Tongan culture, the criminal activities engaged in by members of TCGjand.the use
of insignia, such as tattoos, clothing and hand signals. The enterprise evidence included
that TCG was formed in the 1990s, as well as evidence about the erganization of the

Glendale chapter of TCG, the initiation methods, and the prineiples of TCG.

The Second Circuit Court of Appeals found.that\the evidence was sufficient to

establish that a group that sold narcotics and\senhgaged in violent crimes was a

racketeering enterprise. United States v. Krasnigi, 555 Fed. Appx. 14 (2d Cir. 2014). On
appeal, the Krasnigis alleged that the evidence did not establish an enterprise, but rather,
only showed “a series of ad hoc(alliances.” 555 Fed. Appx. at 17. Relying upon Boyle,
the court stated that “[i]t is beyond peradventure that a RICO enterprise is not required to
have business-like attributes, such as a name, a hierarchical structure, a set membership,
or established rdleés.” 1d. The evidence at trial had established that the “Krasniqi enterprise
had multiple‘members who had a shared purpose of selling drugs and committing various acts of
violence. Indeed, members of the organization testified that they perceived themselves to be part

ofta “crew” that was led by Saimir and Bruno. On that basis alone, drawing all reasonable
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inferences in favor of the government, the evidence at trial was sufficient to prove the existence

of a RICO enterprise.” 1d.

In another case, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals found that the Courtlandt

Avenue Crew (“CAC”) was sufficient to constitute an enterprise. United States v.

Pierce, 785 F.3d 832 (2d Cir. 2015). Appellant Meregildo alleged that the 'government
failed to show that the Courtlandt Avenue Crew had the requisite hierarchy or sufficient
longevity, and failed to establish a separate existence of the enterprise as distinct from
the racketeering activity. The Second Circuit stated™that those were not the

requirements for an enterprise. “As the Supreme Coust noted in Boyle v. United States,

‘an association-in-fact enterprise is simply a centinuing unit that functions with a
common purpose. Such a group need not-have a hierarchical structure or a ‘chain of
command.’” 785 F.3d at 838. The ¢vidence was sufficient to establish that CAC was an
enterprise. “A cooperating witn€ss ‘testified that the crew had guns ‘[t]o protect us from
our beefs, our problems with other neighborhoods and other crews. [citation omitted].
Related testimony established that the crew had a base of operations on Courtlandt
Avenue near the”Melrose-Jackson Houses, members had tattoos and signs that signified
their membership, and numerous crimes were committed by CAC members in
furtherance of the enterprise, including the murders of Jason Correa, Carrel Ogarro, and
Delquan Alston. The evidence was sufficient to permit a rational juror to infer that

Harrison and other members of the crew ‘joined in the shared purpose of selling drugs
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and promoting such sales.” United States v. Burden, 600 F.3d 204, 215 (2d Cir. 2010).

Hence, the government’s evidence established that CAC was a continuing unit that
functioned with a common purpose: the illicit sale of narcotics in and around the

Melrose-Jackson Houses.” Id. at 838-839.

5. Variance in Proof from the Alleged Enterprise

The Government need not specify in a RICO indictment whether the enterprise charged is
a “legal entity” or a “group of individuals associated in fact,” provided that the indictment is
otherwise sufficient.”® If, however, the Government in its indictment and at trial clearly elects
one enterprise theory over another, it must prove the existence of the enterprise upon which it
has based its case.”” For example, in one case a RICO conspiracy conviction was reversed on the
ground the trial court constructively amended theyindictment when the trial court, responding to a
question from the jury during deliberations, instructed that the Government was not required to

prove that the enterprise was a particular organized crime family, even though the indictment

% See, e.g., United"States v. Alonso, 740 F.2d 862, 870 (11th Cir. 1984); United States v.
Hartley, 678 F.2d 961, 989 (11th Cir. 1982); United States v. Stratton, 649 F.2d 1066, 1075 (5th
Cir. 1981); cf. United-States v. Baker, 617 F.2d 1060, 1061 (4th Cir. 1980) (county sheriff’s
office is either a legal entity or a group of individuals associated in fact); United States v. Brown,
555 F.2d 407,.415 (5th Cir. 1977) (Macon, Georgia Police Department is at least a group
associated in'fact, and may also be a legal entity).

% See, e.q., United States v. Adams, 722 F.3d 788 (6th Cir. 2013); United States v.
Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1331 n.16 (5th Cir. 1983); United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 647, 660
(8th Cir. 1982) (although a co-op, as a legal entity, could clearly qualify as an enterprise under
RICO, the Government cannot argue on appeal that the enterprise was one or more of the
cooperatives since the case was not tried on that theory).
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alleged that a specific crime family identified by name was the enterprise.”

In appropriate circumstances, it is for the jury to decide whether there was a material
variance in proof from the single enterprise charged in the indictment or whether the proof
showed multiple enterprises rather than the single one charged. Evidence of change.in
membership in the enterprise and temporary disruption and hiatus in the enterprise’s etiminal
activities, however, does not necessarily preclude a finding of a single ongoing,enterprise. See

cases cited in Section 11(D)(4)(a), notes 89-90 above.

It is important to note that a single enterprise may be found even where members of an

association-in-fact enterprise form opposing factions.”® For example, in United States v. Orena,

32 F.3d 704, 710 (2d Cir. 1994), the indictment alleged’ that the RICO enterprise was an
association-in-fact consisting of “members and asseciates of the Colombo Organized Crime
Family.” The indictment also referred to angnternal war between two competing factions of the
Colombo Family. On appeal, the defendant argued that the indictment failed to allege the
existence of an ongoing enterprise-because of the Family's infighting. The Second Circuit
concluded, however, that the allegations and subsequent proof of the internecine war presented
the question whether the’enterprise was sufficiently proven, not whether the enterprise was

adequately pled; and held that the enterprise element was sufficiently pled.

TheSécond Circuit also ruled that the existence of an internal dispute did not necessarily

% See United States v. Weissman, 899 F.2d 1111, 1114-16 (11th Cir. 1990).

% See also United States v. Fernandez, 388 F.3d 1199, 1222-23 (9th Cir. 2004)
(infighting within Mexican Mafia based on dispute over control of enterprise); United States v.
Norwood, 2015 WL 2250493, *5 (E.D. Mich. May 13, 2015) (“internal warfare” within
“Howard Boys” group).
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mean the end of the enterprise, especially where control of the enterprise was the objective of the
dispute. Orena, 32 F.3d at 710. The court also found the evidence sufficient to establish that the
Colombo Family members remained associated together for a common purpose even after the
eruption of conflict between the two factions based in part on proof of the enterprise members’
expectation of reconciliation after their dispute was settled and the efforts of other crime families

to mediate the dispute. Orena, 32 F.3d at 710.

6. Profit-Seeking Motive Is Not Required

In Nat’l Org. for Women, Inc. v. Scheidler, 510 U.S:249 (1994) (“Scheidler”), the

Supreme Court held that the RICO statute contains na ‘econemic motive requirement, thereby
overruling the district court's holding that a profit-seeking motive for either the RICO enterprise
or predicate acts was required, and reversing the.district court's dismissal of the plaintiff's civil
RICO claim.’® In reaching this decision,the Supreme Court observed that the enterprise in
Sections 1962(a) and (b) might “veryswell be a profit-seeking entity,” id. at 259, but that the
RICO statute does not mandate that either the enterprise or the racketeering activity have an
economic motive. Rather,"RICO requires only that the entity be acquired through the use of
illegal activity or by.money obtained from illegal activities. By contrast, subsection (c) generally
describes a “wehicle through which the unlawful pattern of racketeering activity is committed,

ratherthan a victim of that activity.” Therefore, the Court reasoned, a subsection (c) association-

100 See Nat’l Org. for Women v. Scheidler, 765 F. Supp. 937, 941-44 (N.D. IlI. 1991),
aff'd, 968 F.2d 612 (7th Cir. 1992). According to the district court, neither donations made by
members of the defendant organization nor the defendants causing economic injuries to the
victims (clinics, doctors, and patients) through acts of extortion satisfied the requirement for a
profit-making motive.
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in-fact enterprise need not have a property interest that could be acquired or an economic motive
for engaging in racketeering activity; nor do subsections (a) and (b) direct a contrary conclusion
as claimed by respondents and found by the courts below. The Court concluded that neither the
definitional language nor the operative language of the RICO statute required that a subseetion

(c) enterprise have an economic or profit-seeking motive. Id. at 258-59.**

The Court also discounted the reliance by the courts below on congressional findings,

(133

noting that rather than limiting the prosecutions to [traditional] “‘organized crime . . . Congress .
... enact[ed] a more general statute . . . . which, although it had organized crime as its focus, was

not limited in approach to organized crime.”” Id. at 260 (quoting H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell

Telephone Co., 492 U.S. 299, 248 (1989)). Similarly,, the Court was not persuaded by the

argument that former internal Justice Department ‘guidelines prohibited naming an association as
the enterprise unless it had an economic goal, particularly when the 1984 internal guidelines
provided that an association-in-fact emterprise be “‘directed toward an economic or other
identifiable goal.”” Scheidler, 510°Y.S. at 250 (emphasis added). The Court declined to impose
limitations not expressed in the RICO statute, finding instead parallels with the conclusion in
Turkette that the statute.covered the wholly illegal as well as legitimate enterprise and looked to
Turkette's instruction that there was “no restriction upon the associations embraced by the

definition” ©f the enterprise, i.e., the enterprise also includes “any union or group of individuals

101 Accord United States v. Kamahele, 748 F.3d 984, 1004 (10th Cir. 2014); United
States v. Browne, 505 F.3d 1229, 1273 (11th Cir. 2007); Odom, 486 F.3d at 546-547; Diaz v.
Gates, 354 F.3d 1169, 1172 (9th Cir. 2004); Handeen v. LeMaire, 112 F.3d 1339, 1351 (8th Cir.
1997); Roma Const. Co. v. Russo, 96 F.3d 566, 578 (1st Cir. 1996); Rogers, 89 F.3d at 1326;
Jaguar Cars, Inc. v. Royal Oaks Motor Car Co., 46 F.3d 258, 266 (3d Cir. 1995), United States v.
Fiel, 35 F.3d 997, 1003 (4th Cir. 1994); Scheib v. Grant, 22 F.3d 149, 154 (7th Cir. 1994).
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associated in fact.” 1d. at 260.

The lack of an economic motive requirement is important. It permits the Government to
use RICO against groups that do not have a financial purpose--for example, political terrorists
and other groups that commit violent crimes, such as murder or bombings, but without.an

economic motive.

7. A RICO Defendant Must Be Distinct From the Alleged RICO Enterprise
Under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1962(c) and (d)

In Cedric Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158,(2001), the Supreme Court

held that “to establish liability under § 1962(c) [of RICQ],(one must allege and prove the
existence of two distinct entities: (1) a “person’; and, (2)“an ‘enterprise’ that is not simply the
same ‘person’ referred to by a different name.”s 533 U.S. at 161. The Court explained that
Section 1962(c) “applies to ‘person[s]*.who are ‘employed by or associated with’ the
‘enterprise.” In ordinary English one sp€aks of employing, being employed by, or associating
with others, not oneself.” Id. (citation omitted). Therefore, the Court concluded that a RICO

defendant, or “person,” must be distinct from the RICO enterprise that the defendant is
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“associated” with or “employed” by. 1d. at 161-62.1%

Applying this principle, the Court ruled that the RICO enterprise in Cedric Kushner, a

corporation, was distinct from the defendant, a natural person who was the president and sole
shareholder of the corporation-enterprise. 1d. at 163. The Court stated: “The cérporate
owner/employee, a natural person, is distinct from the corporation itself, a legally different entity
with different rights and responsibilities due to its different legal status...And*we can find
nothing in [RICO] that requires more ‘separateness’ than that.” 1d. ~€iting approvingly to

McCullough v. Suter, 757 F.2d 142, 144 (7th Cir. 1985), the Court added that the distinctness

requirement is satisfied where there is “either formal or practical separateness.” 533 U.S. at 163.

In McCullough v. Suter, the Seventh Circuit held'that a RICO enterprise consisting of a

sole proprietorship with several employees was distinct from the defendant, the individual sole

proprietor. 757 F.2d at 143-44.

102 As several courts of appeals have held, Cedric Kushner’s requirement that the RICO
defendant be distinct from the RIEO enterprise does not apply to RICO charges brought under
18 U.S.C. 88 1962(a) or (b), because those sections, unlike Section 1962(c), do not require that
the defendant be “employed by or associated with” the enterprise, and hence the rationale of
Cedric Kushner does nat apply to Section 1962(a) or (b). See, e.g., Churchill Village v. General
Electric, 361 F.3d 566, 573-74 (9th Cir. 2004) (collecting cases); Riverwoods Chappaqua V.
Marine Midland Bank, 30 F.3d 339, 345 (2d Cir. 1994); United Mine Workers of Am., 18 F.3d
1161, 1163 (4th\Cir. 1994); Lightning Lube, Inc. v. Witco Corp., 4 F.3d 1153, 1190 (3d Cir.
1993); In re-Burzynski, 989 F.2d 733, 743 (5th Cir. 1993); Brittingham v. Mobil Corp., 943 F.2d
297, 303 (3d’Cir. 1991); Genty v. Resolution Trust Corp., 937 F.2d 899, 907 (3d Cir. 1991);
United~States v. Vogt, 910 F.2d 1184, 1197 n.5 (4th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1083
(1991); Banks v. Wolk, 918 F.2d 418, 421 (3d Cir. 1990); Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896
F.20'833 (4th Cir. 1990), aff'd after remand, 948 F.2d 1280 (4th Cir. 1991) (Table); Schreiber
Distrib. Co. v. Ser-Well Furniture Co., 806 F.2d 1393, 1396-98 (9th Cir. 1986); Schofield v. First
Commaodity Corp., 793 F.2d 28 (1st Cir. 1986); Haroco Inc. v. American Nat’l Bank & Trust
Co., 747 F.2d 384, 402 (7th Cir. 1984), aff’d on other grounds, 473 U.S. 606 (1985).
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The Seventh Circuit explained:

But Suter had several people working for him; this made his company an
enterprise, and not just a one-man band . . . .

A one-man band that does not incorporate, that merely operates as a
proprietorship, gains no legal protections from the form in which it has chosen to
do business; the man and the proprietorship really are the same entity in law and
fact. But if the man has employees or associates, the enterprise is distinct from
him, and it then makes no difference, so far as we can see, what legal form the
enterprise takes. The only important thing is that it be either formally,(as when
there is incorporation) or practically (as when there are other people.besides the
proprietor working in the organization) separable from the individual:

Id. at 144.1%

In accordance with these principles, most courts of appeals have held that the requisite
distinctness between the defendant-person and the enterprise is lacking only when there is

complete identity between a particular defendant.and the enterprise. As the Eleventh Circuit

103 |n United States v. London/66#:3d 1227, 1243-44 (1st Cir. 1995), the First Circuit
followed McCullough in finding.. that~ defendant London's sole proprietorship was an
“enterprise,” with which he could b€.associated. The court emphasized that London had at least
one other employee and held"that“ho more was required to establish the separation of an
enterprise and a defendant tnder' RICO. London, 66 F.3d at 1244-45. Similarly, the Ninth
Circuit in United States v.Benny, 786 F.2d 1410 (9th Cir. 1986), affirmed a RICO conviction
where one of the defendantsiwas associated with his own business. The court reasoned that the
co-defendant's associationi with the sole proprietorship made it a “troupe, not a one-man show.”
Benny, 786 F.2d at 1416.

But, in United States v. Yonan, 622 F. Supp. 721, 722-26 (N.D. Ill. 1985), the
district ‘court dismissed a Section 1962(c) count against a sole-practitioner attorney who
employed one secretary, holding that employing only one secretary was not enough to transform
an-attorney into an enterprise. The district court also expressed reluctance to follow the Seventh
ciredit’s ruling in McCullough. The Seventh Circuit did not consider the merits of this holding
on appeal. United States v. Yonan, 800 F.2d 164, 165-66 (7th Cir. 1986) (dismissing appeal
because Government failed to appeal issue timely). See also Guidry v. Bank of La Place, 954
F.2d 278, 283 (5th Cir. 1992) (distinctness not satisfied where the RICO defendant was the sole
employee of his sole proprietorship, the alleged enterprise).
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stated, “a defendant can clearly be a person under [Section 1962(c)] and also be part of the

enterprise. United States v. Goldin Indus., Inc., 219 F.3d 1268, 1275-1276 (11th Cir. 2000)

(collecting cases). The prohibition against the unity of person and enterprise applies only when
the singular person or entity is defined as both the person and the only entity comprising, the
enterprise.” Id. Accordingly, many courts have concluded in a variety of circumstances that
individual RICO defendants are distinct from an enterprise that is broaderthan any single
defendant, notwithstanding that the defendants may collectively comprise the enterprise and may

have close relationships among themselves.'*

104 See, e.g., Mohawk Indus., 465 F.3d at 1284 (distinctfiess requirement satisfied where
a corporation was the defendant and the enterprise congsisted of an alliance of the corporate
defendant and third-party individuals and agencies); ‘Living Designs, Inc., 431 F.3d at 361-62
(distinctness requirement satisfied where the defendant was a corporation and the enterprise
consisted of an alliance of the corporate-defendant'and law firms employed by the defendant and
expert witnesses retained by the law firms); Najjar, 300 F.3d at 484-85 (distinctness requirement
satisfied where the defendants were an individual and a corporation and the enterprise consisted
of an alliance of the defendants, other individuals and a sole proprietorship); DeFalco, 244 F.3d
at 306-08 (distinctness requirement satisfied where the enterprise was the Town of Delaware and
the defendants were public officials’of the town and two corporations that victimized the town
through their racketeering acts)) *Goldin Indus., 219 F.3d at 1273, 1275-1276 (distinctness
requirement satisfied where enterprise consisted of four natural persons and three corporations,
all of whom were also defendants); United States v. Fairchild, 189 F.3d 769, 776-777 (8th Cir.
1999) (distinctness requirement satisfied where individual defendants collectively formed the
enterprise); United States v. London, 66 F.3d at 1243-1245 (distinctness requirement satisfied
where the enterprise Consisted of defendant’s sole proprietorship and a closely held corporation);
Securitron Magnalock Corp., 65 F.3d at 262-263 (a defendant who was an officer, agent, and
owner of two corporations is distinct from RICO enterprise consisting of that individual and the
corporations); United States v. Nabors, 45 F.3d 238, 240-41 (8th Cir. 1995) (holding that “a
‘collective entity is something more than the members of which it is comprised’ and that
individual members who are members of an enterprise may indeed be found guilty [under RICO]
even if the enterprise is made up solely of those defendants”); Atlas Pile Driving Co. v. Dicon
Fin. Co., 886 F.2d 986, 995 (8th Cir. 1989) (distinctness requirement satisfied where two
corporate members of the association-in-fact enterprise were also defendants); Perholtz, 842 F.2d
at 353-54 (distinctness requirement satisfied where the association-in-fact enterprise consisted of
(continued...)
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Indeed, the typical RICO association-in-fact enterprise includes the group of charged

defendants.1®

However, some courts have failed to properly follow the teachings of Cedric Kushner and

its progeny, and have erroneously held, in OCGS’ view, that the distinctness requirement was

not satisfied where the alleged enterprise was clearly broader than and distingt from each

individual defendant.*®

104" (continued...)

corporations, partnerships and individual defendants who werg“also charged as defendants);
Cullen v. Margiotta, 811 F.2d 698, 703, 729-730 (2d Cirs 2987) (distinctness requirement
satisfied where enterprise consisted of three entities, all*of"whom were also defendants),
overruled in part on other grounds, Agency Holding Corp.v. Malley-Duff & Associates, Inc.,
483 U.S. 143 (1987). But see Miller v. Yokohama Tire.Corp., 358 F.3d 616, 619-20 (9th Cir.
2004) (holding that a corporate employer could not ke held vicariously liable for the conduct of
its employees when the employer was the alleged enterprise).

105 See, e.q., Turkette, 452 U.S.-at"5%8-79; United States v. Torres, 191 F.3d 799, 803,
806 (7th Cir. 1999); United States v. Fairchild, 189 F.3d 769, 777 (8th Cir. 1999); Richardson,
167 F.3d at 625; Nabors, 45 F.3d at 246-41; United States v. Stefan, 784 F.2d 1093, 1103 (11th
Cir. 1986); Elliott, 571 F.2d at 898;)United States v. DiGilio, 667 F. Supp. 191, 195 (D.N.J.
1987). See also cases cited in'notes 66 and 104 above.

106 See, e.g., United Food and Commercial Workers Unions and Employers Midwest
Health Benefits Fund v. Walgreen Co., 719 F.3d 849, 854-55 (7th Cir. 2013) (distinctness not
satisfied where thecalleged enterprise consisted of an association of corporate defendants that
regularly communicated and had a commercial relationship, where not clear whether the
individual defendants were conducting illegal activities independently); Baker v. IBP, Inc., 357
F.3d 665, 692-92 (7th Cir. 2004) (distinctness not satisfied where the alleged enterprise consisted
of an_association of a corporate defendant and individuals and organizations that helped the
corporate*defendant recruit and hire illegal alien-workers); Switzer v. Coan, 261 F.3d 985, 992
(16thnCir. 2001) (distinctness not satisfied where the alleged enterprise consisted of numerous
individuals who also were charged as RICO defendants); Stachon v. United Consumers Club,
Inc., 229 F.3d 673, 676 & n. 3 (7th Cir. 2000) (distinctness not satisfied where a corporation and
five of its officers and/or directors were charged as RICO defendants and were also included in
the alleged association-in-fact enterprise along with third parties who acted under the direction of
the defendants to carry out the alleged scheme to defraud).

107




Moreover, courts have held that the distinctness requirement is not satisfied where a
corporation is the charged defendant and the enterprise “consists merely of a corporate defendant
associated with its own employees or agents carrying on the regular affairs of the defendant,”
because if such pleading were allowed, the prohibition on naming the same corporation ,as‘both
the defendant and the RICO enterprise could be routinely evaded by listing corporate officers
and employees as part of the enterprise, without affecting the gravamen of the complaint. See

Riverwoods Chappaqua v. Marine Midland Bank, 30 F.3d 339, 344 (2d.Cir~1994) (collecting

cases).'”’

Similarly, in Discon, Inc. v. Nynex Corp., 93 F.3d 1055, 1057-58, 1063-64 (2d Cir.

1996), the court held that Section 1962(c)’s distinctnesswrequirement was not satisfied where a
holding company and two of its subsidiaries were\named as both the RICO defendants and
(together with unnamed agents acting within,the scope of their agency) the RICO enterprise.
The court found that the three corporations, although legally separate entities, were part of a
unified corporate structure and were *guided by a single corporate consciousness.” Id. at 1064.
On those facts, the court of appeals determined that separate incorporation of the three entities
was not dispositve, and_the’ defendants (the three corporations, individually) each should be
deemed identical to the alleged RICO enterprise (the three corporations and their unnamed

agents, collegtively). 1d.*®

107" Accord Cruz v. FXDirectDealer, LLC, 720 F.3d 115, 120-21 (2d Cir. 2013); Whelan
V.. Winchester Production Co., 319 F.3d 225, 229-30 (5th Cir. 2003); Bessette v. Avco Fin.
Services, Inc., 230 F.3d 439, 449-50 (1st Cir. 2000); Yellow Bus Lines, Inc. v. Local Union 639,
883 F.2d 132, 139-41 (D.C. Cir. 1989).

108 Accord Bucklew v. Hawkins, Ash, Baptie & Co., 329 F.3d 923, 934 (7th Cir. 2003);
(continued...)
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However, under the teachings of Cedric Kushner, 533 U.S. at 163, the requisite

distinctness can be satisfied by “practical separateness”; therefore, distinctness may be satisfied
where the facts establish that a subsidiary is operated with sufficient independence from its

legally distinct parent corporation.'®

8. An Individual May Constitute a RICO Enterprise

RICO’s definition of “enterprise” explicitly “includes “any individual.”

18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). Indeed, in Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52,65 (1997), the Supreme

Court indicated in dictum that a sole individual could also be a RICO enterprise, stating “though
an ‘enterprise’ under § 1962(c) can exist with only one actor'to conduct it, in most instances it
will be conducted by more than one person or entity .%~ .” Therefore, an individual may be a
RICO enterprise, provided that the individual-is_not both a RICO defendant and the alleged

RICO enterprise. See United States v. DiCaro, 772 F.2d 1314, 1319-20 (7th Cir. 1985).

108 (continued...)

Stachon, 229 F.3d at 678 n.3;/Arzuaga-Collazo v. Oriental Federal Sav. Bank, 913 F.2d 5, 6 (1st
Cir. 1990

199 For example, in\Bessette v. Avco Fin. Serv., 230 F.3d 439, 449 (1st Cir. 2000), the
First Circuit stated that it “has consistently refrained from adopting a bright line rule that a
subsidiary can never e distinct from its parent corporation . . . . [rather it determines] whether
the parent’s activities are sufficiently distinct from those of the subsidiary at the time that the
alleged RICO wielations occurred” (citations omitted). The court added that “[i]n most cases, a
subsidiary that"is under the complete control of the parent company is nothing more than a
division‘ofithe one entity. Without further allegations, the mere identification of a subsidiary and
a parent'in a RICO claim fails the distinctiveness requirement.” Id. at 449. The court held that
the- civil complaint’s allegations failed to allege sufficient facts to establish the requisite
distinctness. Accord In re ClassicStar Mare Lease Litigation, 727 F.3d 473, 493 (6th Cir. 2013)
(distinctness requirement may be satisfied when the parent corporation uses the separately
incorporated nature of its subsidiaries to perpetrate a fraudulent scheme); Brannon v. Boatmen’s
First Nat. Bank of Oklahoma, 153 F.3d 1144, 1146-49 (10th Cir. 1998); Emery v. American
General Fin., 134 F.3d 1321, 1324-25 (7th Cir. 1998).
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For example, suppose individuals A and B hired individual C, who operated as a
professional “hitman” over a period of time, to murder several persons. In these circumstances,
individual C could be the RICO enterprise and individuals A and B could be charged as the
RICO defendants. However, as a practical matter it is unnecessary to charge an individual-as the
RICO enterprise, because in such circumstances the Government could charge A, B, ‘and € as an

association-in-fact enterprise.

E. Pattern of Racketeering Activity

The definition of a “pattern of racketeering activity” is_one of the most important in the
RICO statute because it defines a key element of each substantive RICO offense under Section
1962. Section 1961(5) provides that a pattern of racketeéring activity “requires at least two acts
of racketeering activity, one of which occurred after the effective date of this chapter [October
15, 1970] and the last of which aCcurred within ten years (excluding any period of

imprisonment) after the commissiop-0f.a prior act of racketeering activity.”

The two violations may both be state offenses, federal offenses, or a combination of the
two; they may be violations)of the same statute, or of different statutes; and the acts need not

have previously been-tharged.™® The Supreme Court, however, has concluded that the pattern

9 See, e.g., United States v. Malatesta, 583 F.2d 748, 757 (5th Cir. 1978), modified on
other.grounds, 590 F.2d 1379 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Parness, 503 F.2d 430, 441 (2d
Cir./1974). Cf. Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 500 (1985) (reversing circuit
court's requirement that plaintiff prove prior criminal convictions on underlying predicate
offenses in order to bring a civil RICO action under 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c)); Fort Wayne Books,
Inc. v. Indiana, 489 U.S. 46 (1989) (same).
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provision means “there is something to a RICO pattern beyond simply the number of predicate

acts involved.” See H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 238 (1989).

1. Continuity and Relationship — Sedima, S.P.R.L. and H.J. Inc v Northwestern
Bell Tel. Co.

In Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479 (1985), the Supreme Court stated‘that the

RICO pattern element required more than merely proving two predicate aets ‘of ‘racketeering.
The Court pointed to RICO legislative history indicating that the RICO pattern was not designed
to cover merely sporadic or isolated unlawful activity, but rather was intended to cover
racketeering activity that demonstrated some “relationship”/and “the threat of continuing
[unlawful] activity.” Id. at 496 n.14. Accordingly, the Supreme Court ruled that proof of such
“continuity plus relationship” was required to establish a RICO pattern in addition to proof of
two acts of racketeering.

Following Sedima, the Eighth Cireuit formulated the strictest test, holding that multiple
acts of racketeering activity did not-Constitute a “pattern” under RICO when the acts were all

related to a single scheme or criminal episode.*** In H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. Co., 492

U.S. 229 (1989), the Supreme Court unanimously rejected the Eighth Circuit's multiple-scheme
requirement to4establish a pattern of racketeering activity and reversed the lower court’s
affirmation.of the dismissal of a civil RICO claim for failure to allege a pattern of racketeering
activity. The case involved an alleged bribery scheme by Northwestern Bell designed to illegally

influence members of the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission in the performance of their

111" See H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. Co., 829 F.2d 648 (8th Cir. 1987), rev'd, 492
U.S. 229 (1989); Superior Oil Co. v. Fulmer, 785 F.2d 252 (8th Cir. 1986).
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duties as regulators of Northwestern Bell. The Eighth Circuit affirmed the dismissal, holding
that the petitioner's allegations were insufficient to establish the requisite “continuity” prong
because the complaint alleged only a series of fraudulent acts committed in furtherance of .a
single scheme to influence the Commissioners. In light of the division among the circuits;, the
Supreme Court granted certiorari to determine whether proof of multiple separate schemes was
necessary to establish a RICO pattern of racketeering activity.

The Supreme Court held that RICO does not require proof of multiple’schemes, stating,
in part:

We find no support [for the Eighth Circuit’s position] 3, that predicate

acts of racketeering may form a pattern only when“they are part of

separate illegal schemes. . . .

The Eighth Circuit’s test brings a rigidity to, the* available methods of

proving a pattern that simply is not present in the idea of ‘continuity’

itself; and it does so, moreover, by introdueing a concept — the “scheme” —
that appears nowhere in the language or legislative history of the Act.

Id. at 236, 240-41.

The Court concluded that.a\prosecutor must prove “continuity of racketeering activity, or
its threat, simpliciter.” 1d. at 241. Because the proof could be made in many ways, the Court
declined to formulate_in"the abstract a general test for continuity, but provided the following
delineation:

“Ceontinuity” is both a closed - and open-ended concept, referring either to a
elosed period of repeated conduct, or to past conduct that by its nature projects
into the future with a threat of repetition. . . . It is, in either case, centrally a
temporal concept and particularly so in the RICO context, where what must be
continuous, RICQO's predicate acts or offenses, and the relationship these
predicates must bear one to another, are distinct requirements. A party alleging a
RICO violation may demonstrate continuity over a closed period by proving a
series of related predicates extending over a substantial period of time. Predicate
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acts extending over a few weeks or months and threatening no future criminal
conduct do not satisfy this requirement:. Congress was concerned in RICO with
long-term criminal conduct. Often a RICO action will be brought before
continuity can be established in this way. In such cases, liability depends on
whether the threat of continuity is demonstrated. [emphasis in original]

Whether the predicates proved establish a threat of continued racketeering activity,
depends on the specific facts of each case. Without making any claim to cover
the field of possibilities--preferring to deal with this issue in the context of
concrete factual situations presented for decision--we offer some examples ofshow
this element might be satisfied. A RICO pattern may surely be established, if the
related predicates themselves involve a distinct threat of long-term( racketeering
activity, either implicit or explicit. Suppose a hoodlum were to sell “instrance” to
a neighborhood’s storekeepers to cover them against breakage ofitheir windows,
telling his victims he would be reappearing each month to collect the “premium”
that would continue their “coverage.” Though the numbet. of related predicates
involved may be small and they may occur close togethes,in time, the racketeering
acts themselves include a specific threat of repetition extending indefinitely into
the future, and thus supply the requisite threat of ‘continuity. In other cases, the
threat of continuity may be established by showing that the predicate acts or
offenses are part of an ongoing entity’s regular way of doing business. Thus, the
threat of continuity is sufficiently established where the predicates can be
attributed to a defendant operating as¢part’of a long-term association that exists
for criminal purposes. Such assaciations include, but extend well beyond, those
traditionally grouped under the phrase “organized crime.” The continuity
requirement is likewise satisfied where it is shown that the predicates are a regular
way of conducting defendant’s ongoing legitimate business (in the sense that it is
not a business that existssfor criminal purposes), or of conducting or participating
in an ongoing and legitimate RICO “enterprise.”

Id. at 241-43 (citations‘omitted)(emphasis added).

Regarding th¢ requisite “relationship,” the H.J. Inc. Court ruled that the definition of a
“pattern”, from 'the Dangerous Special Offender provision™? sets forth a proper standard for
relatedness between RICO predicate acts. In that respect, the Supreme Court stated:

A “pattern” is an “arrangement or order of things or activity,” . ... It is not the
number of predicates but the relationship that they bear to each other or to some

112 5ee 492 U.S. at 238-39, citing Sedima, 473 U.S. at 486-90.
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external organizing principle that renders them “ordered” or arranged.
“[C]riminal conduct forms a pattern if it embraces criminal acts that have the
same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims or methods of commission,

or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated
events.”

Id. at 238, 240 (citations omitted).

Following the decision in H.J. Inc., courts of appeals have ruled that “continuity” may not
turn on the number of racketeering acts charged above the minimum requitement of two acts.
Instead, the dispositive issue is whether, in light of the enterprise and“the'racketeering acts, the
facts establish the requisite continuity or threat of continuity of ¢riminal activity. For example,
multiple mailings or wire transmissions may not necessartlysestablish the requisite continuity,
especially ones in furtherance of a single, short-lived scheme to defraud involving a single

victim, or a discrete transaction.'*®

113 See, e.q., Coquina Investients v. TD Bank, N.A., 760 F.3d 1300, 1321 (11th Cir.
2014) (continuity insufficient where the alleged scheme continued for five months); Dysart v.
BankTrust, 516 Fed.Appx. 861,5864 (11th Cir. 2013) (continuity insufficient in a scheme to
fraudulently foreclose on a house because it could not be repeated); U.S. Airline Pilots Assoc. V.
Awappa, LLC, 615 F.3d 312 (4th Cir. 2010) (continuity insufficient given distinct, non-recurring
scheme with built-in termination point); Jennings v. Auto Meter Prods., Inc., 495 F.3d 466, 472-
76 (7th Cir. 2007) (continuity insufficient where the alleged scheme to defraud continued for ten
months and there/was only one victim); Moon v. Harrison Piping Supply, 465 F.3d 719, 725-27
(6th Cir. 2006)-(continuity insufficient where scheme to defraud continued for nine months)
(collecting (cases); Jackson v. BellSouth Telecomm., 372 F.3d 1250, 1266 (11th Cir. 2004)
(stating that “closed-ended continuity cannot be met with allegations of schemes lasting less than
a year”)*(collecting cases); Kenda Corp. v. Pot O’Gold Money Leagues, 329 F.3d 216, 232-34
(1st Cir. 2003) (multiple mailings related to a single transaction is insufficient); GE Inv. Private
Placement Partners 11 v. Parker, 247 F.3d 543, 549-50 (4th Cir. 2001) (multiple mailings over
two years as part of the sale of a single business insufficient); Vemco, Inc. v. Camardella, 23
F.3d 129 (6th Cir. 1994) (upholding dismissal of RICO claim for lack of pattern where defendant
engaged in several different forms of fraud for purpose of defrauding single victim through
(continued...)
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On the other hand, courts have found that a short-lived course of racketeering activity
may establish the requisite continuity and pattern, especially where the activity was conducted by
or related to a long term criminal enterprise. See cases cited in Section II(E)(4), notes 125-27

below.

2. To Constitute a Pattern, It Is Not Necessary that the Alleged Racketeering
Acts Be Similar or Related Directly to Each Other: Rather; a\Pattern May
Consist of Diversified Racketeering Acts Provided that They ‘Are Related to
the Alleged Enterprise.

In adopting the RICO statute, Congress recognized that @rganized crime engages in
“diversified” activities such as “syndicated gambling, loansharking, the theft and fencing of
property, the importation and distribution of narcotics and other dangerous drugs, and other
forms of social exploitation.” See 18 U.S.C. 8 1961note, Congressional Statement of Findings
and Purposes, supra. The broad range of criimes included in RICO’s definition of “racketeering
activity” reflects that recognition. ,Seé~I8 U.S.C. § 1961(1). Moreover, RICO’s legislative

history is replete with statements <ndicating Congressional awareness that organized crime

13 (contifwed...)

activities surrounding one project); Thompson v. Paasche, 950 F.2d 306, 311 (6th Cir. 1991)
(finding that'defendant's fraudulent scheme to sell nineteen lots of land over a few months was
an inherently short-term affair, and by its very nature was insufficiently protracted to qualify as a
pattern);-Parcoil Corp. v. NOWSCO Well Serv. Ltd., 887 F.2d 502 (4th Cir. 1989) (holding that
mailing seventeen false reports over four months was not sufficient to establish continuity);
Marshall-Silver Const. Co. v. Mendel, 894 F.2d 593 (3d Cir. 1990) (finding pattern lasting from
June to December insufficient where it did not threaten future criminal conduct); Sutherland v.
O'Malley, 882 F.2d 1196 (7th Cir. 1989) (alleged extortion and mail fraud over five-month
period did not pose sufficient threat of continuing criminal activity).
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groups engage in a wide variety of criminal conduct.*

Thus, the Supreme Court has pointed out that Congress intended RICO to cover, inter
alia, the diversified criminal activities of organized crime. See H.J. Inc. 492 U.S. at 24%,
Therefore, it is clear that a requirement that racketeering acts always be similar in natureyor.be
directly related to each other would be flatly contrary to RICO’s primary purpose, i.e., to cover

the highly diversified criminal activities of organized crime.

In accordance with the foregoing evidence of Congress’ intent ufiderlying RICO, every
court of appeals that has decided the issue has held that racketeering acts need not be similar, or
directly related to each other; rather, it is sufficient that the racketeering acts are related in some

way to the affairs of the charged enterprise. As the Third Circuit explained in United States v.

Eufrasio, 935 F.2d 553 (3d Cir. 1991), a patternsmay consist of diversified racketeering acts
provided that they are related to the alleged enterprise because it

is consistent with Congress’ main.oebjective in enacting RICO: the eradication of
organized crime, . . . because itbrings the often highly diversified acts of a single
organized crime enterpris€ under RICO’s umbrella. Indeed, a criminal enterprise
is more, not less, dangerous if it is versatile, flexible, diverse in its objectives and
capabilities. . . . Our interpretation of RICO’s pattern requirement ensures that
separately performed, functionally diverse and directly unrelated predicate acts
and offenses, will-“form a pattern under RICO, as long as they all have been
undertaken finfurtherance of one or another varied purposes of a common
organized.crime enterprise.

WA See, e.q., S.REP. No. 91-617, at 41 (“gambling, narcotics, loansharking, or other

illegal businesses”); 116 Cong. Rec. 586 (1970) (remarks of Sen. McClellen) (“syndicated
gambling, the importation . . . and distribution of narcotics, and loansharking™); id. at 591
(remarks of Sen. McClellen) (‘narcotics, loansharking, prostitution, and bootlegging”); id. at 601
(remarks of Sen. Hruska) (“gambling, narcotics, and loansharking”; “robbery, larceny, and
arson”); id. at 606-607 (remarks of Sen. Byrd) (“[s]yndicated gambling, loansharking,
prostitution, narcotics trafficking, and similar illicit enterprises”); id. at 819 (remarks of Sen.

Scott) (“gambling, loansharking, narcotics, prostitution, and other forms of vice”).
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Id. at 566 (internal quotations and citations omitted).**

3. The Requisite Relationship of the Racketeering Acts to the Enterprise May
Be Established in a Wide Variety of Ways

As for the requisite relationship between the racketeering acts and the enterprise, the
Supreme Court stated that “Congress intended to take a flexible approach, and‘envisaged that a
pattern might be demonstrated by reference to a range of different ordering principles or
relationships between predicates, within the expansive bounds set.” H.J. Inc., 492 U.S. at 238.
The Supreme Court added that the requisite relationship would’ be established when the
racketeering acts “have the same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims, or methods of
commission, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated
events,” but that these were not the exclusive means of establishing the requisite relationship. 1d.

at 240.

15 Accord United State$w: Corrado, 227 F.3d 543, 554 (6th Cir. 2000) (“The predicate
acts do not necessarily need to.be directly interrelated; they must, however, be connected to the
affairs and operations of the\criminal enterprise.”); United States v. Qaoud, 777 F.2d 1105, 1116
(6th Cir. 1995) (racketeering acts need not be directly interrelated; “all that is necessary is that
the acts are connected, to the affairs of the enterprise”); United States v. Locascio, 6 F.3d 924,
943 (2d Cir. 1993), (same); United States v. Minicone, 960 F.2d 1099, 1106 (2d Cir. 1992)
(same); United-States v. Angiulo, 897 F.2d 1169, 1180 (1st Cir. 1990) (dissimilar racketeering
acts invalving a conspiracy to murder and conducting an illegal gambling business constitute a
pattern whenthey were committed at the behest of the same organized crime enterprise); United
States v:-Provenzano, 688 F.2d 194, 200 (3d Cir. 1982); United States v. Thevis, 665 F.2d 616,
625 _(5th Cir. 1982); United States v. Phillips, 664 F.2d 971, 1011-12 (5th Cir. 1981) (RICO
pattern may consist of “different or unrelated crimes” provided that they are “related to the
affairs of the enterprise”); United States v. Lee Stoller Enterprises, Inc., 652 F.2d 1313, 1319
(7th Cir. 1981); United States v. Weisman, 624 F.2d 1118, 1121-22 (2d Cir. 1980) (same);
Elliott, 571 F.2d at 899-900 (a RICO pattern may consist of “diversified activity,” provided it is
related to the affairs of the enterprise).
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In accordance with Congress’ intended flexible approach, the federal courts of appeals
have repeatedly held that the racketeering acts need not be similar or directly related to each
other; rather, it is sufficient that the racketeering acts are related in some way to the affairs of the

6

charged enterprise,™® including, for example, that: (1) the racketeering acts furthered the,goals

of or benefitted the enterprise,*’

(2) the enterprise or the defendant’s role in the enterprise
enabled the defendant to commit, or facilitated the commission of, the racketéering acts,'*® (3)
the racketeering acts were committed at the behest of, or on behalf of, the enterprise,**® or (4) the
racketeering acts had the same or similar purposes, results, participants, victims or methods of

commission.t?°

116 See cases cited in note 115 above.

117 See, e.g., United States v. Gilmore, ‘590 Fed.Appx. 390, 403-04 (5th Cir. 2014);
United_States v. Delgado, 401 F.3d 290, 298 (5th Cir. 2005); Irizarry, 341 F.3d at 301-02;
Kehoe, 310 F.3d at 587; United States.v.«Pelanco, 145 F.3d 536, 541 (2d Cir. 1998); United
States v. Wong, 40 F.3d 1347, 1375 (2d Cir. 1994); Minicone, 960 F.2d at 1106-07; Eufrasio,
935 F.2d at 566-67; United States v.aSalerno, 868 F.2d 524, 533 (2d Cir. 1989); Indelicato, 865
F.2d at 1384; United States v. Killip;:819 F.2d 1542, 1549-50 (10th Cir. 1987); United States v.
Davis, 707 F.2d 880, 883 (6th’ Cirn1983); United States v. Zang, 703 F.2d 1186, 1194(10th Cir.
1982);Thevis, 665 F.2d at 625; Phillips, 664 F.2d at 1011-12.

18 See, e.q., Irizarry) 341 F.3d at 301; Smith, 413 F.3d at 1272; United States v. Bruno,
383 F.3d 65, 84 (2d*Cir."2004); Marino, 277 F.3d 26-28; Corrado, 227 F.3d at 554; United States
v. Posada-Rios, 158.Fi3d 832, 856-57 (5th Cir. 1998); United States v. Grubb, 11 F.3d 426, 439
(4th Cir. 1993); United States v. Tillem, 906 F.2d 814, 822 (2d Cir. 1990); United States v.
Pieper, 854 F.2d°1020, 1026-27 (7th Cir. 1988); Horak, 833 F.2d at 1239-40; United States v.
Robilotto, 828 F.2d 940, 947-48 (2d Cir. 1987); United States v. Carter, 721 F.2d 1514, 1526-27
(112th<Cir, 1984)

119 gSee, e.g., United States v. Daidone, 471 F.3d 371, 373 (2d Cir. 2006); Olson, 450
£.3d at 671; Smith, 413 F.3d at 1272; United States v. Miller, 116 F.3d 641, 676-77 (2d Cir.
1997); Minicone, 960 F.2d at 1107; Angiulo, 897 F.2d at 1180.

120" See, e.q., United States v. Brandao, 539 F.3d 44, 55 (1st Cir. 2008); Moon v. Piping
Supply, 465 F.3d 719, 724 (6th Cir. 2006); United States v. Hively, 437 F.3d 752, 761-62
(continued...)
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4. The Requisite Continuity Also May Be Proven in Several Ways

Regarding the requisite “continuity,” the Supreme Court made clear in H.J. Inc., 492 U.S.
at 240-243, that a wide variety of proof may establish the required “continuity” and that ho
single particular method of proof is required. By way of illustration, the H.J. Inc. Courtprovided
several alternative methods of establishing the “continuity” requirement, stating:

A party alleging a RICO violation may demonstrate continuity qver a
closed period by proving a series of related predicates extending over a
substantial period of time. Predicate acts extending over a few Aveeks or
months and threatening no future criminal conduct do not (satisfy this
requirement.

A RICO pattern may surely be established if the related predicates themselves
involve a distinct threat of long-term racketeeringyactivity, either implicit or
explicit. Suppose a hoodlum were to sell, “insurance” to a neighborhood’s
storekeepers to cover them against breakage.of their windows, telling his victims
he would be reappearing each month toscollect the “premium” that would
continue their “coverage.” Though themumber of related predicates involved may
be small and they may occur close“together in time, the racketeering acts
themselves include a specific threat ‘of repetition extending indefinitely into the
future, and thus supply the requisite’threat of continuity.

In other cases, the threat“of-Continuity may be established by showing that the
predicate acts or offemnses ‘are part of an ongoing entity’s regular way of doing
business. Thus, the threat of continuity is sufficiently established where the
predicates cans be, attributed to a defendant operating as part of a long-term
association that ‘exists for criminal purposes. Such associations include, but
extend well\beyond, those traditionally grouped under the phrase ‘“organized
crime.”

The, Continuity requirement is likewise satisfied where it is shown that the

120 (continued...)

(8th/Cir. 2006); Cianci, 378 F.3d at 88-89; Diaz, 176 F.3d at 93-94; Cosmos Forms Ltd. v.
Guardian Life Ins., 113 F.3d 308, 310 (2d Cir. 1997); United States v. Brazel, 102 F.3d 1120,
1137-39 (11th Cir. 1997); United States v. Beasley, 72 F.3d 1518, 1525-26 (11th Cir. 1996);
Indelicato, 865 F.2d at 1384; Zauber, 857 F.2d at 150; United States v. Ruiz, 905 F.2d 499, 504
(1st Cir. 1990).
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predicates are a regular way of conducting defendant’s ongoing legitimate
business (in the sense that it is not a business that exists for criminal purposes), or
of conducting or participating in an ongoing and legitimate RICO “enterprise.”

1d. at 242-243 (emphasis added).

The first method of establishing continuity set forth in H.J. Inc. is often referred toas
“closed-ended” continuity. That is, courts have held that the requisite continuity is,_established
for a specific “closed” time period where the predicate racketeering aets, extended over a
substantial period of time.*?* On the other hand, courts have held that the requisite continuity is
lacking when the predicate acts span a relatively short time period, eéspecially less than one year,

and pose no threat of continuing unlawful activity.*?

121 see, e.q., United States v. Genova, 333+F:3d 750, 759 (7th Cir. 2003) (several years);
Smith, 413 F.3d at 1272 (almost three years); United States v. Coon, 187 F.3d 888, 896 (8th Cir.
1999) (unlawful activities spanned the late 19807 to the early 1990’s); Beasley, 72 F.3d at 1526
(five years); Dana Corp. v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield Mutual of N. Ohio, 900 F.2d 882, 886-87
(8th Cir. 1990) (seventeen years); Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 836 (4th Cir.
1990) (more than ten years); Fleet Credit Corp. v. Sion, 893 F.2d 441, (1st Cir. 1990) (four and
one half years).

122 see, e.g., Home Ofrthopedics Corp. v. Rodriguez, 781 F.3d 521, 529 (1st Cir. 2015)
(following Giuliano, infrasno continuity given a claim of “a single, narrow scheme targeting few
victims”); Roger Whitmore’s Auto Serv. Inc. v. Lake Country, Ill., 424 F.3d 659, 673 (7th Cir.
2005) (stating that ‘‘we have not hesitated to find that closed periods of several months to several
years did not qualify as ‘substantial’ enough to satisfy continuity,” and finding two years
insufficient); Giuliano v. Fulton, 399 F.3d 381, 388-90 (1st Cir. 2005) (six months insufficient);
First CapitalZAsset Mgmt. v. Satinwood, Inc., 385 F.3d 159, 181 (1st Cir. 2004) (“the mere fact
that predicate acts span two years is insufficient, without more”); Turner v. Cook, 362 F.3d 1219,
1231 (9thCir. 2004) (two months insufficient); Pizzo v. Bekin Van Lines Co., 258 F.3d 629,
632-33 (7th Cir. 2001) (two acts five months apart insufficient); Duran v. Carris, 238 F.3d 1268,
1271 (10th Cir. 2001) (finding insufficient “a closed-ended series of predicate acts constituting a
single scheme . . . to accomplish a discrete goal . . . directed at a finite group of individuals . . .
‘with no potential to extend to other persons or entities’” (citations omitted)); Wisdom v. First
Midwest Bank, 167 F.3d 402, 407 (8th Cir. 1999) (ten months insufficient); see also cases cited
in n.113 above.
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In the same vein, courts particularly have criticized private litigants’ potential abuse of
RICO and the mail and wire fraud statutes, through their efforts “to turn garden-variety state law
fraud claims into federal RICO actions” by alleging multiple mailings and wire transmissions
that neither constitute nor pose a threat of continuing unlawful activity. See Jennings, 495'F.3d
at 472 and other cases cited in n.113 above. Indeed, the substantial majority of cases finding the
requisite continuity lacking have involved private civil RICO actions (see notes\113 and 112
above), which arguably suggests that courts may be evaluating continuity more’strictly in private

civil RICO suits than in criminal RICO prosecutions.

Nevertheless, courts have repeatedly found that the requisite” continuity was established
where a scheme to defraud involved more than one victim and multiple mailings or wire
transmissions spanned a substantial period of time,or the scheme posed a threat of continuing

unlawful activity.'?®

123 See, e.q., Kearney v. Foléy & Lardner, LLP, 2015 WL 3776244 (9th Cir. 2015) (two
years of fraudulent acts sufficed to-€Stablish continuity); United States v. Hively, 437 F.3d 752,
761-62 (8th Cir. 2006) (ruling that*even if two predicate acts of mailing extending for less than
one year was insufficient, there was a sufficient threat of repetition to establish open-ended
continuity); Fujisawa Pharm. Co. v. Kapoor, 115 F.3d 1332, 1338 (7th Cir. 1997) (multiple
mailings and wire transmissions over six years designed to lure the plaintiff into purchasing $800
million in stock of anyotherwise lawful entity controlled by the defendant); United Health Care
Corp. v. Am. Trade Ins. Co., 88 F.3d 563, 571-72 (8th Cir. 1996) (multiple acts of mail fraud and
wire fraud over.two years to fraudulently divert insurance premium payments); Gagan v. Am.
Cablevisiomnc., 77 F.3d 951, 962-64 (7th Cir. 1996) (multiple mailings and wire transmissions
during four year period to defraud investors in an otherwise legal cable television limited
partnership); Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co. v. Mut. Trading Corp., 63 F.3d 516, 522-24 (7th Cir.
1995).(multiple mailings and wire transmissions during three years to defraud the plaintiff of
money through four schemes); Tabas v. Tabas, 47 F.3d 1280, 1293-95 (3d Cir. 1995) (en banc)
(multiple mailings during 3%z years to defraud heirs of their interest in a business); Aetna Cas. &
Sur. Co. v. P & B Autobody, 43 F.3d 1546, 1560-61 (1st Cir. 1994) (multiple mailings of false
insurance claims over two years); Metromedia Co. v. Fugazy, 983 F.2d 350, 368 (2d Cir. 1992)
(continued...)
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H.J. Inc.’s second alternative means to establish continuity is referred to as “open-ended”

continuity. Courts have found such “open-ended” continuity where the racketeering activity,

123 (continued...)

(multiple mailings and wire transmissions to sell otherwise legitimate stock through fraud); Akin
V. Q-L Inv., Inc., 959 F.2d 521, 533 (5th Cir. 1992) (multiple mailings over, several years
containing misrepresentations to sell limited partnership interests); Abell v. Potomac Ins. Co. of
1., 946 F.2d 1160, 1167 (5th Cir. 1991) (multiple mailings over six years to Sell tax-exempt
revenue bonds involving more than 500 victims); Landry v. Air Line Pilots Ass’n Int’l, 901 F.2d
404, 428-29, 432-33 (5th Cir. 1990) (multiple acts of mail and wire fraud to defraud the plaintiff-
pilots of their jobs and pension benefits by relocation of the pilots’ base-from New Orleans to El
Salvador); Dana Corp. v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield Mut. of N. Ohig, 900 F.2d 882, 884-86 (6th
Cir. 1990) (multiple mailings of bills and invoices during 17/year period to further scheme to
defraud plaintiff through misrepresentations that plaintiff would be receiving the benefit of cost
reductions resulting from hospital rebates); Morley v. Cehen, 888 F.2d 1006, 1009-11 (4th Cir.
1989) (multiple mailings and wire transmissions during six year period to sell otherwise
legitimate interests in coal mines); Atlas Pile Driving, 886 F.2d at 993-95 (multiple mailings
over three years by contractors to defraud subcentractors who provided materials and labor free
for housing projects); Fleischhauer v. Feltner,\879 F.2d 1290, 1297-98 (6th Cir. 1989) (multiple
mailings and wire transmissions during twowyear period to defraud 19 plaintiffs in the marketing
and selling of film rights to the plaintiffs); Procter & Gamble Co. v. Big Apple Indus. Bldgs.,
Inc., 879 F.2d 10, 18 (2d Cir. 1989), (over 8000 mailings during two year period to defraud
plaintiff in connection with construction costs and television studio leases); Beauford v.
Helmsley, 865 F.2d 1386, 1391-92 (2d Cir. 1989) (thousands of mailings over several years to
defraud purchasers of condominium apartments), vacated, 492 U.S. 914 (in light of H.J. Inc.),
adhered to on further consideration, 893 F.2d 1433 (2d Cir. 1989); Blake v. Dierdorff, 856 F.2d
1365, 1368-69 (9th Cir, 1988) (multiple mailings and wire transmissions over 14 months to
inflate the price of stack to defraud purchasers); United Energy Owners Comm., Inc. v. United
Energy Mgmt. Sys:; Inc., 837 F.2d 356, 361 (9th Cir. 1988) (“We conclude that the plaintiffs’
allegations of multiple fraudulent acts involving multiple victims over more than one year are
sufficiently related and pose a sufficient threat of continuing activity to satisfy the rules. . . .”);
Liquid AirCorp. v. Rogers, 834 F.2d 1297, 1304 (7th Cir. 1987) (57 acts of mail and wire fraud
over a 7month period to defraud one victim); Sun Sav. and Loan Ass’n v. Dierdorff, 825 F.2d
187,'192-94 (9th Cir. 1987) (four acts of mail fraud occurring over several months to defraud a
single victim); Illinois Dep’t of Revenue v. Phillips, 771 F.2d 312, 313 (7th Cir. 1985) (“[T]he
defendant’s mailing of nine fraudulent tax returns . . . over a nine month period constitutes a
pattern of racketeering.”).
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even if short-lived, poses a threat of continuing unlawful activity.'**

In accordance with H.J. Inc.’s third alternative means of establishing the requisite
continuity, courts have frequently found sufficient continuity where even a few, short-lived
racketeering acts were committed in furtherance of the affairs of a criminal enterprise ‘that
existed for a considerable time period. This is especially the case where the RICQ enterprise is
an organized crime group, such as an LCN crime family. As the Second Circuit, siting en banc,
perceptively explained in Indelicato, 865 F.2d at 1384, where three simultaneous murders were
committed “at the behest of an organized 